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FORWARD-LOOKING INFORMATION

This annual report on Form 10-K contains forward-looking statements (as defined in the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995). For
this purpose, any statements contained herein that are not statements of historical fact may be deemed to be forward-looking statements. Without
limiting the foregoing, the words “believes,” “anticipates,” “plans,” “expects,” “should” and similar expressions are intended to identify forward-
looking statements. The factors discussed under “Item 1A. Risk Factors,” among others, could cause actual results to differ materially from those
indicated by forward-looking statements made herein and presented elsewhere by management from time to time. We expressly disclaim any obligation
to update or alter our forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise, except as required by law.

We use the terms the “Company,” “we,” “us” and “our” in this annual report to refer to Higher One Holdings, Inc. and its subsidiaries,
unless the context requires otherwise.
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PART I

Item 1. Business

We are a leading provider of technology and payment services to the higher education industry. We believe, based on our experience in the industry, that
we provide the most comprehensive suite of disbursement and payment solutions specifically designed for higher education institutions and their students. We
also provide campus communities with convenient and student-oriented banking services, which include extensive user-friendly features.

The disbursement of financial aid and other refunds to students is a highly regulated, resource-consuming and recurrent obligation of higher education
institutions. The student disbursement process remains mainly paper-based, costly and inefficient at most higher education institutions. These institutions are
facing increasing pressure to improve administrative efficiency and the quality of service provided to students, to streamline regulatory compliance in respect
of financial aid refunds, and to reduce expenses.

We believe our products provide significant benefits to both higher education institutions as well as their campus communities, including students. For
our higher education institution customers, we offer our OneDisburse ® Refund Management® funds disbursement service. Our disbursement service facilitates
financial aid and other refunds to students, while simultaneously enhancing the ability of our higher education institution clients to comply with the federal
regulations applicable to financial aid transactions. By using our refund disbursement solutions, our clients save on the cost of handling disbursements,
improve related business processes, increase the speed with which students receive their refunds and ensure their ability to comply with applicable regulations.

For students and other campus community members, we offer our OneAccount service that includes a Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation, or
FDIC,-insured deposit account provided by our bank partners, OneCard, which is a debit MasterCard ® ATM card, and other retail banking services.
OneAccount is cost competitive and tailored to the campus communities that we serve, providing students with convenient and faster access to disbursement
funds.

We also offer payment transaction services through our CASHNet ® suite of payment products, which are primarily software-as-a-service solutions that
facilitate electronic payment transactions allowing higher education institutions to receive easy and cost effective electronic payments from students, parents
and others for essential education-related financial transactions. Features of our payment services include online bill presentment and online payment
capabilities for tuition and other fees.

Higher One, Inc. was founded in 2000 in New Haven, Connecticut by Mark Volchek, Miles Lasater and Sean Glass. Higher One, Inc. is our
principal operating subsidiary, which directly or indirectly runs all of our businesses. In July 2008, Higher One, Inc. formed Higher One Holdings, Inc., a
Delaware corporation, which is now the holding company for all of our operations. In November 2009, we acquired Informed Decisions Corporation, which
we renamed Higher One Payments, Inc., a California corporation, and which provided the CASHNet payment suite of products to higher education
institutions. We merged Higher One Payments, Inc. into Higher One, Inc. on December 31, 2011. Higher One, Inc. owns Higher One Machines, Inc., a
Delaware corporation, which performs certain operational functions. Higher One, Inc. also owns Higher One Real Estate, Inc., a Delaware corporation, and its
subsidiary, Higher One Real Estate SP, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company, which were formed to hold certain of our real estate.

Our Strategy

We believe that there is opportunity to continue to achieve significant future growth. We intend to continue to increase revenue and profitability by
strengthening our position as a leading provider of technology and payment services to the higher education industry. Key elements of our growth strategy
include:

 • Expanding the number of contracted higher education institutions;

 • Increasing OneAccount usage, including incentivizing primary checking account usage;

 • Cross-selling our existing products and services;

 • Enhancing and extending our products and services; and

 • Pursuing strategic partnerships and opportunistic acquisitions.

Products and Services

We provide products and services to two distinct, but related target markets: higher education institutions and their students.

Products and Services for Higher Education Institutions

We provide our higher education institution clients with an integrated suite of products and services. These include our OneDisburse service, our
payment suite and other financial services.
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OneDisburse

Our OneDisburse Refund Management product is a turnkey solution that provides higher education institution clients with a comprehensive technology
service for streamlining the student refund disbursement process. Following the payment of their tuition and other school-related expenses, many students
receive residual financial aid disbursements to cover non-academic school expenses, such as living expenses, and books. Students also receive disbursements,
such as a refund following withdrawal from a course or other miscellaneous fees. Higher education institutions have typically processed these refund
disbursements by preparing and distributing paper checks, which is both time consuming and costly for institutions and slow and inconvenient for students.
After a higher education institution purchases the OneDisburse service, the institution sends the full amount of each student’s disbursement to us and we then
forward the funds to the student in accordance with the student’s instructions. For students with OneAccounts, disbursements are generally made by
electronic transfers to their OneAccounts. By partnering with us to provide refund disbursements and related processes, including the student/customer service
function, our clients reduce their time and cost spent on handling disbursements, improve the related business processes and increase convenience for
students. In addition to saving time and costs for our clients, the OneDisburse service is designed to ensure that the refund disbursement process is fully
compliant with all applicable federal regulations, thereby providing our clients compliance monitoring services, which eases their administrative and
regulatory burden. The OneDisburse service also has a number of features that benefit students receiving refunds, including convenient and fast processing of
refunds and notifications via email or text message of incoming refund disbursements. As of December 31, 2011, more than 500 campuses serving more than
4 million students had contracted to use the OneDisburse service.

CASHNet Payment Suite

Our CASHNet payment suite includes the following software-as-a-service products and services, which our higher education institution clients may
purchase separately or together as a bundle. As of December 31, 2011, more than 350 campuses serving more than 2.5 million students had contracted to use
one or more products and services in our payment suite.

ePayment. Our ePayment product enables higher education institutions to securely accept online payments for tuition, charges and fees from students
via credit card, pinless debit or via ACH. Our ePayment product also allows students to set up and maintain recurring payments and authorize other users
such as parents to pay student-related charges on their behalf. SmartPay, a feature of ePayment, enables higher education institutions to reduce the cost of
accepting credit and debit cards by passing the convenience fee to the payers.

eBill. Our eBill product enables higher education institutions to automate payer billing and processing functions performed on campus and to extend
payment services. This product allows the student or authorized payer to view the bill online and enables them to make payments online. By automating the
billing process and facilitating electronic payments, higher education institutions can reduce administrative and labor costs, deliver bills quickly and securely
and increase student and authorized payer convenience. eBill also expedites the processing, authorization and receipt of student payments.

MyPaymentPlan. Our MyPaymentPlan product enables higher education institutions to personalize students’ payment plans in order to better meet the
individual needs of each student. In particular, MyPaymentPlan offers campus administrators the ability to tailor payment plan rules and fees; access the
status and history of each student’s account; and calculate the due date and payment schedule for each student.  In 2011, we began offering
MyPaymentPlan+, for which we fully administer all or most aspects of payment plans on behalf of institutions.

eMarket. Our eMarket product enables higher education institutions to provide their academic, athletic and other departments with Internet e-commerce
storefronts that can be used for, among other things, taking alumni donations, selling items such as event tickets, t-shirts and other merchandise, and
accepting payments of event and conference registration fees. Higher education institutions can also use eMarket as an administrative portal to maintain
centralized control of policy setting and reporting while allowing individual departments and entities autonomy to manage their operations. This centralized
approach enables the institution to update policies related to campus commerce immediately and uniformly throughout all departmental campus storefronts.

Cashiering. Our Cashiering product enables higher education institutions to operate and manage their cashiering functions, back office payments and
campus-wide departmental deposits. In particular, Cashiering allows institutions to process walk-in and mail payments at any cashier’s office on campus,
departments to allocate deposits to specific general ledger accounts in a paperless environment and multiple locations to receive any information that is
downloaded into the CASHNet database.
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Other Products and Services

 • OneDisburse® ID. We offer our higher education institution clients the option to combine our debit card with the institution’s ID cards. If an
institution elects this option, we provide its students with our OneCard, which is a debit MasterCard ATM card that also serves as their official
campus identification.

 
 • OneDisburse® Payroll. Our OneDisburse® Payroll product can quickly and efficiently distribute payroll and other employee-related payments

through the OneDisburse® platform.
 
 • OneDisburse® PLUS. Our OneDisburse® PLUS product, which was launched in 2011, enables institutions to distribute Parent PLUS loan

refunds to parents on behalf of the school.
 
 • Financial Intelligence. In 2009, we launched a product to deliver financial literacy to the students at higher education institutions that can be

purchased by the institution and offered directly to students through their existing Higher One co-branded website. This product offers students
an online class that uses game based learning to help teach financial literacy.

 
Products and Services for Students – The OneAccount

Offered through our bank partners, our OneAccount product provides students, as well as faculty, staff and alumni, with an FDIC-insured online
checking account with no monthly fee and no minimum balance requirement. We also provide OneAccount holders with a OneCard, which is a debit
MasterCard ATM card. Students can use their OneCard instead of cash or writing checks to make purchases wherever MasterCard is accepted at millions of
locations worldwide or online. Many students also use their OneCard to pay bills automatically, send money instantly to other OneAccount holders and access
Higher One ATMs located on or near campuses, with no fee to OneCard holders.

The OneAccount includes features designed to provide students with powerful, convenient, user-friendly tools to manage their finances, such as free
balance updates via text messaging, mobile low balance alerts, a mobile website, a mobile deposit feature and a scan deposit feature. Other customized features
of the OneAccount include “Campus Auto-Load,” which allows students to set up automatic funds transfers to campus flexible spending accounts, and the
“Request Money” and “Send Money” features, which allow students to request money from parents and provide parents with a mechanism to make person-to-
person payments into students’ OneAccounts, respectively.

In December 2010 and August 2011, we began offering new versions of the OneAccount called OneAccount Flex and OneAccount Premier, respectively.
These OneAccount types offer different fee structures and features that are designed to offer students more choice and drive behavior that incentivizes primary
account usage.

As of December 31, 2011, there were approximately 2.0 million OneAccounts, inclusive of all three OneAccount types described above. OneAccount
Flex and OneAccount Premier customers constituted an immaterial amount of the total number of OneAccounts as of December 31, 2011 because we have not
yet strongly promoted these two OneAccount options. We intend to market these accounts more broadly in the future in order to increase overall usage of the
OneAccounts.

Sales and Marketing

Our sales and marketing efforts separately target our two key markets: higher education institutions and their students.

Higher Education Institutions

Our dedicated and experienced sales team actively markets our products and services to higher education institutions in the United States. This team
identifies potential new clients through a variety of channels, including higher education regional and national tradeshows, existing client showcase events and
word-of-mouth referrals. The sales process typically includes an extended solicitation period that usually includes phone conversations, in-person
presentations and formal proposals to various levels of administrators. Our primary points of contact are generally an institution’s chief financial officer,
bursar or chief technology officer.

An important part of our sales effort is educating our potential clients about the benefits of our products and services for both the higher education
institution and its students. Institutions generally are attracted to the idea of partnering with us to provide their payment functions because of the resulting
operating efficiencies, compliance monitoring and the potential benefits to students, such as receiving financial aid disbursements and paying bills more
quickly and conveniently.

Students

Once we enter into a contract with a higher education institution, we begin focusing our marketing effort on the institution’s students. Our consumer-
marketing department conducts student-directed marketing efforts with a primary goal of increasing awareness and usage of our services, including both our
payment products and our OneAccount.
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We work closely with our higher education institution clients to communicate the benefits of our products and services through school-branded

communications and literature in an effort to increase both the number of new OneAccounts and usage of existing OneAccounts. Typically, we will send
information to parents and incoming students soon after their admission applications are accepted by the school and during student orientation. We generally
contact returning students before the beginning of a new semester and place signs in strategic campus locations such as bookstores, student centers, dining
halls, athletic facilities and cash dispensers to increase awareness of our products and services. Before we introduce our OneDisburse service to a new higher
education institution client, we frequently implement a word of mouth program through which selected students volunteer to use our service and provide word
of mouth marketing and education to other students on campus. In an effort to strengthen our relationships with students, we often sponsor and support on-
campus events and create co-branded websites with the higher education institutions. Our higher education institution clients provide us with student email
addresses that we commonly use to communicate with students about our products and services. Many times, we also use these email addresses, as well as
on-campus orientation events, to distribute our “Money 101” lessons, which provide tips and other information to improve students’ financial literacy, such
as explaining how a checking account works, how to protect against security breaches and how to avoid excessive fees.

 
Customer and Client Service

We are dedicated to addressing the needs of both our higher education institution clients and our student customers. We believe that our multi-pronged
approach to providing cost-effective customer service helps make us an industry-leader in customer satisfaction.

Higher Education Institutions

We believe we enhance our sales and marketing efforts by providing reliable after-sale service. Our dedicated client-service employees are focused on
servicing our higher education institution clients.

We provide higher education institution clients with a variety of service touch points known as our High Touch Service ® approach, such as a dedicated
project manager and relationship manager, OneSupport, our client support for managers and administrative staff at our higher education institutions, and the
Higher One User Group, or HUG, client conference we hold regularly. Our dedicated relationship managers are responsible for ensuring we maintain a strong
relationship with each of our institution clients and for assisting, supporting and providing updates on the quality and use of our services. OneSupport is
designed to address a range of client issues from client-specific technical questions to client service matters that require management’s attention. During our
HUG conferences, clients can meet in-person with our management and staff to learn about new features and products, updates to current offerings and build
long-lasting personal relationships.

Students

We have after-sales customer service representatives to assist students and others in the campus community that use our products and services. Our
website provides a searchable database of frequently asked questions that we regularly update as more questions are answered by our customer service team.
This database helps us assist our self-service oriented customers. We also provide students with the ability to contact us via telephone, email and text message.

We systematically evaluate our performance through our analysis based on our internal service levels established for customer service inquiries and
response and issue resolution times. We also record and analyze refund delivery cycles and seasonal variances to help identify and adapt to particularly high
volume periods by, among other things, increasing ATM cash holdings for peak refund periods and increasing customer service staff during seasonally busy
periods, which is typically the beginning of each semester.

Key Relationships with Third Parties

We maintain relationships with a number of third parties that provide key services for us. By partnering with third-party providers, we are able to
streamline our own operations and infrastructure and provide a high level of specialized services. Our primary third-party provider relationships are with the
following entities:

The Bancorp Bank, Urban Trust Bank and Wright Express Financial Services Corporation

The Bancorp Bank, a publicly traded, Delaware-chartered depository institution, has provided FDIC-insured depository services for our OneAccounts
as well as other banking functions, such as supplying cash for our ATM machines, since July 2008.  Under the terms of our agreement with The Bancorp
Bank, we maintain responsibility for the technology-related aspects of the OneAccounts. On August 8, 2011, we received notice from The Bancorp Bank that
it intends to terminate our Services Agreement effective on or before May 4, 2012 in accordance with the agreement. Upon termination of the agreement, The
Bancorp Bank is obligated to transfer the deposits and any related bank identification numbers, routing numbers and other related identifiers, account
opening contracts and related items.
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On December 22, 2011 and January 11, 2012, we entered into agreements with Urban Trust Bank, a federal savings bank, or UTB, and Wright

Express Financial Services Corporation, a Utah industrial bank, or Wright Express FSC, respectively, for FDIC-insured depository service. Under the
respective agreements, UTB will provide and maintain demand deposit accounts and Wright Express FSC will provide and maintain negotiable order of
withdrawal accounts. The agreements are similar to the arrangement we have had with The Bancorp Bank. Each institution will also provide other banking
functions, such as supplying cash for our ATMs, while we will provide processing and other administrative services, including customer services, and will
maintain responsibility for the technology-related aspects of the OneAccounts. We will not pay a fee to either institution for its deposit processing services;
rather each institution’s sole compensation will be to retain the investment returns earned on OneAccount deposits. We may earn from each institution
a monthly processing fee based on amounts deposited in OneAccounts and prevailing interest rates. In connection with our shift toward a multi-bank partner
strategy, we will be required to keep minimum deposit balances at each institution and to obtain operational services such as ATM sponsorship, network
sponsorship, ACH processing services and check processing services from these institutions if we are unable to extend our relationship with The Bancorp
Bank.

 
Our agreements with UTB and Wright Express FSC each have initial terms of five years, after which each agreement will automatically renew for

additional three-year terms unless either party cancels subject to customary notice periods.

An implementation plan for transitioning accounts to UTB and Wright Express FSC is currently in progress. In the past, when we have changed banking
partners, we have done so in a limited amount of time and with no material disruption or inconvenience to any of our customers, and we expect that the
transition to our new bank partners will proceed smoothly. We continue to hold productive discussions and negotiations with other potential bank partners.

Fiserv Solutions, Inc.

Fiserv Solutions, Inc., or Fiserv, provides back-end account and transaction data processing for OneAccounts and OneCards, including core
processing, ACH processing, issuance authorization and settlement, ATM driving and related services. We began our relationship with Fiserv in November
2001 and our current master agreement is scheduled to expire in June 2014. Thereafter, unless either party cancels, our agreement will automatically renew on
an annual basis. We pay Fiserv a monthly fee for services rendered and related software licenses. We are currently considering the option of insourcing certain
functions provided by Fiserv.

MasterCard International Incorporated

MasterCard International Incorporated, or MasterCard, provides the payment network for our OneCard MasterCard debit and ATM card and certain
other transactions, including for SmartPay. We have an exclusive relationship with MasterCard through 2013 for the issuance and marketing of debit cards.
As a registered member service provider with MasterCard, we arrange for the marketing of both embossed and unadorned MasterCard debit cards. Fiserv is a
principal debit licensee of MasterCard and provides certain processing, implementing and support services to facilitate our OneCard program. We receive
various incentives, both directly from MasterCard and indirectly through Fiserv, for achieving growth targets in the issuance and promotion of our cards.

Comerica Incorporated and Global Payments Inc.

Comerica Incorporated and Global Payments Inc., or Comerica and Global Payments, provide transaction processing and banking services for
payment processing related to the SmartPay feature of our ePayment service. The primary function of Global Payments is to route credit card authorization
requests and to settle credit card transactions. Comerica provides acquiring sponsorship in the card payment networks related to our SmartPay service.

Terremark North America, Inc. and Neospire, Inc.

Terremark North America, Inc. (formerly NAP of the Americas, Inc.), or Terremark and Neospire, Inc., or Neospire, provide web and application
hosting services in secure data centers. These vendors provide various managed services including security, network, cooling, power, hardware and other
services to host our proprietary applications. Both vendors are certified as compliant with Payment Card Industry’s, or PCI, standards and have business
continuity plans. Under our standing agreement, we occasionally purchase computer hardware and software from Terremark and Neospire, and we
compensate Terremark and Neospire on a monthly basis for services rendered. In connection with our capitalized information technology in-sourcing project,
which includes data centers in our New Haven and Atlanta offices, we plan to deconvert from the services that Terremark and Neospire provide to us in 2012.

TeleTech Services Corporation

    TeleTech Services Corporation, or TeleTech, provides customer care services to our student accountholders in addition to the customer care services
that we provide in-house. TeleTech’s services add redundancy to our customer service function and represent an important part of our business continuity
plan.
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Technology

We have invested in establishing a secure technology platform to provide us with a flexible and scalable infrastructure. Our technology strategy is to
focus our internal resources on proprietary applications while leveraging third party partnerships or purchases for certain routine applications. For example,
the OneDisburse and OneAccount platforms include major components of internally developed software, while we partner with third parties to provide
banking core processing and transaction processing.

The key modules and features of our technology platform include:

HigherOneAccount.com

Our software engineering team has developed and maintains this web application, which allows students and parents to manage their OneAccount. It
offers robust, self-service online banking for our OneAccount accountholders including: viewing statements, paying bills, making electronic deposits, making
electronic transfers and filing service requests. It also integrates institution-specific features, including management of payroll, financial aid refunds and
automatic replenishment of campus accounts through Campus Auto-Load. This website also allows attractive opportunities for co-branding with our higher
education institution clients.
 
CASHNet.com

This web application is used to administer and initiate transactions in our payment suite of products. Higher education institution administrators can
change certain confirmation settings and run reports, while students and parents can perform certain functions, such as viewing electronic bills, making
payments and enrolling in payment plans.

HigherOneSupport.com

We maintain this administrative website for use by our higher education institution clients and our internal staff. It offers institutions useful functions,
including real-time reports, research on cards and students, access control for administrators to the website and an audit trail of all cash movement. Our
internal staff performs customer service, transaction flow monitoring, access control for employees and site administration for this website.

HigherLink

HigherLink is our batch file processing engine for integrating our technology with the systems of our higher education institution clients and other
external parties. It handles import and processing of cardholder demographic data, photos and disbursement files, as well as export of card status files and
other integration files.

Technology Audits

Our development team, consisting of both in-house and third party contractor team members, develops and tests our proprietary software applications,
including our regular software releases. Since 2006, we have conducted technology audits that are designed to identify weaknesses in our information
technology infrastructure and to provide recommendations for how to improve it. We incorporate the audit findings into our strategic planning process.
Additionally, our CASHNet payment suite was most recently certified as PCI-compliant in December 2011 by 403 Labs, LLC. Most of our critical systems
have internal redundancy functions and often include secondary sites.

Intellectual Property

We rely on a combination of patent, copyright, trademark and trade secret laws, as well as nondisclosure agreements and other agreements and
technical measures to protect our technology and intellectual property rights, including our proprietary software.

We have four registered patents and several patent applications in the United States relating to our products and services. In addition, we use a variety
of unregistered trademarks and have six registered trademarks in the United States: Higher One ®, OneDisburse®, Refund Management®, High Touch
Service®, CASHNet® and CASHNet… any payment, anytime, anywhere ®. Our domain names include “HigherOne.com,” “HigherOneSupport.com,”
“HigherOneAccount.com” and “CASHNet.com” and our proprietary software includes both internal and customer facing applications. See “Part I, Item 1.
Business—Technology” of this report. Finally, we also license certain intellectual property from third parties.
 
    Our issued patents expire in 2023 and 2024. Our trademark registrations have various expiration dates, but, subject to applicable law at the time, our
trademark registrations generally can be renewed or otherwise extended on an ongoing basis based on proper use and formal renewals.

Although our business is not dependent on any single item of our intellectual property portfolio, and no item of our intellectual property is material to
the operation of our business, we believe that our intellectual property provides a competitive advantage, and from time to time we have taken steps to enforce
our intellectual property rights. See “Part I, Item 3. Legal Proceedings” of this report.
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Competition

We do not believe there is a competitor that provides a suite of products and services to the higher education industry that is as comprehensive,
integrated and tailored as ours. However, the market for payment services in the higher education industry is competitive. Other companies, including SLM
Corporation (Sallie Mae), Nelnet, Inc., PNC Financial Services Group, Inc. and TouchNet Information Systems, Inc., provide payment software, products
and services that are competitive to those that we offer. For student banking and debit card services, we compete with banks active in the higher education
industry, including U.S. Bancorp and Wells Fargo & Company.

While many of our competitors have substantially greater financial and other resources than we have, may in the future offer a wider range of products
and services and may use advertising and marketing strategies that achieve broader brand recognition, we believe that our products and services remain
competitive in their respective markets. In particular, we believe that the functionality and service provided by our OneDisburse service and CASHNet suite of
products provide us with a competitive advantage, while the pricing of, and services provided for, our retail banking products are competitive with those of
other providers. We continue to enhance our offerings and augment our services through increased customization and creating more personalized options for
school administrators.

Government Regulation

As a payments processor to higher education institutions that takes payment instructions from institutions and their constituents, including students
and employees, and gives them to our Bank Partners, we are directly or indirectly subject to a variety of federal and state laws and regulations. The following
discussion does not purport to be a complete description of all of the laws and regulations that may affect us or all aspects of those laws and regulations. To
the extent statutory or regulatory provisions are described in this discussion, the description is qualified in its entirety by reference to the particular statutory or
regulatory provisions.

Our contracts with most of our higher education institution clients and our Bank Partners require us to comply with applicable laws and regulations,
including, where applicable, regulations promulgated by the United States Department of Education, or the Department of Education, regarding the handling
of student financial aid funds received by institutions on behalf of their students under Title IV of the Higher Education Act of 1965, or Title IV; the Family
Educational Rights and Privacy Act of 1975, or FERPA; the Electronic Fund Transfer Act and Regulation E promulgated thereunder, or Regulation E; the
USA PATRIOT Act and related anti-money laundering requirements; and certain federal rules regarding safeguarding personal information, including rules
implementing the privacy provisions of the Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act of 1999, or GLBA.

Higher Education Regulations

Because of the services we provide to some institutions with regard to the handling of Title IV funds, the Department of Education may deem us to be a
“third-party servicer” under the Title IV regulations. Those regulations require a third-party servicer annually to submit a compliance audit conducted by
outside independent auditors that covers the servicer’s Title IV activities. Each year we submit a “Compliance Attestation Examination of the Title IV Student
Financial Assistance Programs” audit to the Department of Education, which includes a report by an independent audit firm. In addition, the yearly
compliance audit submission to the Department of Education provides comfort to certain of our higher education institution clients that we are in compliance
with the third-party servicer regulations that may apply to us. We also provide this compliance audit report to clients upon request to help them fulfill their
compliance audit obligations as Title IV participating institutions.

Under the Department of Education regulations, a third party servicer that contracts with a Title IV institution acts in the nature of a fiduciary in the
administration of Title IV programs. Among other requirements, the regulations provide that a third-party servicer is jointly and severally liable with its client
institution for any liability to the Department of Education arising out of the servicer’s violation of Title IV or its implementing regulations, which could
subject us to material fines related to acts or omissions of entities beyond our control. The Department of Education is also empowered to limit, suspend or
terminate the violating servicer’s eligibility to act as a third-party servicer and to impose significant civil penalties on the violating servicer.

Our higher education institution clients are subject to FERPA, which provides with certain exceptions that an educational institution that receives any
federal funding under a program administered by the Department of Education may not have a policy or practice of disclosing education records or
“personally identifiable information” from education records, other than directory information to third parties without the student’s or parent’s written consent.
Our higher education institution clients disclose to us certain non-directory information concerning their students, including contact information, student
identification numbers and the amount of students’ credit balances pursuant to one or more exceptions under FERPA.

Additionally, as we are indirectly subject to FERPA, we may not permit the transfer of any personally identifiable information to another party other
than in a manner in which an educational institution may disclose it. While we believe that we have adequate policies and procedures in place to safeguard
against the risk of disclosure of this information to third parties, a breach of this prohibition could result in a five-year suspension of our access to the related
client’s records. We may also be subject to similar state laws and regulations that restrict higher education institutions from disclosing certain personally
identifiable information of students.
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Banking Regulations

The Bancorp Bank, UTB and Wright Express FSC, collectively, our Bank Partners, are depository institutions that provide and maintain checking
accounts for OneAccounts. Funds held in accounts at our Bank Partners are insured by the FDIC up to applicable limits. As FDIC-insured depository
institutions, our Bank Partners are subject to comprehensive government regulation and supervision and, in the course of making their services available to
our customers, we are required to assist our Bank Partners in complying with certain of their regulatory obligations. Among other laws and regulations, the
anti-money laundering provisions of the USA PATRIOT Act require that customer identifying information be obtained and verified whenever a bank account
is established. For example, because we facilitate the opening of checking accounts at our Bank Partners on behalf of our customers, we assist our Bank
Partners in collecting the customer identification information that is necessary to open an account. In addition, both we and our Bank Partners are subject to
the laws and regulations enforced by the Office of Foreign Assets Control, or OFAC, which prohibit U.S. persons from engaging in transactions with certain
prohibited persons. As a service provider to insured depository institutions, we are required under federal law to agree to submit to examination by each of our
Bank Partner’s primary federal regulator, which is the FDIC in the case of The Bancorp Bank and Wright Express FSC and the Office of the Comptroller of
the Currency, or the OCC, in the case of UTB. We also are subject to audit by our Bank Partners to ensure that we appropriately comply with our obligations
to them. Failure to comply with our responsibilities could negatively affect our operations. Our Bank Partners are required under our respective agreements to,
and we rely on our Bank Partners’ abilities to, comply with state and federal banking regulations.

 
The Bancorp Bank provides, and UTB and Wright Express FSC will provide, depository services for OneAccounts through a private label

relationship. We provide processing services for these OneAccounts. These services are subject to, among other things, the requirements of the Electronic Fund
Transfer Act and the Bureau of Consumer Financial Protection’s Regulation E, which govern automatic deposits to and withdrawals from deposit accounts
and customers’ rights and liabilities arising from the use of ATMs, debit cards and certain other electronic banking services. Regulation E, among other
things, requires initial disclosures of the terms and conditions of electronic fund transfers, dissemination of periodic statements to consumers for each
monthly cycle in which an electronic fund transfer has occurred and prompt investigation and resolution of reported errors in electronic funds transfers.
Regulation E also provides for limits on customer liability for transactions made with lost or stolen debit cards based upon the timeliness of the customer’s
notification of the loss or theft. In conjunction with The Bancorp Bank, we promptly investigate and seek to resolve any reported errors related to the electronic
banking services provided to our customers, and we plan to do the same with UTB and Wright Express FSC.

Regulation E prohibits a financial institution from assessing an overdraft fee for paying ATM and one-time debit card transactions that overdraw a
consumer’s account, unless the consumer affirmatively consents, or opts in, to the institution’s payment of overdrafts for these services. We and The Bancorp
Bank comply with this restriction, and we do not currently offer the opt in feature to our customers for ATM or one-time debit card transactions.

On July 21, 2010, the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act, or the Dodd-Frank Act, was signed into law. The Dodd-Frank
Act increased the already substantial regulation and oversight of the financial services industry and imposed restrictions on the ability of firms within the
industry, including us, to conduct business consistent with historical practices. Among other things, the Dodd-Frank Act created the Bureau of Consumer
Financial Protection, or the Bureau, to regulate any person engaged in a “financial activity” in connection with a consumer financial product or service,
including those, such as us, that process financial services products and services. The Bureau has assumed regulatory authority for many of the consumer
protection laws to which we and our Bank Partners are subject and may have direct supervisory authority over us. The Bureau has authority to issue and
enforce regulations relating to consumer financial protection designed to prevent unfair, deceptive, and abusive practices in the offering of consumer financial
products.

The Dodd-Frank Act also required changes to the manner in which merchants accept and process certain debit- and credit-card transactions.
Specifically, the Dodd-Frank Act, subject to certain exemptions, requires the Federal Reserve to impose limits on debit card interchange fees tied principally to
the cost of processing the transaction, which may have the result of decreasing revenue to debit card issuers and processors. On October 1, 2011, the Federal
Reserve’s final rule implementing these limits on debit card interchange fees became effective. Issuers such as our Bank Partners that, together with their
affiliates, have less than $10 billion in assets are exempt from the debit card interchange fee standards, although they are subject to the prohibitions on
network exclusivity and routing restrictions. Nevertheless, it is anticipated that smaller issuers, such as our Bank Partners, may also be impacted. Some
federal, state, and local government-administered payment programs that use debit cards are exempt from this interchange fee restriction.
 

Additionally, the Dodd-Frank Act permits merchants to offer a discount or other incentive to encourage use of one form of payment over
another. Furthermore, the Dodd-Frank Act, as implemented by the Federal Reserve Board’s final rule, prohibits an issuer or payment card network from
restricting the number of payment card networks over which an electronic debit transaction may be processed to fewer than two unaffiliated networks, or
restricting the ability of a merchant to direct the routing of electronic debit transactions over any of the networks that an issuer has enabled to process the
electronic debit transactions. The Dodd-Frank Act also allows merchants to set minimum purchase thresholds for credit card transactions, provided such
thresholds do not exceed $10, and it permits institutions of higher education and federal agencies – which constitute many of our clients – to impose maximum
dollar amounts for credit-card purchases. Individual state legislatures are also reviewing interchange fees, and legislators in a number of states have proposed
bills that purport to limit interchange fees or merchant discount rates or to prohibit their application to portions of a transaction.

Individual state legislatures also periodically review interchange fees, and legislators in a number of states have proposed bills that purport to limit
interchange fees or merchant discount rates or to prohibit their application to portions of a transaction.

 
9



Table of Contents
   
    Federal and state regulatory agencies also frequently propose and adopt changes to their regulations or change the manner in which existing regulations
are applied.  We cannot predict the substance or impact of pending or future legislation or regulation, or the application thereof, although changes to existing
law could affect how we and our Bank Partners operate and could significantly increase costs, impede the efficiency of internal business processes and limit
our ability to pursue business opportunities in an efficient manner.
 
 Privacy and Data Regulation

We are subject to laws and regulations relating to the collection, use, retention, security and transfer of personally identifiable information and data
regarding our customers and their financial information. In addition, we are bound by our own privacy policies and practices concerning the collection, use
and disclosure of user data, which are posted on certain of our websites.

In conjunction with the disbursement, payroll and tuition payment services we make available through our Bank Partners, it is necessary to collect
certain information from our customers (such as bank account and routing numbers) to transmit to our Bank Partners. Our Bank Partners use this
information to execute the funds transfers requested by our customers. These funds transfers are accomplished primarily by means of ACH networks and
other wire transfer systems, such as FedWire. To the extent the data required by these electronic funds networks change, the information that we will be
required to request from our clients may also change.

We are subject, either directly or by virtue of our contractual relationship with our Bank Partners, to the privacy and security standards of the GLBA
privacy regulations, as well as certain state data protection laws and regulations. The GLBA privacy regulations require that we develop, implement and
maintain a written comprehensive information security program prescribing safeguards that are appropriate to our size and complexity, the nature and scope of
our activities and the sensitivity of any personally identifiable information we access for processing purposes or otherwise maintain. As a service provider of
our Bank Partners, we also are limited in our use and disclosure of the personal information we receive from our Bank Partners, which we may use and
disclose only for the purposes for which it was provided to us, and consistent with such Bank Partner’s own data privacy and security obligations. We also
are subject to the standards set forth in guidance on data security issued by the Federal Financial Institution Examination Council, as well as the data security
standards imposed by the card associations, including Visa, Inc. and MasterCard. In addition, we are subject to similar data security breach laws enacted by
a number of states.

New legislation and regulations in this area have been proposed, both at the federal and state level. Such measures, including pending federal
legislation, would potentially impose additional obligations on us, including requiring that we provide notifications to consumers and government authorities
in the event of a data breach or unauthorized access or disclosure, beyond what state law already requires.

Compliance

We monitor our compliance through an internal audit program and our compliance management system. Our full-time internal auditor works with a
third-party internal audit firm to conduct annual reviews to ensure compliance with the regulatory requirements described above. The costs of these audits and
the costs of complying with the applicable regulatory requirements are significant. Increased regulatory requirements on our products and services, such as in
connection with the matters described above, could materially increase our costs or reduce revenue.

Regulatory Inquiry

Because our technology services are provided in connection with the financial products of our Bank Partners, our activities are occasionally reviewed
by regulatory agencies to ensure that we do not impermissibly engage in activities that require licensing at the state or federal level or that otherwise may be
deemed to be in violation of law. In the ordinary course of business, we receive letters and inquiries concerning the nature of our business as it applies to state
“money transmitter” licensing and regulations from different state regulatory agencies including but not limited to the State of Texas Department of Banking,
the State of Washington Department of Financial Institutions and the State of Oregon Department of Consumer and Business Services. To date, we have
cooperated with such inquiries by explaining the nature of our business, which, to our knowledge, has satisfied the inquiring authorities. In November 2011,
we received an investigatory subpoena from the Office of the Attorney General of the State of Florida pursuant to Florida’s Deceptive and Unfair Trade
Practices Act. We are in the process of providing the information requested by the subpoena, which includes information and records about our company and
certain of our business practices.  In 2007, the Office of the Attorney General of the State of New York launched an investigation into practices in the higher
education industry involving certain of our higher education institution clients. Pursuant to a subpoena, we have provided certain information about our
clients’ and our business practices to the New York Attorney General. We most recently submitted information to the New York Attorney General in November
2010. We cannot predict whether we will become subject to any formal investigation or other action by the New York Attorney General or any other state
agencies.
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Our operations and the operations of our Bank Partners are subject to the jurisdiction and examination of federal, state and local regulatory authorities,

including the FDIC with respect to The Bancorp Bank and Wright Express FSC, and the OCC with respect to UTB. In February 2011, the New York
Regional Office of the FDIC notified us that it was prepared to recommend to the Director of FDIC Supervision that an enforcement action be taken against us
for alleged violations of certain applicable laws and regulations principally relating to our compliance management system and policies and practices for past
overdraft charging on persistently delinquent accounts, collections and transaction error resolution. We have responded to the FDIC’s notification, been in
regular dialogue with the FDIC since 2010 and voluntarily amended certain practices. We voluntarily initiated a plan in December 2011, which provided
credits to certain current and former customers that were previously assessed certain insufficient fund fees. As a result of this plan, we recorded a reduction in
our revenue of approximately $4.7 million in 2011. The insufficient funds fees that are credited to customers under this plan were originally assessed
beginning in 2008.  Of the total charge of $4.7 million, an accrual of approximately $2.6 million has been established for amounts which are expected to be
paid in the first quarter of 2012. While we believe that our decision to voluntarily initiate the plan described above reduces our risk, the process with the FDIC
is ongoing and there continues to be various potential outcomes in order to resolve this matter. For instance, we could receive an enforcement action which could
result in an order to pay civil money penalties and additional restitution. We believe that the material loss related to this matter has been recorded as of
December 31, 2011. While there is the potential for additional loss related to this matter in the future, we do not consider such loss to be probable, nor is it
reasonably estimable at this time. In accordance with applicable accounting guidance, we would establish a liability for litigation and regulatory matters if and
when those matters were to present loss contingencies that were both probable and reasonably estimable.  See “Part 2, Item 1A. Risk Factors—Reviews and
enforcement actions by regulatory authorities under banking and consumer protection laws and regulations may result in changes to our business practices or
may expose us to the risk of fines, restitution and litigation” of this report.

Employees

As of December 31, 2011, we had approximately 700 employees. In addition, during periods of peak activity, we add temporary staff to supplement
our customer service department. None of our employees is a member of any labor union or subject to any collective bargaining agreement and we have never
experienced any business interruption as a result of a labor dispute.

 
Available Information

The Securities and Exchange Commission, or SEC, maintains a website that contains reports, proxy and information statements, and other
information regarding issuers, including us, that file electronically with the SEC. The public can obtain any documents that we file with the SEC at
http://www.sec.gov. We file annual reports, quarterly reports, proxy statements and other documents with the SEC under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934,
as amended, or the Exchange Act. The public may read and copy any materials that we file with the SEC at the SEC’s Public Reference Room at 100 F Street,
N.E., Washington, D.C. 20549. The public may obtain information on the operation of the Public Reference Room by calling the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330.

We also make available free of charge through our website (http://ir.higherone.com) our Annual Report on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q,
Current Reports on Form 8-K, and, if applicable, amendments to those reports filed or furnished pursuant to the Exchange Act as soon as reasonably
practicable after we electronically file such material with, or furnish it to, the SEC. Information on our website is not incorporated into this report or any of our
SEC filings and is not a part of them.

 
Item  1A. Risk Factors

Our financial condition and results of operations are subject to various risks, uncertainties and other factors. These risks and uncertainties
include, but are not limited to, the risk factors set forth below. The risks and uncertainties described in this report are not the only ones we face.
Additional risks and uncertainties not presently known to us or that we currently believe are immaterial may also affect our business. If any of these
known or unknown risks or uncertainties actually occurs, they could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of
operations.

Our operating results may suffer because of substantial and increasing competition in the industries in which we do business.

The market for our products and services is competitive, continually evolving and, in some cases, subject to rapid technological change. Our
disbursement services compete against all forms of payment, including paper-based transactions (principally cash and checks), electronic transactions such
as wire transfers and Automated Clearing House, or ACH, payments and other electronic forms of payment, including card-based payment systems. Many
competitors, including Sallie Mae, TouchNet Information Systems, Inc., PNC Financial Services Group, Inc. and Nelnet, Inc., provide payment software,
products and services that compete with those we offer. In addition, our OneAccount and OneCard products and services, which we provide through our
Bank Partners, also compete with banks active in the higher education market, including U.S. Bancorp and Wells Fargo & Company. Future competitors
may begin to focus on higher education institutions in a manner similar to us.

Many of our competitors have substantially greater financial and other resources than we have, may in the future offer a wider range of products and
services and may use advertising and marketing strategies that achieve broader brand recognition or acceptance. In addition, our competitors may develop new
products, services or technologies that render our products, services or technologies obsolete or less marketable. If we cannot continue to compete effectively
against our competitors, our business, financial condition and results of operations will be materially and adversely affected.
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Reviews and enforcement actions by regulatory authorities under banking and consumer protection laws and regulations may result in changes
to our business practices or may expose us to the risk of fines, restitution and litigation.

Our operations and the operations of our Bank Partners are subject to the jurisdiction and examination of federal, state and local regulatory authorities,
including the FDIC, which is The Bancorp Bank’s and Wright Express FSC’s primary federal regulator, and the OCC, which is UTB’s primary federal
regulator. Our business practices, including the terms of our products, are reviewed and approved by our Bank Partners and subject to both periodic and
special reviews by such regulatory authorities, which can range from investigations into specific consumer complaints or concerns to broader inquiries into
our practices generally. We and The Bancorp Bank are subject to ongoing and routine examination by the FDIC, and we will be subject to OCC review in
connection with the services we provide to UTB. If, as part of an examination or review, the regulatory authorities conclude that we are not complying with
applicable laws or regulations, they could request or impose a wide range of remedies, including, but not limited to, requiring changes to the terms of our
products (such as decreases in fees), the imposition of fines or penalties or the institution of enforcement proceedings or other similar actions against us
alleging that our practices constitute unfair or deceptive acts or practices. As part of an enforcement action, the regulators can seek restitution for affected
customers and impose civil money penalties. In addition, negative publicity relating to any specific inquiry or investigation or any related fine could adversely
affect our stock price, our relationships with various industry participants, or our ability to attract new and retain existing clients, which could have a
material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

In February 2011, the New York Regional Office of the FDIC notified us that it was prepared to recommend to the Director of FDIC Supervision that an
enforcement action be taken against us for alleged violations of certain applicable laws and regulations principally relating to our compliance management
system and policies and practices for past overdraft charging on persistently delinquent accounts, collections and transaction error resolution. We have
responded to the FDIC’s notification, been in regular dialogue with the FDIC since 2010 and voluntarily amended certain practices. We voluntarily initiated a
plan in December 2011, which provided credits to certain current and former customers that were previously assessed certain insufficient fund fees. As a
result of this plan, we recorded a reduction in our revenue of approximately $4.7 million in 2011. The insufficient funds fees that are credited to customers
under this plan were originally assessed beginning in 2008.  Of the total charge of $4.7 million, an accrual of approximately $2.6 million has been established
for amounts which are expected to be paid in the first quarter of 2012.  While we believe that our decision to voluntarily initiate the plan described above
reduces our risk, the process with the FDIC is ongoing and there continue to be various potential outcomes in order to resolve this matter. For instance, we
could receive an enforcement action which could result in an order to pay civil money penalties and additional restitution. The process is ongoing and there can
be no assurances as to the outcome of this process. Any action instituted against us that results in significant changes to our practices, the imposition on us of
fines or penalties, or an obligation for us to pay restitution or civil money penalties could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition
and results of operations.

The fees that we generate through our relationships with higher education institutions and their campus communities are subject to competitive
pressures and are subject to change, which may materially and adversely affect our revenue and profitability.

We generate revenue from, among other sources, the banking services fees charged to our OneAccount holders, interchange fees related to purchases
made through our OneCard debit and ATM cards, which our Bank Partners charge and remit to us, convenience fees from processing tuition payments on
behalf of students, fees charged to our higher education institution clients and service fees that we receive from our Bank Partners based on amounts deposited
in OneAccounts and prevailing interest rates.

In an increasingly price-conscious and competitive market, it is possible that to maintain our competitive position with higher education institutions, we
may have to decrease the fees we charge institutions for our services. Similarly, in order to maintain our competitive position with our OneAccount holders, we
may need to work with our Bank Partners to reduce banking services fees charged to our OneAccount holders.

MasterCard could reduce the interchange rates, which it unilaterally sets and adjusts from time to time, and upon which our interchange revenue is
dependent. In addition, our OneAccount holders may modify their spending habits and increase their use of ACH relative to their use of OneCards, as ACH
payments are generally free, which could reduce the interchange fees remitted to us. Students may also become less willing to pay convenience fees when using
our payment transaction services. If our fees are reduced as described above, our business, results of operations and prospects for future growth could be
materially and adversely affected.

Fees for financial services are subject to increasingly intense legislative and regulatory scrutiny, which could have a material adverse effect on our
business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects for future growth.
 
    A substantial portion of our revenue is generated from interchange fees, ATM fees, non-sufficient funds fees, other banking services fees and
convenience fees. These fees, as well as the financial services industry in general, have undergone or may undergo substantial changes in the near future.
These changes could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects for future growth.
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    On July 21, 2010, the Dodd-Frank Act was signed into law. The Dodd-Frank Act increased the already substantial regulation and oversight of the
financial services industry and imposed restrictions on the ability of firms within the industry, including us, to conduct business consistent with historical
practices. Among other things, the Dodd-Frank Act created the Bureau of Consumer Financial Protection, or the Bureau, to regulate any person engaged in a
“financial activity” in connection with a consumer financial product or service, including those, such as us, that process financial services products and
services. The Bureau has assumed regulatory authority for many of the consumer protection laws to which we and our Bank Partners are subject and may
have direct supervisory authority over us. The Bureau also has authority to issue and enforce regulations relating to consumer financial protection designed to
prevent unfair, deceptive, and abusive practices in the offering of consumer financial products.

    The Dodd-Frank Act also required changes to the manner in which merchants accept and process certain debit- and credit-card transactions.
Specifically, the Dodd-Frank Act, subject to certain exemptions, requires the Federal Reserve to impose limits on debit card interchange fees tied principally to
the cost of processing the transaction, which may have the result of decreasing revenue to debit card issuers and processors. On October 1, 2011, the Federal
Reserve’s final rule implementing these limits on debit card interchange fees became effective. Issuers such as our Bank Partners that, together with their
affiliates, have less than $10 billion in assets are exempt from the debit card interchange fee standards, although they are subject to the prohibitions on
network exclusivity and routing restrictions. Nevertheless, it is anticipated that smaller issuers, such as our Bank Partners, may also be impacted. Some
federal, state, and local government-administered payment programs that use debit cards are exempt from this interchange fee restriction.

Additionally, the Dodd-Frank Act permits merchants to offer a discount or other incentive to encourage use of one form of payment over
another. Furthermore, the Dodd-Frank Act, as implemented by the Federal Reserve Board’s final rule, prohibits an issuer or payment card network from
restricting the number of payment card networks over which an electronic debit transaction may be processed to fewer than two unaffiliated networks, or
restricting the ability of a merchant to direct the routing of electronic debit transactions over any of the networks that an issuer has enabled to process the
electronic debit transactions. The Dodd-Frank Act also allows merchants to set minimum purchase thresholds for credit card transactions, provided such
thresholds do not exceed $10, and it permits institutions of higher education and federal agencies – which constitute many of our clients – to impose maximum
dollar amounts for credit-card purchases. Individual state legislatures are also reviewing interchange fees, and legislators in a number of states have proposed
bills that purport to limit interchange fees or merchant discount rates or to prohibit their application to portions of a transaction.

Individual state legislatures also periodically review interchange fees, and legislators in a number of states have proposed bills that purport to limit
interchange fees or merchant discount rates or to prohibit their application to portions of a transaction. Federal and state regulatory agencies also frequently
propose and adopt changes to their regulations or change the manner in which existing regulations are applied. We cannot predict the substance or impact of
pending or future legislation or regulation, or the application thereof, although changes to existing law could affect how we and our Bank Partners operate and
could significantly increase costs, impede the efficiency of internal business processes and limit our ability to pursue business opportunities in an efficient
manner.

The scope and impact of many of the Dodd-Frank Act’s provisions, including those summarized above, will continue to be determined through the rule
making process. As a result, we cannot predict the ultimate impact of the Dodd-Frank Act on us or our Bank Partners at this time, nor can we predict the
impact or substance of other future legislation or regulation. However, we believe that the Dodd-Frank Act, other changes in regulation, including the
Regulation E changes summarized above, and legislation under consideration by the states, could affect how we and our Bank Partners operate by
significantly reducing the interchange fees, ATM fees, non-sufficient fund fees, other banking services fees and convenience fees charged in respect of our
services and that drive our financial results. These regulatory and legislative changes could also increase our costs, impede the efficiency of our internal
business processes or limit our ability to pursue business opportunities in an efficient manner. The occurrence of any of these risks could materially and
adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

 
We rely on our Bank Partners for certain banking services, and a change in the relationships with, or difficulties implementing our program with,
our Bank Partners or their failure to comply with certain banking regulations could materially and adversely affect our business.

As the provider of FDIC-insured depository services for all of our OneAccounts, as well as other banking functions, such as supplying cash for our
ATM machines, The Bancorp Bank provides third-party services that are critical to our student-oriented banking services. On August 8, 2011, The Bancorp
Bank provided us with a notice of termination of our services agreement that included a termination effective date of not later than May 4, 2012. Upon
termination of the services agreement, The Bancorp Bank is obligated to transfer the deposits and any related bank identification numbers, routing numbers
and other related identifiers used by us in connection with the deposits of our customers and deliver any and all applicable information, account opening
contracts and related items. Although in December 2011 and January 2012, we signed agreements with UTB and Wright Express FSC, respectively, for the
provision of depository services, if we experience any problems delays or increased costs in implementing our partnerships with these institutions or in
obtaining operational services such as ATM sponsorship, network sponsorship, ACH processing services and check processing services from these
institutions or are unable to extend our relationship with The Bancorp Bank, we may not be able to continue to offer the OneAccount in the same manner as we
do now, which would have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. Additionally, if any material adverse event
were to affect any of our Bank Partners or future bank partners, including, but not limited to, a significant decline in financial condition, a decline in the
quality of service, loss of deposits, inability to comply with applicable banking and financial service regulatory requirements, systems failure or inability to
pay us fees, our business, financial condition and results of operations could be materially and adversely affected. There is also a risk that the terms of our
services agreement with future bank partners may not be as favorable to us. The aggregate impact of any of these risks could have a material adverse effect on
our business, financial condition and results of operations.
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The length and unpredictability of the sales cycle for signing potential higher education institution clients could delay new sales of our products
and services, which could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

The sales cycle between our initial contact with a potential higher education institution client and the signing of a contract with that client can be lengthy.
As a result of this lengthy sales cycle, our ability to forecast accurately the timing of revenues associated with new sales is limited. Our sales cycle varies
widely due to significant uncertainties, over which we have little or no control, including:
 • the individual decision-making processes of each higher education institution client, which typically include extensive and lengthy evaluations

and require us to spend substantial time, effort and money educating each client about the value of our products and services;
 • the budgetary constraints and priorities and budget cycle of each higher education institution client; and
 • the reluctance of higher education staff to change or modify existing processes and procedures.

In addition, there is no guarantee that a potential client will sign a contract with us even after we spend substantial time, effort and money on the
potential client. A delay in our ability or a failure to enter into new contracts with potential higher education institution clients could materially and adversely
affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

We depend on our relationship with higher education institutions and, in turn, student usage of our products and services for future growth of
our business.

Our future growth depends, in part, on our ability to enter into agreements with higher education institutions. While we have experienced significant
growth since 2002 in the number of our higher education institution clients, our contracts with these clients can generally be terminated at will and, therefore,
there can be no assurance that we will be able to maintain these clients. We may also be unable to maintain our agreements with these clients on terms and
conditions acceptable to us. In addition, we may not be able to continue to establish new relationships with higher education institution clients at our historical
growth rate or at all. The termination of our current client contracts or our inability to continue to attract new clients could have a material adverse effect on our
business, financial condition and results of operations.

Not only are establishing new client relationships and maintaining current ones critical to our business, but they are also essential components of our
strategy for maximizing student usage of our products and services and attracting new student customers. A reduction in enrollment, a failure to attract and
maintain student customers, as well as any future demographic trends that reduce the number of higher education students could materially and adversely
affect our capability for both revenue and cash generation and, as a result, could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and
results of operations.

Our business and future success may suffer if we are unable to cross-sell our products and services.

A significant component of our growth strategy is dependent on our ability to cross-sell products and services to new and existing customers. In
particular, our growth strategy depends on our ability to successfully cross-sell our disbursement services to our payment services clients and our payment
services to our disbursement services clients. We may not be successful in cross-selling our products and services because our customers may find our
additional products and services unnecessary or unattractive. Our failure to sell additional products and services to new and existing customers could have a
material adverse effect on our prospects, business, financial condition and results of operations.

Global economic and other conditions may adversely affect trends in consumer spending, which could materially and adversely affect our
business, financial condition and results of operations.

A decrease in consumer confidence due to the weakened global economy may cause decreased spending among our student customers and may decrease
the use of our OneAccount and OneCard products and services. Increases in college tuition alongside stagnation or reduction in available financial aid may
also restrict spending among college students and the size of disbursements, reducing the use of our OneAccount and OneCard products and services and
demand for our disbursement services, which could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Failure to manage future growth effectively could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

The continued rapid expansion and development of our business may place a significant strain upon our management and administrative, operational
and financial infrastructure. Our growth strategy contemplates further increasing the number of our higher education institution clients and student banking
customers, however, the rate at which we have been able to establish relationships with our customers in the past may not be indicative of the rate at which we
will be able to establish additional customer relationships in the future.
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Our success will depend in part upon the ability of our executive officers to manage growth effectively. Our ability to grow also depends upon our

ability to successfully hire, train, supervise, and manage new employees, obtain financing for our capital needs, expand our systems effectively, control
increasing costs, allocate our human resources optimally, maintain clear lines of communication between our operational functions and our finance and
accounting functions, and manage the pressures on our management and administrative, operational and financial infrastructure. There can be no assurance
that we will be able to accurately anticipate and respond to the changing demands we will face as we continue to expand our operations or that we will be able to
manage growth effectively or to achieve further growth at all. If our business does not continue to grow or if we fail to effectively manage any future growth,
our business, financial condition and results of operations could be materially and adversely affected.
 
We depend on our founders and other key members of executive management and the loss of their services could have a material adverse effect on
our business.

We substantially depend on the efforts, skill and reputations of our founders and senior management team including Dean Hatton (President and
CEO), Mark Volchek (Founder and CFO), Miles Lasater (Founder and COO), Casey McGuane (Chief Service Officer) and Robert Reach (Chief Sales
Officer). We do not currently maintain key person life insurance policies with respect to our executive officers. None of our executive officers have entered into
employment agreements with us, leaving them free to terminate their involvement with us at any time and/or to pursue other opportunities. On January 9,
2012, Mr. Hatton informed our board of directors that he intends to retire from his position as President and CEO, effective on or before June 30. Upon Mr.
Hatton’s departure, Mr. Volchek will become CEO, Mr. Lasater will become President in addition to continuing to serve as COO and we intend to have hired a
new CFO. However, the retirement of Mr. Hatton and the loss of any of our other executive officers or founders, including Mr. Hatton, could have a material
adverse effect on our ability to manage our company, growth prospects, business financial condition and results of operations.

We have no operating history in rehabilitation and development activities and these activities are inherently risky and could adversely impact our
business and strain management resources.

We recently moved into our new headquarters, marking the near completion of a project to rehabilitate and develop two existing commercial buildings
located in New Haven, Connecticut. We do not have any prior operating history in property rehabilitation and development and therefore uncertainties and
unknown future challenges that may arise in connection with these activities could divert management’s attention from our core business and strain
management’s resources. In addition, rehabilitation and development projects entail the following considerable risks, some of which may still arise or be
discovered at a later date:
 
 • unforeseen quality or engineering problems;
 • cost overruns including construction costs that may exceed our original estimates;
 • costs for the removal or remediation of hazardous or toxic substances present at, on, under or in or released from the project site; and
 • delays with respect to obtaining or the inability to obtain necessary zoning, occupancy, land use and other governmental permits, and/or changes

in zoning and land use laws.

    If any of these problems occur, the overall project costs may significantly exceed the costs that were estimated when the project was originally
undertaken, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

We may not be able to meet all of the continuing criteria required in order to retain the various subsidies, grants and credits we have received in
connection with our rehabilitation and development project.

We have received various subsidies, grants and credits from different state and federal agencies and private entities that will offset our investment in the
rehabilitation project. Many of these programs have criteria that we must meet on an ongoing basis in order to prevent forfeiture of the subsidies, grants and
credits, and in some cases the imposition of a penalty. If we are not able to meet the continuing criteria, we may forfeit some or all of the incentives we have
received.

We are subject to substantial federal and state governmental regulation that could change and thus force us to make modifications to our
business. Compliance with the various complex laws and regulations is costly and time consuming, and failure to comply could have a material
adverse effect on our business. Additionally, increased regulatory requirements on our services may increase our costs, which could materially
and adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

As a payments processor to higher education institutions that takes payment instructions from institutions and their constituents, including students
and employees, and gives them to our Bank Partners, we are directly or indirectly subject to a variety of federal and state laws and regulations. Our contracts
with most of our higher education institution clients and our Bank Partners require us to comply with applicable laws and regulations, including, where
applicable:

 • Title IV;
 • FERPA;
 • the Electronic Fund Transfer Act and Regulation E;
 • the USA PATRIOT Act and related anti-money laundering requirements; and
 • certain federal rules regarding safeguarding personal information, including rules implementing the privacy provisions of GLBA.
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Higher Education Regulations

Third-Party Servicer. Because of the services we provide to some institutions with regard to the handling of Title IV funds, the Department of
Education may deem us to be a “third-party servicer” under the Title IV regulations. Those regulations require a third-party servicer annually to submit a
compliance audit conducted by outside independent auditors that covers the servicer’s Title IV activities. Each year we submit a “Compliance Attestation
Examination of the Title IV Student Financial Assistance Programs” audit to the Department of Education, which includes a report by an independent audit
firm. In addition, the yearly compliance audit submission to the Department of Education provides comfort to certain of our higher education institution clients
that are in compliance with the third-party servicer regulations that may apply to us. We also provide this compliance audit report to clients upon request to
help them fulfill their compliance audit obligations as Title IV participating institutions.

Under the Department of Education regulations, a third party servicer that contracts with a Title IV institution acts in the nature of a fiduciary in the
administration of Title IV programs. Among other requirements, the regulations provide that a third-party servicer is jointly and severally liable with its client
institution for any liability to the Department of Education arising out of the servicer’s violation of Title IV or its implementing regulations, which could
subject us to material fines related to acts or omissions of entities beyond our control. The Department of Education is also empowered to limit, suspend or
terminate the violating servicer’s eligibility to act as a third-party servicer and to impose significant civil penalties on the violating servicer. In the event the
Department of Education concluded that we had violated Title IV or its implementing regulations and should be subject to one or more of these sanctions, our
business and results of operations could be materially and adversely affected. There is limited enforcement and interpretive history of Title IV regulations
relevant to this risk factor.

FERPA. Our higher education institution clients are subject to FERPA, which provides with certain exceptions that an educational institution that
receives any federal funding under a program administered by the Department of Education may not have a policy or practice of disclosing education records
or “personally identifiable information” from education records, other than directory information to third parties without the student’s or parent’s written
consent. Our higher education institution clients disclose to us certain non-directory information concerning their students, including contact information,
student identification numbers and the amount of students’ credit balances. We believe that our higher education institution clients may disclose this
information to us without the students’ or their parents’ consent pursuant to one or more exceptions under FERPA. However, if the Department of Education
asserts that we do not fall into one of these exceptions or if future changes to legislation or regulations required student consent before our higher education
institution clients could disclose this information to us, a sizeable number of students may cease using our products and services, which could materially and
adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Additionally, as we are indirectly subject to FERPA, we may not permit the transfer of any personally identifiable information to another party other
than in a manner in which a higher education institution may disclose it. In the event that we re-disclose student information in violation of this requirement,
FERPA requires our clients to suspend our access to any such information for a period of five years. Any such suspension could have a material adverse effect
on our business, financial condition or results of operations.

State Laws. We may also be subject to similar state laws and regulations that restrict higher education institutions from disclosing certain personally
identifiable information of students. State attorneys generals and other enforcement agencies may monitor our compliance with state and federal laws and
regulations pertaining to higher education and banking and conduct investigations of our business that are time consuming and expensive and could result in
fines and penalties that have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Regulation of OneAccounts

Anti-Money Laundering; USA PATRIOT ACT; OFAC. The Bancorp Bank, UTB and Wright Express FSC are insured depository institutions
and funds held at our Bank Partners are insured by the FDIC up to applicable limits. As insured depository institutions, our Bank Partner are subject to
comprehensive government regulation and supervision and, in the course of making its services available to our customers, we are required to assist our Bank
Partners in complying with certain of their regulatory obligations. In particular, the anti-money laundering provisions of the USA PATRIOT Act require that
customer identifying information be obtained and verified whenever a checking account is established. For example, because we facilitate the opening of
checking accounts at our Bank Partners on behalf of our customers, we assist our Bank Partners in collecting the customer identification information that is
necessary to open an account. In addition, both we and our Bank Partners are subject to the laws and regulations enforced by the OFAC, which prohibit U.S.
persons from engaging in transactions with certain prohibited persons. Our failure to comply with any of these laws or rights could materially and adversely
affect or business, financial credit and results of operations.

Compliance; Audit. As a service provider to insured depository institutions, we are required under applicable federal and state laws to agree to submit
to examination by our Bank Partners’ regulators. We also are subject to audit by our Bank Partners to ensure that we comply with our obligations to them
appropriately. Failure to comply with our responsibilities properly could negatively affect our operations. Our Bank Partners are required under their respective
agreements with us to, and we rely on our Bank Partners’ ability to, comply with state and federal banking regulations. The failure of our Bank Partners to
maintain regulatory compliance could result in significant disruptions to our business and have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition
and results of operations.
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Electronic Fund Transfer Act; Regulation E.  Our Bank Partners provide depository services for OneAccounts through a private label relationship.

We provide processing services for OneAccounts for our Bank Partners. These services are subject to, among other things, the requirements of the Electronic
Fund Transfer Act and the Bureau of Consumer Financial Protection’s Regulation E, which govern automatic deposits to and withdrawals from deposit
accounts and customers’ rights and liabilities arising from the use of ATMs, debit cards and certain other electronic banking services. We may assist our
Bank Partners with fulfilling its compliance obligations pursuant to these requirements. See “Part I, Item 1A. Risk Factors—Fees for financial services are
subject to increasingly intense legislative and regulatory scrutiny, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of
operations and prospects for future growth”, of this report. Failure to comply with applicable regulations could materially and adversely affect our business,
financial condition and results of operations.

Money Transmitter Regulations. Because our technology services are provided in connection with the financial products of our Bank Partners, our
activities are occasionally reviewed by regulatory agencies to ensure that we do not impermissibly engage in activities that require licensing at the state or federal
level. In the ordinary course of business, we receive letters and inquiries concerning the nature of our business as it applies to state “money transmitter”
licensing and regulations from different state regulatory agencies. If a state agency were to conclude that we are required to be licensed as a “money
transmitter,” we may need to undergo a costly licensing process in that state, and failure to comply could be a violation of state and potentially federal law.

Privacy and Data Regulation

We are subject to laws and regulations relating to the collection, use, retention, security and transfer of personally identifiable information and data
regarding our customers and their financial information. In addition, we are bound by our own privacy policies and practices concerning the collection, use
and disclosure of user data, which are posted on certain of our website pages.

In conjunction with the disbursement, payroll and tuition payment services we make available through our Bank Partners, it is necessary to collect
certain information from our customers (such as bank account and routing numbers) to transmit to our Bank Partners. Our Bank Partners use this
information to execute the funds transfers requested by our customers, which are effected primarily by means of ACH networks and other wire transfer
systems, such as FedWire. To the extent the data required by these electronic funds networks change, the information that we will be required to request from
our clients may also change.

We are subject, either directly or by virtue of our contractual relationship with our Bank Partners, to the privacy and security standards of the GLBA
privacy regulations, as well as certain state data protection laws and regulations. The GLBA privacy regulations require that we develop, implement and
maintain a written comprehensive information security program prescribing safeguards that are appropriate to our size and complexity, the nature and scope of
our activities and the sensitivity of any personally identifiable information we access for processing purposes or otherwise maintain. As a service provider of
our Bank Partners, we also are limited in our use and disclosure of the personal information we receive from our Bank Partners, which we may use and
disclose only for the purposes for which it was provided to us and consistent with the bank’s own data privacy and security obligations. We also are subject
to the standards set forth in guidance on data security issued by the Federal Financial Institution Examination Council, as well as the data security standards
imposed by the card associations, including Visa, Inc., and MasterCard. In addition, we are subject to similar data security breach laws enacted by a number
of states.

Any failure or perceived failure by us to comply with any legal or regulatory requirements or orders or other federal or state privacy or consumer
protection-related laws and regulations, or with our own privacy policies, could result in fines, sanctions, litigation, negative publicity, limitation of our ability
to conduct our business and injury to our reputation, any of which could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of
operations.

New legislation and regulations in this area have been proposed, both at the federal and state level. Such measures, including pending Federal
legislation, would potentially impose additional obligations on us, including requiring that we provide notifications to consumers and government authorities
in the event of a data breach or unauthorized access or disclosure, beyond what state law already requires. These laws and regulations could cause us to incur
substantial costs or require us to change our business practices in a manner materially adverse to our business.

Compliance

We monitor our compliance through an internal audit program. Our full-time internal auditor works with a third-party internal audit firm to conduct
annual reviews to ensure compliance with the regulatory requirements described above. The costs of these audits and the costs of complying with the
applicable regulatory requirements are significant. Increased regulatory requirements on our products and services, such as in connection with the matters
described above, could materially increase our costs or reduce revenue.

It is impossible to determine the extent of the impact of any new laws, regulations or initiatives that may be proposed, or whether any of the proposals
will become law. The imposition of any new laws or regulations could make compliance more difficult and expensive and affect the manner in which we
conduct business. In addition, many of these laws and regulations are evolving, unclear and inconsistent across various jurisdictions. If we were deemed to be
in violation of any laws or regulations that are currently in place or that may be promulgated in the future, including but not limited to those described above,
we could be exposed to financial liability and adverse publicity or forced to change our business practices or stop offering some of our products and services.
We also could face significant legal fees, delays in extending our product and services offerings, and damage to our reputation that could harm our business
and reduce demand for our products and services. Even if we are not required to change our business practices, we could be required to obtain licenses or
regulatory approvals that could cause us to incur substantial costs and delays.
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The convenience fees that we charge in connection with payment transactions are subject to change.

Most credit and debit card associations and networks permit us to charge convenience fees to students, parents or other payers who make online
payments to our higher education institution clients through the SmartPay feature of our ePayment product using a credit or debit card. In 2011, 2010 and
2009, these convenience fees accounted for substantially all of our payment transaction revenue, which is a trend we expect to continue going forward. While
the majority of credit and debit card associations and networks routinely permit merchants and other third parties to charge these fees, it is not a ubiquitous
practice in the payment industry. If these credit and debit card associations and networks change their policies in permitting merchants and other third-parties
to charge these fees or otherwise restrict our ability to do so, our business, financial condition and results of operations could be materially and adversely
affected.

There are risks associated with charging convenience fees.

Through our SmartPay service, which we acquired in connection with our acquisition of IDC in 2009, some of our higher education institution clients
charge convenience fees to students, parents or other payers who make online payments using a credit or debit card. In light of the ongoing legislative efforts at
financial regulatory reform, we examined the laws and regulations related to convenience fees. We found that these laws and regulations vary from state to state
and certain states, including California, Florida, Massachusetts, New York and Texas, have laws that to varying degrees prohibit the imposition of a
surcharge on a credit or debit cardholder who elects to use a credit or debit card in lieu of payment by cash, check or other means. The penalties for violating
these laws vary from state to state and include, in certain circumstances, fines that could be significant.

We are not aware of any enforcement or civil action against a higher education institution or a third party service provider for charging convenience fees.
We have nevertheless worked with our higher education institution clients to ensure that we can continue to provide the services they demand, while ensuring
we are in compliance with these laws and regulations prospectively. The affected revenues to us are not significant. However, if one or more states or other
parties initiate an action against us, we could be subject to a claim for significant fines or damages. Moreover, the institution of any such action could disrupt
our operations or result in negative publicity, which could diminish our ability to attract new and retain existing clients, and could materially and adversely
affect our prospects, business, financial condition and results of operations.

Our business depends on the current government financial aid regime that relies on the outsourcing of financial aid disbursements through
higher education institutions.

In general, the U.S. federal government distributes financial aid to students through higher education institutions as intermediaries. Our OneDisburse
service provides our higher education institution clients an electronic system for improving the administrative efficiency of this refund disbursement process.
If the government, through legislation or regulatory action, restructures the existing financial aid regime in such a way that reduces or eliminates the
intermediary role played by financial institutions serving higher education institutions or limits or regulates the role played by service providers such as us,
our business, results of operations and prospects for future growth could be materially and adversely affected.

A change in the availability of financial aid, as well as U.S. budget constraints, could materially and adversely affect our financial performance by
reducing demand for our services.

The higher education industry depends heavily upon the ability of students to obtain financial aid. As part of our contracts with our higher education
institution clients that use OneDisburse, students’ financial aid and other refunds are sent to us for disbursement. The fees that we charge most of our
OneDisburse higher education institution clients are based on the number of financial aid disbursements that we make to students. In addition, our
relationships with OneDisburse higher education institution clients provide us with a market for OneAccounts, from which we derive a significant proportion
of our revenues. Consequently, a change in the availability of financial aid that restricted client use of our OneDisburse product or otherwise limited our ability
to attract new higher education institution clients could materially and adversely affect our financial performance. Future legislative and executive branch
efforts to reduce the U.S. federal budget deficit or worsening economic conditions may require the government to severely curtail its financial aid spending,
which could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Termination of, or changes to, the MasterCard association registration could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition and
results of operations.

We and our Bank Partners, which issue our OneCards, are subject to MasterCard association rules that could subject us to a variety of fines or
penalties that may be levied by MasterCard for acts or omissions by us or businesses that work with us. The termination of the card association registration
held by us or our Bank Partners or any changes in card association or other network rules or standards, including interpretation and implementation of
existing rules or standards, that increase the cost of doing business or limit our ability to provide our products and services could materially and adversely
affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.
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Intellectual property infringement claims against us could be costly and time-consuming to defend and if we are unsuccessful in our defense
could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Third parties may assert, including by means of counter-claims against us as a result of the assertion of our intellectual property rights, that our
products, services or technology, or the operation of our business, violate their intellectual property rights. As the number of competitors in our industry
increases and the functionality of technology offerings further overlap, such claims and counter-claims could become more common. We cannot be certain that
we do not or will not infringe third parties’ intellectual property rights.

Any intellectual property claim against us, regardless of its merit, could result in significant liabilities to our business. Depending on the nature of such
claim, our business may be disrupted, our management’s attention and other company resources may be diverted and we may be required to redesign our
products and services or to enter into royalty or licensing agreements in order to obtain the rights to use necessary technologies, which may not be available on
terms acceptable to us, if at all. If we cannot redesign our products and services or license necessary technologies, we may be subject to the risk of injunctive
relief and/or significant damage awards, which are complex, subjective and hard to predict, and subsequently we may not be able to offer or sell a particular
product or service, or a family of products or services.

Any intellectual property claim against us could be expensive and time consuming to defend. Insurance may not cover or be insufficient for such claim,
or may not be available on terms acceptable to us. A claim brought against us that is uninsured or underinsured could result in unanticipated costs, thereby
having a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. Even if we have an indemnification arrangement with a third
party to indemnify us against an intellectual property claim, such indemnifying party may be unable or fail to uphold its contractual obligations to us. If any
infringement or other intellectual property claim that is brought against us is successful, our business, operating results and financial condition could be
materially and adversely affected.

General economic conditions may adversely affect our ability to raise capital in the future.

We may need or seek additional financing in the future to refinance our existing credit facility, fund our operations, fund acquisitions, develop
additional products and services or implement other projects. As of December 31, 2011, Higher One, Inc. had no borrowings outstanding under its senior
secured revolving credit facility. Given the state of the current credit environment resulting from, among other things, the general weakening of the global
economy, it may be difficult to refinance our credit facility or obtain any additional financing on acceptable terms, which could have an adverse effect on our
business, financial condition and results of operations. In addition, if, as a result of the current conditions in the credit markets, the lenders under our current
credit agreement or any other lender under any future credit agreement is unable to fund borrowings under that agreement, our liquidity could be adversely
affected.

The terms of our credit agreement may restrict our current and future operations, which would adversely affect our ability to respond to changes
in our business and to manage our operations.

Our credit agreement contains, and any future indebtedness of ours would likely contain, a number of restrictive covenants that impose significant
operating and financial restrictions on us, including restrictions on our ability to, among other things:

 • create liens;
 • make investments and acquisitions;
 • incur additional debt;
 • transfer all or substantially all of our assets or enter into merger or consolidation transactions;
 • dispose of assets;
 • pay dividends or make any other distributions with respect to our stock;
 • issue stock, warrants, options or other rights to purchase stock or securities convertible into or exchangeable for shares of stock;
 • engage in any material line of business substantially different from the lines of business we currently conduct or any business substantially

related or incidental thereto; and
 • enter into transactions with affiliates.

Our ability to comply with these covenants may be affected by events beyond our control, and any material deviations from our forecasts could require
us to seek waivers or amendments of covenants or alternative sources of funding. We cannot assure you that such waivers, amendments or alternative sources
of funding could be obtained, or if obtained, would be on terms acceptable to us.

Our credit agreement also requires us to maintain certain liquidity levels and satisfy certain financial ratios, including a maximum total leverage ratio
and a minimum interest coverage ratio. A failure by us to comply with the covenants contained in our credit agreement could result in an event of default which
could adversely affect our ability to respond to changes in our business and manage our operations. An event of default would also occur under our credit
agreement if we undergo a change of control or if we experience a material adverse change in our operations, condition or prospects. In the event of any default
under our credit agreement, the lender could elect to declare all amounts outstanding to be due and payable and require us to apply all of our available cash to
repay these amounts. The acceleration of indebtedness under our credit agreement could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and
results of operations.
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We outsource critical operations, which exposes us to risks related to our third-party vendors.

We have entered into contracts with third-party vendors to provide critical services, technology and software in our operations. These outsourcing
partners include: Fiserv, which provides back-end account and transaction data processing for OneAccounts and OneCards; MasterCard, which provides the
payment network for our OneCards, as well as for certain other transactions; Comerica and Global Payments, which provide transaction processing and
banking services for payment processing related to the SmartPay feature of our ePayment service; and Terremark and Neospire, which provide web and
application hosting services in secure data centers.

In the event that these service providers fail to maintain adequate levels of support, do not provide high quality service, discontinue their lines of
business, terminate our contractual arrangements or cease or reduce operations, we may be required to pursue new third-party relationships, which could
materially disrupt our operations and our ability to provide our products and services, and could divert management’s time and resources. Replacement
technology or services provided by replacement third-party vendors could be more expensive than those we have currently, while the process of transitioning
services and data from one provider to another can be complicated and time consuming. If we are unable to complete a transition to a new provider on a timely
basis, or at all, we could be forced to temporarily or permanently discontinue certain services, which could disrupt services to our customers and materially
and adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. We may also be unable to establish comparable new third-party relationships
on as favorable terms or at all, which could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Breaches of security measures, unauthorized access to or disclosure of data relating to our clients, fraudulent activity, and infrastructure failures
could materially and adversely affect our reputation or harm our business.

Our higher education institution clients and student OneAccount holders disclose to us certain “personally identifiable” information, including student
contact information, identification numbers and the amount of credit balances, which they expect we will maintain in confidence. It is possible that hackers,
customers or employees acting unlawfully or contrary to our policies, or other individuals, could improperly access our or our vendors’ systems and obtain or
disclose data about our customers. Further, because customer data may also be collected, stored, or processed by third party vendors, it is possible that these
vendors could intentionally, negligently or otherwise disclose data about our clients or customers.

We rely to a large extent upon sophisticated information technology systems, databases, and infrastructure, and take reasonable steps to protect them.
However, due to their size, complexity, content and integration with or reliance on third party systems they are potentially vulnerable to breakdown, malicious
intrusion, natural disaster and random attack, all of which pose a risk that sensitive data may be exposed to unauthorized persons or to the public.

A cybersecurity breach of our information systems could lead to fraudulent activity, including with respect to our OneCards, such as identity theft,
losses on the part of our banking customers, additional security costs, negative publicity and damage to our reputation and brand. In addition, our customers
could be subject to scams that may result in the release of sufficient information concerning themselves or their accounts to allow others unauthorized access to
their accounts or our systems (e.g., “phishing” and “smishing”). Claims for compensatory or other damages may be brought against us as a result of a breach
of our systems or fraudulent activity. If we are unsuccessful in defending against any resulting claims against us, we may be forced to pay damages, which
could materially and adversely affect our financial condition and results of operations.

In addition, a significant incident of fraud or an increase in fraud levels generally involving our products, such as our OneCards, could result in
reputational damage to us, which could reduce the use of our products and services. Such incidents of fraud could also lead to regulatory intervention, which
could increase our compliance costs. Compliance with the various complex laws and regulations is costly and time consuming, and failure to comply could
have a material adverse effect on our business. Additionally, increased regulatory requirements on our services may increase our costs, which could materially
and adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. Accordingly, account data breaches and related fraudulent activity could have
a material adverse effect on our future growth prospects, business, financial condition and results of operations.

A disruption to our systems or infrastructure could damage our reputation, expose us to legal liability, cause us to lose customers and revenue, result in
the unintentional disclosure of confidential information or require us to expend significant efforts and resources or incur significant expense to eliminate these
problems and address related data and security concerns. The harm to our business could be even greater if such an event occurs during a period of
disproportionately heavy demand for our products or services or traffic on our systems or networks.

Providing disbursement services to higher education institutions is an emerging and uncertain business; if the market for our products does not
continue to develop, we will not be able to grow this portion of our business.

Our success will depend, in part, on our ability to generate revenues by providing financial transaction services to higher education institutions and
their students. The market for these services has only recently developed and the long-term viability and profitability of this market is unproven. Our business
will be materially and adversely affected if we do not develop and market products and services that achieve and maintain market acceptance. Outsourcing
disbursement services may not become as widespread in the higher education industry as we anticipate, and our products and services may not achieve
continued commercial success. In addition, higher education institution clients could discontinue using our services and return to in-house disbursement and
payment solutions. If outsourcing disbursement services do not become widespread or if higher education institution clients return to their prior methods of
disbursement, our growth prospects, business, financial condition and results of operations could be materially and adversely affected.
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Our business depends on a strong brand and a failure to maintain and develop our brand in a cost-effective manner may hurt our ability to
expand our customer base.

Maintaining and developing the “Higher One ®,” “OneDisburse®” and “CASHNet®” brands is critical to expanding and maintaining our base of higher
education institution clients and student OneAccount holders. We believe the importance of brand recognition will increase as competition in our market further
intensifies. Maintaining and developing our brands will depend largely on our ability to continue to provide high-quality products and services at cost effective
and competitive prices, as well as after-sale customer service. While we intend to continue investing in our brands, we cannot predict the success of these
investments. If we fail to maintain and enhance our brands, if we incur excessive expenses in this effort or if our reputation is otherwise tainted, including by
association with the wider financial services industry, we may be unable to maintain loyalty among our existing customers or attract new customers, which
could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Our ability to generate revenue could suffer if we do not continue to update and improve our existing products and services and develop new ones.

The industry for electronic financial transactions, including disbursement services, is generally subject to rapid and significant technological changes,
including continuing developments of technologies in the areas of smart cards, radio frequency and proximity payment devices (such as contactless cards),
electronic commerce and mobile commerce, among others. While we cannot predict how these technological changes will affect our business, we believe that
disbursement services to the higher education industry will be subject to a similar degree of technological change and that new services and technologies for the
industry will emerge in the medium-term. As a result, these new services and technologies may be superior to, or render obsolete, the technologies we currently
use in our products and services. In addition, the products and services we develop may not be able to compete with the alternatives available to our customers.
Our future success will depend, in part, on our ability to adapt to technological changes and evolving industry standards.

We make substantial investments in improving our products and services, but we have no assurance that our investments will be successful. Our
growth prospects, business, financial condition and results of operations will be materially and adversely affected if we do not develop products and services
that achieve broad market acceptance with our current and potential customers.

Our business will suffer if we fail to successfully integrate acquired businesses and technologies or to appropriately assess the risks in particular
transactions.
 

We have in the past acquired, and may in the future acquire, businesses, technologies, services, product lines and other assets. The successful
integration of any business, technology, service, product line or other asset that we acquire in the future, on a cost-effective basis, may be critical to our future
performance. If we do not successfully integrate a strategic acquisition, or if the benefits of the transaction do not meet the expectations of financial or industry
analysts, the market price of our common stock may decline. The amount and timing of the expected benefits of any acquisition, including potential synergies
between our current business and the acquired business, are subject to significant risks and uncertainties.
 

As a result of these risks, we may not be able to achieve the expected benefits of any acquisition. If we are unsuccessful in completing an acquisition
that we may pursue in the future, we would be required to reevaluate our growth strategy. Even if we successfully integrate other assets or businesses we may
acquire, we may incur substantial expenses and devote significant management time and resources in seeking to complete and integrate the acquisition, the
acquired businesses may not perform as we expect or enhance the value of our business as a whole.

We may be liable to our customers or lose customers if we provide poor service or if our systems or products experience failures.

Because of the large amount of data we collect and manage, hardware failures and errors in our systems could result in data loss or corruption or cause
the information that we collect to be incomplete or contain significant inaccuracies. For example, errors in our processing systems could delay disbursements
or cause disbursements to be made in the wrong amounts or to the wrong person. Our systems may also experience service interruptions as a result of
undetected errors or defects in our software, fire, natural disasters, power loss, disruptions in long distance or local telecommunications access, fraud,
terrorism, accident or other similar reason, in which case we may experience delays in returning to full service, especially with regard to our data centers and
customer service call centers. If problems such as these occur, our customers may seek compensation, withhold payments, seek full or partial refunds,
terminate their agreements with us or initiate litigation or other dispute resolution procedures. In addition, we may be subject to claims made by third parties
also affected by any of these problems.
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Our ability to limit our liabilities by contract or through insurance may be ineffective or insufficient to cover our future liabilities.

We attempt to limit, by contract, our liability for damages arising from our negligence, errors, mistakes or security breaches. Contractual limitations on
liability, however, may not be enforceable or may otherwise not provide sufficient protection to us from liability for damages. For example, as we may be
deemed by the Department of Education to be a third-party servicer to our higher education institution clients, we are required to agree to be held jointly and
severally liable with our clients for violations of the federal regulations that govern the disbursement of financial aid refunds. Additionally, some of our public
higher education institutions clients are prohibited by state law from contractually indemnifying us for liability resulting from such violations. We maintain
liability insurance coverage, including coverage for errors and omissions. It is possible, however, that claims could exceed the amount of our applicable
insurance coverage, if any, or that this coverage may not continue to be available on acceptable terms or in sufficient amounts. Even if these claims do not
result in liability to us, investigating and defending against them could be expensive and time consuming and could divert management’s attention away from
our operations. In addition, negative publicity caused by these events may delay market acceptance of our products and services, any of which could
materially and adversely affect our reputation and our business.

 
If we are unable to protect or enforce our intellectual property rights, we may lose a competitive advantage and incur significant expenses.

Our business depends on certain registered and unregistered intellectual property rights and proprietary information. We rely on a combination of
patent, copyright, trademark and trade secret laws, as well as nondisclosure agreements and technical measures (such as the password protection and
encryption of our data and systems) to protect our technology and intellectual property rights, including our proprietary software. Existing laws afford only
limited protection for our intellectual property rights. Intellectual property rights or registrations granted to us may provide an inadequate competitive advantage
to us or be too narrow to protect our products and services. Similarly, there is no guarantee that our pending applications for intellectual property protection
will result in registrations or issued patents or sufficiently protect our rights. The protections outlined above may not be sufficient to prevent unauthorized use,
misappropriation or disclosure of our intellectual property or technology and may not prevent our competitors from copying, infringing, or misappropriating
our products and services. We cannot be certain that others will not independently develop, design around or otherwise acquire equivalent or superior
technology or intellectual property rights. If we are unable to adequately protect our intellectual property rights, our business and growth prospects could be
materially and adversely affected.

One or more of our issued patents or pending patent applications may be categorized as so-called “business method” patents. The general validity of
software patents and business method patents has been challenged in a number of jurisdictions, including the United States. On June 28, 2010, the United
States Supreme Court determined that a certain “business method” amounting to abstract ideas was not patentable. Although the Court’s decision provides
little guidance on patentability of our business methods, our patents could become less valuable or unenforceable if additional requirements are imposed that
our patents do not meet.

From time to time, we seek to enforce our intellectual property rights against third parties, such as through our current litigation against TouchNet
Information Systems, Inc. See “Part I, Item 3. Legal Proceedings” of this report. The fact that we have intellectual property rights, including registered
intellectual property, may not guarantee success in our attempts to enforce these rights against third parties. Our ability and potential success in enforcing our
rights is also subject to general litigation risks, as well as uncertainty as to the enforceability of our intellectual property rights. When we seek to enforce our
rights, we may be subject to claims that our intellectual property rights are invalid, otherwise unenforceable, or are licensed to the party against whom we are
asserting the claim. In addition, our assertions of intellectual property rights may result in the other party seeking to assert various claims against us,
including its own alleged intellectual property rights, claims of unfair competition, or other claims. Furthermore, enforcing our intellectual property and other
proprietary rights can be expensive. Any increase in the unauthorized use of our intellectual property could make it more expensive or less profitable to do
business and consequently have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

As a holding company, our main source of cash is distributions from our operating subsidiaries.

We conduct all of our operations through our subsidiaries. Accordingly, our main cash source is dividends and other distributions from these
subsidiaries. The ability of each subsidiary to make distributions depends on the funds that a subsidiary has from its operations in excess of the funds
necessary for its operations, obligations or other business plans. If our operating subsidiaries are unable to make distributions, we may not be able to
implement our growth strategy, unless we are able to obtain additional debt or equity financing. In the event of a subsidiary’s liquidation, there may not be
assets sufficient for us to recoup our investment in the subsidiary.
 
Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments

None.

Item 2. Properties

On December 30, 2011, we moved into our new corporate headquarters located at 115 Munson Street, New Haven, Connecticut. We constructed our
headquarters on land that we lease at a nominal cost pursuant to a 90 year lease with a right to purchase at the end of year seven.  The lease for our previous
headquarters in New Haven expired on January 13, 2012. We have operations in Oakland, California, where we lease general office space pursuant to a lease
agreement which is currently due to expire on January 31, 2016, and in Atlanta, Georgia, where we lease general office space and a data center pursuant to a
lease agreement which is currently due to expire on October 31, 2022.

We believe that these properties are suitable and adequate for our current use and also provide us with sufficient space to grow to meet additional
business needs.
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Item 3. Legal Proceedings

We, and our subsidiaries, are involved in legal proceedings concerning matters arising in the ordinary course of our business, including the matters
described below. Although the outcome of such proceedings, including the matters described below, cannot be predicted with certainty, management does not
believe that the ultimate resolution of these matters will have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition or results of operations.

In February 2009 and September 2010, Higher One, Inc. filed two separate complaints against TouchNet Information Systems, Inc., or TouchNet, in
the United States District Court for the District of Connecticut alleging patent infringement related to TouchNet’s offering for sale and sales of its “eRefund”
product in violation of two of our patents. In the complaints, we sought judgments that TouchNet has infringed two of our patents, a judgment that TouchNet
pay damages and interest on damages to compensate us for infringement, an award of our costs in connection with these actions and an injunction barring
TouchNet from further infringing our patents. TouchNet answered the complaint and asserted a number of defenses and counterclaims, including that it does
not infringe our patent, that our patent is invalid or unenforceable and certain allegations of unfair competition and state and federal antitrust violations. In
addition, TouchNet’s counterclaims sought dismissal of our claims with prejudice, declaratory judgment that TouchNet does not infringe our patent and that
our patent is invalid or unenforceable, as well as an award of fees and costs related to the action, and an injunction permanently enjoining us from suing
TouchNet regarding infringement of our patent. The parties are currently in the discovery stage of the proceeding. We intend to pursue the matter vigorously.
There can be no assurances of our success in these proceedings.

On June 22, 2010, Higher One, Inc., or HOI, provided notice and a certificate of claim for indemnity under the Stock Purchase Agreement by and
among HOI and the former stockholders of Informed Decisions Corporation, or IDC, dated November 19, 2009, arising from certain misrepresentations and
breaches of warranty. At the same time, we deposited $8.25 million, equal to the remaining balance of the post-closing payments, with an escrow agent. 
Separately, the former stockholders of IDC filed a complaint against HOI in the United States District Court for the Northern District of California, or the
Complaint, on July 20, 2010, disputing that misrepresentations were made and that warranties were breached; alleging breach of contract and anticipatory
breach; and seeking a declaratory judgment ordering that the post-closing payments be made in accordance with the schedule set forth in the Stock Purchase
Agreement. 

On April 25, 2011, HOI and the former stockholders of IDC agreed to a settlement, the material terms of which are as follows: (a) $2 million of the
amount held in escrow, plus pro-rated interest, was to be paid to HOI; (b) $6.25 million of the amount held in escrow, plus pro-rated interest, was to be paid
to the former stockholders; and (c) HOI and the former stockholders generally and mutually released each other from all past and future claims, known and
unknown, arising out of the stock purchase agreement and related transition services agreements between HOI and each of the former stockholders, relating to
the operation or sale of IDC, including all indemnification and payment obligations, with the exception of certain rights, obligations and claims.  The amount
held in escrow was distributed to HOI and the former stockholders of IDC in accordance with the terms of the settlement agreement in May 2011.

We recorded the impact of the settlement agreement in the quarter ending June 30, 2011.  The $2 million returned from escrow to us was recorded as
other income of $1.5 million, reflecting a payment made under the indemnification provisions of the stock purchase agreement and a reduction of general and
administrative expenses of $0.5 million, reflecting the recovery of certain legal costs incurred for the litigation.

In February 2011, the New York Regional Office of the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation, or FDIC, notified us that it was prepared to recommend
to the Director of FDIC Supervision that an enforcement action be taken against us for alleged violations of certain applicable laws and regulations principally
relating to our compliance management system and policies and practices for past overdraft charging on persistently delinquent accounts, collections and
transaction error resolution. We have responded to the FDIC’s notification, been in regular dialogue with the FDIC since 2010 and voluntarily amended certain
practices. We voluntarily initiated a plan in December 2011, which provided credits to certain current and former customers that were previously assessed
certain insufficient fund fees.  As a result of this plan, we recorded a reduction in our revenue of approximately $4.7 million in 2011.  The insufficient funds
fees that are credited to customers under this plan were originally assessed beginning in 2008.  Of the total charge of $4.7 million, an accrual of approximately
$2.6 million has been established for amounts which have not yet been paid.  While we believe that our decision to voluntarily initiate the plan described
above reduces our risk, the process with the FDIC is ongoing and there continues to be various potential outcomes in order to resolve this matter.  For instance,
we could receive an enforcement action which could result in an order to pay civil money penalties and additional restitution.  We believe that the material loss
related to this matter has been recorded as of December 31, 2011.  While there is the potential for additional loss related to this matter in the future, we do not
consider such loss to be probable, nor is it reasonably estimable at this time. In accordance with applicable accounting guidance, we would establish a liability
for litigation and regulatory matters if and when those matters were to present loss contingencies that were both probable and reasonably estimable.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures
 
Not applicable.
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Executive Officers of the Registrant
 

The following table sets forth information about individuals who currently serve as our executive officers.
 
     
Name  Age  Title
Dean Hatton  51  President, Chief Executive Officer and Director
Mark Volchek  34  Chairman of the Board of Directors and Chief Financial Officer
Miles Lasater  34  Chief Operations Officer and Director
Casey McGuane  37  Chief Service Officer
Robert Reach  5 5  Chief Sales Officer
 

Set forth below is certain biographical information for each of these individuals.
 

Dean Hatton has been our chief executive officer, president and director since March 2002. From 2001 to 2002, Mr. Hatton was chief executive officer
and president of Yclip, Inc., a direct marketing promotion company that was sold to First Data Corporation. From 1999 to 2001, Mr. Hatton was executive
vice president and chief operations officer of Carlson Wagonlit Travel, a corporate travel and expense management company, and from 1997 to 1999, he was
senior vice president at Citigroup, where he was chief executive officer of Travelers Property Casualty Direct Response. Mr. Hatton holds a BA in Economics
from Franklin and Marshall College and a graduate degree in bank management from the Stonier Graduate School of Banking.  In January 2012, Dean Hatton
informed the board of directors of Higher One Holdings, Inc., that he intends to retire from his position as Chief Executive Officer and President.  In order to
help ensure a smooth transition, Mr. Hatton will continue to serve as Chief Executive Officer and President until the effective date of his retirement, which has
yet to be determined but will be on or before June 30, 2012.  Following his retirement, Mr. Hatton will continue to serve on the Board.
 

Mark Volchek is one of our founders and has been our chairman and chief financial officer since 2000 and 2002, respectively. From 2000 to 2002,
Mr. Volchek was our chief executive officer. Recently, Mr. Volchek was appointed by our Board to succeed Dean Hatton as Chief Executive Officer upon Mr.
Hatton’s retirement from that position. Mr. Volchek is also a director of innRoad, Inc. He is a founding officer of the Yale Entrepreneurial Society, a not-for-
profit organization that promotes entrepreneurship among Yale students, faculty and alumni and served on its board from 1999 to 2010. Since 2007,
Mr. Volchek has been the chairman of the board of the Tweed New Haven Airport Authority. Other past civic roles have included positions on the New Haven
Economic Development Commission and the Regional Growth Partnership strategic planning committee. Mr. Volchek holds a BA and an MA in economics
from Yale University.
 

Miles Lasater is one of our founders and has been our chief operations officer since 2000. Mr. Lasater will succeed Dean Hatton as president
upon Mr. Hatton’s retirement from that position. Mr. Lasater serves on the boards of Yale New Haven Hospital and SeeClickFix, a software-as-a-service
company that provides a platform for governments and citizens to interact. Mr. Lasater has been a board member of the New Haven Port Authority and a
member of Yale University’s Advisory Committee on Investor Responsibility. He has been a founding officer and board member of both the Yale
Entrepreneurial Society and the Yale Entrepreneurial Institute since 1999 and 2008, respectively. Both are organizations at Yale University that promote
entrepreneurship among Yale students, faculty and alumni. Mr. Lasater holds a BA in computer science from Yale University.
 

Casey McGuane has been our chief service officer since January 2009. From 2005 to 2008, Mr. McGuane was our senior vice president of client
operations and, from 2000 to 2005, he was our vice president of client operations. Prior to joining Higher One in 2000, Mr. McGuane was a business manager
for SPS, Inc., where he managed sales and operations in his region for commercial contracting projects. Since July 2009, Mr. McGuane has served as a
member of the board of the Connecticut Association of Human Services, a not-for-profit organization in Hartford, Connecticut. Mr. McGuane holds a BA in
psychology from the University of Rhode Island.
 
    Robert Reach has been our chief sales officer since 2009 and our vice president of sales from 2004 to 2009. From 1985 to 1990, Mr. Reach was the
branch manager and national sales manager in the Financial Services Group for CompuServe and, from 1990 to 1995, he was the national sales manager in
Lotus Development Corporations’ One Source division. He also served as the vice president of sales for Metatec Corporation from 1995 to 1997.
Additionally, from 2000 to 2001, Mr. Reach served as director of partner relations for HNC Software, an industry leader in credit card fraud prevention and
analytic software. Mr. Reach holds a BA in English from Franklin and Marshall College.
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PART II
 
Item  5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities
 

Our common stock is quoted on New York Stock Exchange, or NYSE, under the symbol “ONE.” Prior to June 17, 2010 our common stock was
privately held and did not trade on any exchange. The following table sets forth, for each of the periods indicated, the high and low reported sales price at close
of our common stock on the NYSE.
 
       
  High   Low  
Year ended December 31, 2011       
Fourth Quarter  $ 20.01  $ 16.25 
Third Quarter   21.08   14.28 
Second Quarter   18.92   13.71 
First Quarter   20.60   14.45 
         
Year ended December 31, 2010         
Fourth Quarter  $ 21.87  $ 15.54 
Third Quarter   16.49   11.30 
Second Quarter (Beginning June 17)   15.15   14.27 
First Quarter   —   — 
 

As of February 10, 2012, we had 32 stockholders of record of our common stock, excluding stockholders whose shares were held in nominee or street
name by brokers. The closing sale price of our common stock on February 10, 2012 was $15.29 per share.
 

We have not paid any cash dividends on our common stock during the years ended December 31, 2011 or 2010. The payment of future cash dividends
is within the discretion of our board of directors and will depend upon our future earnings, if any, our capital requirements, financial condition and other
relevant factors. See Note 12 “Capital Stock – Common Stock” of the notes to our consolidated financial statements provided elsewhere in this report for a
description of restrictions on our ability to pay dividends.
 

We have outstanding options and restricted shares as detailed in Note 13 “Stock-Based Compensation” of the notes to our consolidated financial
statements provided elsewhere in this report.  These options and restricted shares are not transferable for consideration and do not have dividend equivalent
rights attached.
 

Issuer Purchases of Common Stock

The following table includes information regarding purchases of shares of our common stock made by us during the fourth quarter ending December
31, 2011:
 
  (a)  (b)  (c)  (d)  
  Total number  Average  Total number of shares  Approximate dollar value of  
  of shares  price paid  purchased as part of publicly  shares that may yet be purchased  
Period  purchased (1)  per share  announced plans or programs (1)  under the plans or programs (2) (in

thousands)
 

          
Month #1          
(October 1 to October 31)  –  –  –  –  
Month #2          
(November 1 to November 31)  107,472  $16.83  107,472  $23,947  
Month #3          
(December 1 to December 31)  9,102  $16.95  9,102  $23,793  
 
(1) No shares were repurchased other than through our publicly-announced repurchase program.  Our share repurchase program was announced on August
23, 2011 and allows for the repurchase of up to $40 million of our issued and outstanding shares of common stock through September 7, 2012.
 
(2) As of December 31, 2011, approximately $23.8 million was available under our publicly announced share repurchase program.  The timing, price,
quantity, and manner of the purchases to be made are at the discretion of management upon instruction from our Board of Directors, depending upon market
conditions.  The repurchase of shares in any particular future period and the actual amount thereof remain at the discretion of our Board of Directors, and no
assurance can be given that shares will be repurchased in the future.
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Securities Authorized For Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans

 
The table below sets forth the following information as of the end of December 31, 2011 for (1) all compensation plans previously approved by our

stockholders and (2) all compensation plans not previously approved by our stockholders.

 
    Equity Compensation Plan Information

Plan Category  

Number of shares
of common stock

to be issued upon
exercise of

outstanding
options (2)

 Weighted-
average

exercise price
of

outstanding
options

 Weighted-
average
term to

expiration of
options

outstanding

 Number of shares
of common stock

remaining available
for future  issuance

under equity
compensation plans

Equity compensation plans approved by
stockholders (1)

 
6,190,466

 
$5.53

 
6.0 years

 
3,740,025

Equity compensation plans not approved by
stockholders

 
—

 
—

 
—

 
—

 
(1) Reflects number of shares of common stock to be issued upon exercise of outstanding options under all of our equity compensation plans, including

our 2000 Stock Option Plan and 2010 Equity Incentive Plan. No shares of common stock are available for future issuance under any of our equity
compensation plans, except the 2010 Equity Incentive Plan.

(2) Does not include 21,678 restricted shares outstanding that were issued under the 2000 Stock Option Plan.
 

Stockholder Return Performance Presentation
 

The following graph compares the change in the cumulative total stockholder return on our common stock during the period from June 17, 2010 (the
first day our stock began trading on the NYSE) through December 31, 2011, with the cumulative total return on the S&P 500 Index and the S&P 500
Financials Index. The comparison assumes that $100 was invested on June 17, 2010 in our common stock and in each of the foregoing indices and assumes
reinvestment of dividends, if any. 
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Item  6. Selected Financial Data
 

You should read the data set forth below in conjunction with “Item 7.–Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations,” our consolidated financial statements and related notes and other financial information included elsewhere in this report. We derived the selected
financial data as of December 31, 2010 and 2011 and for each of the three years ended December 31, 2009, 2010 and 2011 from our audited consolidated
financial statements and the related notes appearing elsewhere in this report. We derived the selected financial data as of and for the years ended December 31,
2007 and 2008 and as of December 31, 2009 from our audited financial statements and the related notes not included in this report.
 
Consolidated Statement of Income Data
  Year Ended December 31,  
  2007   2008   2009   2010   2011  
  (in thousands, except share and per share amounts)  
Revenue  $ 27,978  $ 44,006  $ 77,606  $ 144,969  $ 176,320 
Cost of revenue   11,140   16,302   26,529   51,845   67,560 
Gross margin   16,838   27,704   51,077   93,124   108,760 
Operating expenses   12,625   17,753   28,396   51,877   61,245 
Income from operations   4,213   9,951   22,681   41,247   47,515 
Other income (expense)   (569)   (26)   (537)   (700)   1,302 
Income before income taxes   3,644   9,925   22,144   40,547   48,817 
Income tax expense   1,362   3,547   7,925   15,488   16,924 
Net income   2,282   6,378   14,219   25,059   31,893 
Less: Effect of redemption of preferred stock   —   80,744   —   —   — 
Less: Net income allocable to participating securities   1,808   —   11,477   8,910   — 
Net income (loss) available and attributable to common
shareholders  $ 474  $ (74,366)  $ 2,742  $ 16,149  $ 31,893 
                     
Net income (loss) per common share:                     
    Basic  $ 0.04  $ (7.22)  $ 0.29  $ 0.48  $ 0.58 
    Diluted   0.04   (7.22)   0.27   0.44   0.54 
Weighted average common shares outstanding:                     
    Basic   10,957,833   10,306,392   9,298,131   33,395,310   55,210,972 
    Diluted   57,090,867   10,306,392   53,150,890   57,302,843   59,553,678 

 Consolidated Balance Sheet Data
  As of December 31,  
  (in thousands)  
  2007   2008   2009   2010   2011  
Cash and cash equivalents  $ 9,755  $ 1,488  $ 3,339  $ 34,484  $ 39,085 
Total assets   18,423   13,665   58,695   119,441   176,015 
Total debt and capital lease obligations, including current
maturities   1,172   18,934   27,647   8,250   9,801 
Total liabilities   22,675   25,402   51,589   36,050   52,429 
Total stockholders’ (deficit) equity   (4,252)   (11,737)   7,106   83,391   123,586 
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Item  7.                       Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
 

In addition to historical information, this report contains forward-looking statements (as defined in the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act
of 1995) that involve risks and uncertainties, which may cause our actual results to differ materially from plans and results discussed in forward-
looking statements. We encourage you to review the risks and uncertainties, discussed in the section entitled “Risk Factors,” in Part I, Item 1A of this
report, and the note regarding “Forward-Looking Statements,” included at the beginning of this report. Such risks and uncertainties can cause actual
results to differ significantly from those forecasted in forward-looking statements or implied in historical results and trends.
 

The following discussion should be read in conjunction with our consolidated financial statements and related notes appearing elsewhere in this report.
 

Overview
 

We believe that based on market share and the number of campuses employing our products, we are a leading provider of technology and payment
services to the higher education industry. We believe that none of our competitors match our ability to provide solutions for higher education institutions’
financial services needs, including compliance monitoring, and, consequently, that we provide the most comprehensive suite of disbursement and payment
solutions specifically designed for higher education institutions and their students. We also provide campus communities with convenient, cost-competitive
and student-oriented banking services, which include extensive user-friendly features.
 

Our products and services for our higher education institution clients include our OneDisburse Refund Management disbursement service and our suite
of payment transaction products and services. Through our current bank partner, The Bancorp Bank, we offer our OneAccount service to the students of our
higher education institution clients, which includes an FDIC-insured deposit account, a OneCard, which is a debit MasterCard ATM card, and other retail
banking services.
 

As of December 31, 2011, more than 500 campuses serving more than 4.0 million students had purchased the OneDisburse service and more than 350
campuses serving more than 2.5 million students had contracted to use one or more of our payment products and services. We also had approximately
2.0 million OneAccounts as of December 31, 2011.
 

For the year ended December 31, 2011:
 
 • total revenue was approximately $176.3 million, representing three-year compounded annual growth of approximately 59%;
 
 • net income was approximately $31.9 million, representing three-year compounded annual growth of approximately 71%;
 
 • adjusted EBITDA was approximately $74.0 million, representing three-year compounded annual growth of approximately 78%; and
 
 • adjusted net income was approximately $45.0 million, representing three-year compounded annual growth of approximately 80%.
 

See “Supplemental Non-GAAP Financial and Operating Information” below for definitions of EBITDA and adjusted EBITDA and adjusted net income
(each non-GAAP measures) and reconciliations to net income.
 

In addition, as of December 31, 2011, the number of OneAccounts had increased by a compounded annual growth rate of 53% compared to
December 31, 2008.
 

We expect our growth to continue in the future and that our strategy will continue to offer significant opportunity for expansion. Our growth strategy
includes the following elements:
 
 • Expanding the number of contracted higher education institutions;
 
 • Increasing OneAccount adoption and usage rates;
 
 • Cross-selling our products to existing clients to increase the number of institutions using each product;
 
 • Enhancing our products and services to create new sources of revenue; and
 
 • Pursuing strategic partnerships and opportunistic acquisitions.
 

In evaluating our results, we consider a variety of operating and financial measures. The key metrics that we use to determine how our business is
performing include: (i) total number of students enrolled at our higher education institution clients; (ii) number of active OneAccounts; (iii) total revenue;
(iv) adjusted EBITDA; (v) adjusted net income; and (vi) net income. See “Supplemental Non-GAAP Financial and Operating Information” below for
definitions of EBITDA and adjusted EBITDA and adjusted net income (each non-GAAP measures) and reconciliations to net income.
 

Our primary source of revenue is generated from the use of OneAccounts. The primary factor affecting our revenue is the number of active
OneAccounts, which, in turn, is significantly affected by the total number of students enrolled at our higher education institution clients.
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Revenue
 

We derive revenue primarily from fees charged for the transactions that we facilitate for our higher education institution clients and our banking
customers. Most of these fees are charged on a per transaction basis and, accordingly, transaction volumes significantly affect our revenue growth.
Transaction volumes are generally a function of the number of students enrolled at each of our higher education institution clients, as larger student
populations lead to a greater number of active OneAccounts and related banking transactions, as well as other transactions such as OneDisburse-based
disbursements and payment transactions.
 

Generally, we negotiate our fee rates with our higher education institution clients. Fees charged to our banking and payment transaction customers are
generally set by a schedule and apply unilaterally to all customers. Fees charged for OneAccount services are collected by our bank partner as incurred and
subsequently remitted to us. Fees charged on payment transactions are charged as incurred and retained by us, while fees charged in respect of our
OneDisburse product are billed to our higher education institution clients and subsequently collected from them.
 

We believe our revenue stream is relatively stable, recurring and predictable, as the majority of our revenue each year is generated through existing
relationships with higher education institutions and their campus communities. For example, in 2011, including revenue generated by customers acquired
through our acquisition of IDC in November 2009, we generated over 90% of our revenue from contracts signed in prior years. In addition, our experience is
that OneAccount, disbursement and payment transaction volumes and patterns are generally similar from one period to another, resulting in a large degree of
predictability. However changes in enrollment at our higher education institution clients can have an impact on our revenues and profitability and impact the
predictability of our results.
 

Our retention rate of all higher education institution clients has been in excess of 98% each of the past 3 years which also helps to ensure a relatively
stable, recurring and predictable revenue stream.
 

We divide our revenue into four categories: account revenue, payment transaction revenue, higher education institution revenue and other revenue. Also,
during 2011, we initiated a plan which provided credits to certain current and former customers that were previously assessed certain non-sufficient fund fees
and which resulted in a reduction to revenues in the year.
 

Account Revenue
 

We generate revenue from active OneAccounts, which are opened and funded by students and other members of the campus community. We earn
revenue based on both interchange fees and account service fees. Account service fees include, for example, foreign ATM fees and non-sufficient fund fees.
These fees are either charged by our bank partner and remitted to us or we charge them to our customers directly. In both December 2010 and August 2011, we
began offering new versions of the OneAccount each of which has a different fee schedule compared to the original OneAccount, including a monthly fee that
is waived if certain activity requirements are met.
 

Our bank partner charges merchants interchange fees for point-of-sale, or POS, purchases made with OneCards and remits these fees to us. The
amount of the fee generally depends on the size of the transaction, the merchant where the purchase is made and the network through which the transaction is
processed.
 

We earn ATM fees from transactions conducted through our ATMs with cards other than OneCards. We also earn fees from ATM transactions
conducted by OneAccount holders using their OneCards at ATMs outside of our ATM network.
 

We earn other fees for banking services provided to OneAccount holders, including fees for conducting wire transfers, replacing lost OneCards,
processing international transactions, processing stop payment requests, over-the-counter cash withdrawals using OneCards, issuing official checks and
electronic bill pay features.
 

Our bank partner charges non-sufficient funds fees and remits them to us when OneAccount holders attempt to withdraw or transfer money from their
OneAccounts in excess of their deposited funds. These non-sufficient funds fees are primarily assessed on electronic transfers from, and checks drawn on,
accounts in excess of available funds. Prior to the third quarter of 2010, our bank partner also assessed these fees on overdrafts on debit card transactions.
However, the Federal Reserve Board amended Regulation E to limit the ability of financial institutions, effective July 1, 2010, to assess an overdraft fee for
paying ATM and one-time debit card transactions that overdraw a consumer’s account, unless the consumer affirmatively consents, or opts in, to the
institution’s payment of overdrafts for these services. We have not offered the opt in feature to our customers for ATM or one-time debit card transactions. In
the absence of debit card-related non-sufficient funds fees, our total non-sufficient funds fees per OneAccount that our bank partner remits to us began to
decrease during 2010 and continued to decrease on a comparative basis through 2011.
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While our historical experience has been that account revenue generated per OneAccount has been generally stable year over year, with total account

revenue generally increasing proportionally with increases in the number of OneAccounts, the implementation of Regulation E in the third quarter of 2010
along with other changes that we made to our account fee schedule in 2010, decreased the revenue per OneAccount in 2010 compared to the same period in
2009. This trend continued through the remainder of 2010 and through 2011.  Notwithstanding the decrease in non-sufficient fund fees, the primary influence
on account revenue growth is expected to continue to be the number of active OneAccounts and the amount of refunds disbursed by our higher education
institution clients.  During the fourth quarter of 2011, for instance, account revenue on a per account basis was lower than the fourth quarter of 2010, which
we believe was the result of a smaller percentage of OneAccount holders receiving financial aid refunds in this disbursement cycle.  We believe that the main
driver of the reduction in number of students receiving refunds during this time period is a slowdown in enrollment growth. Growth in the number of accounts
is tied to growth in the number of students enrolled at our OneDisburse higher education institution clients, which expands as new clients contract to use this
product. The average percentage of students that maintain OneAccounts at a higher education institution generally increases over the first several years after the
higher education institution becomes a OneDisburse client. We believe the rate of OneAccount adoption varies, however, based on a number of factors
including, but not limited to, the average tenure of a student at a higher education institution, whether the higher education institution is a 2-year or a 4-year
school or a public or private school and the mix of undergraduate and graduate students.
 

The number of OneAccounts has risen in each of the last three years, which has led to a compounded annual growth rate of 56% in account revenue
over this period. While we expect the number of OneAccounts to continue to grow in the near-term, there is a possibility that further legislative and regulatory
changes will be enacted in the near-term that may reduce account revenue. See “Part I, Item 1A. Risk Factors—Fees for financial services are subject to
increasingly intense legislative and regulatory scrutiny, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations
and prospects for future growth” of this report.
 

Payment Transaction Revenue
 

We generate payment transaction revenue through convenience fees charged to students, parents or other payers who make online payments to our
higher education institution clients through the SmartPay feature of our ePayment product using a credit or debit card. As this fee is assessed on a per
transaction basis, growth in payment transaction revenue is primarily influenced by transaction volumes. We acquired our ePayment product when we
purchased IDC in November 2009.
 

Higher Education Institution Revenue
 

Our higher education institution clients pay fees for the products and services they purchase from us. We charge our clients: (i) an annual subscription
fee based on the size of their student population; (ii) a per-transaction fee; or (iii) a combination of both. For certain payment transaction products, we also
charge an implementation fee, which is deferred and recognized over the estimated client relationship period, which we currently estimate to be five years.  The
composition of our higher education institution revenue changed substantially with our acquisition of IDC in November 2009, with a large proportion of this
revenue stream now being derived from our payment products-related revenue.  Prior to the acquisition of IDC, our revenue from higher education institutions
had been primarily comprised of carding and transaction fees related to our OneDisburse product.
 

The number of students enrolled at client institutions and the number of campuses under contract are significant drivers of our higher education
institution revenue. As we have expanded the number of our institution clients over the last three years, our higher education institution revenue has grown by a
compounded annual rate of 73%. We expect that future increases in our institution client base will also result in increases in our higher education institution
revenue.
 

Other Revenue
 

Other revenue consists of two main components: a marketing incentive fee paid by MasterCard based on transaction volumes and new OneCard
issuances, and processing fees paid by our bank partner based on the total amount of deposits held in our OneAccounts and prevailing interest rates. Because
the amount of the processing fee is in part a function of prevailing interest rates, this revenue stream has historically fluctuated in accordance with interest rate
movements. Since 2008, fees paid by our bank partner have been relatively small due to low interest rates. If prevailing interest rates rise, our processing fee
will also increase. Currently, this revenue stream is immaterial to our overall results of operations.
 

Customer Credit Plan
 

In December 2011, we voluntarily initiated a plan which provided credits to certain current and former customers that were previously assessed certain
insufficient fund fees.  As a result of this plan, we recorded a reduction in our revenue of approximately $4.7 million in 2011.  The insufficient funds fees that
are credited to customers under this plan were originally assessed beginning in 2008.
 

Cost and Expenses
 

Employee compensation and related expenses represent our largest single expense. We allocate compensation and other related expenses, including stock-
based compensation, to cost of revenue, product development, sales and marketing and general and administrative expenses. While we expect the number of
our employees to increase over time, we believe that economies of scale in our business model will allow us to grow our compensation and related expenses at a
lower rate than revenue.
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Other costs and expenses include outsourced managed hosting, data processing, ATM-related expenses, professional services, office lease payments,

travel and amortization.
 

The following summarizes our cost of revenue and certain significant operating expenses:
 

Cost of Revenue
 

Cost of revenue consists primarily of data processing expenses, interchange expenses related to SmartPay and ATM transactions, customer service
expenses, uncollectible fees, write-offs and amortization of implementation fees. These expenses are shared across our different revenue categories and we are
not able to meaningfully allocate such costs between separate categories of revenue. Consequently, all costs and expenses applicable to our revenue are included
in the cost of revenue category in our statements of operations. These expenses generally move in line with the number of active OneAccounts and transaction
volumes for our banking and payment transactions services.
 

General and Administrative
 

General and administrative expenses include finance, legal, compliance, facility and administration costs, as well as components of operational costs
such as ATM cash services and maintenance, data center costs and costs associated with our information technology. These costs include employee
compensation and related expenses, as well as fees for professional services. As a newly public company, we started to incur additional general and
administrative expenses in 2010 and throughout 2011 as a result of our need to comply with the ongoing legal and regulatory requirements associated with
being a public company, including SEC reporting obligations, director and officer liability insurance and other expenses.
 

Product Development
 

Product development expenses include costs associated with defining and specifying new features and ongoing enhancements for our proprietary
technology platform and other aspects of our service offerings. Product development costs primarily relate to employee compensation.
 

Sales and Marketing
 

Sales and marketing expenses include costs of acquiring new institution clients and educating their students about our services in order to improve the
adoption and usage rates of our OneAccount and our other student-oriented products and services. The majority of our sales and marketing expenses are
comprised of stock-based customer acquisition expense we record in connection with acquisition of EduCard in 2008 and pursuant to a related intellectual
property purchase agreement. The amount of stock-based customer acquisition expense depends on the number of shares released from escrow and the value of
the shares at that time.  The remainder of the sales and marketing costs are primarily comprised of employee compensation. Each of our sales representatives
earns: (i) a base salary; (ii) sales commissions, which are earned upon the signing of a contract with a higher education institution client; and (iii) generally,
certain trailing commissions, which are based on account performance.
 

We also recorded cash-based customer acquisition expense in connection with our acquisition of IDC in November 2009. Both of the agreements related
to our stock-based and cash-based customer acquisition expense expired at the end of 2011, and we do not expect expense in future periods related to these
agreements.
 

IDC Acquisition
 

In November 2009, we acquired IDC, a leader in providing cashiering and payment solutions in higher education. This transaction provided us with
our suite of payment transaction products and services, the capability to offer our higher education institution clients a full complement of services and nearly
doubled the number of campuses with which we have relationships. At the time of the acquisition, there was a 6% overlap of students enrolled at institutions
that used both Higher One and IDC products and services. Our overlap has increased to approximately 13% as of December 31, 2011 and we expect our
overlap to continue to increase as a result of additional cross-selling efforts.
 

We purchased IDC for $27.5 million, which was financed by cash and debt. At closing, we made an initial payment of $17.6 million. The remaining
non-interest bearing post-closing payment of $10 million was due to the former shareholders in quarterly payments through December 31, 2010. During 2010,
we made one payment of $1.75 million to the former shareholders and deposited the remaining $8.25 million in an escrow account as a result of a dispute that
arose between HOI and the former stockholders of HOI.  On April 25, 2011, HOI and the former stockholders of IDC agreed to a settlement, which resulted in
$2.0 million of the amount held in escrow being paid to HOI and the remaining amount being paid to the former stockholders of IDC.  We recorded the impact
of the settlement agreement in the quarter ending June 30, 2011.  The $2.0 million returned from escrow to us was recorded as other income of $1.5 million,
reflecting a payment made under the indemnification provisions of the stock purchase agreement and a reduction of general and administrative expenses of
$0.5 million, reflecting the recovery of certain legal costs incurred for the litigation.  See also “Part I, Item 3. Legal Proceedings” of this report.
 

In acquiring IDC, we purchased its payment transaction suite of products and services, such as ePayment, eBill, MyPaymentPlan, eMarket and
Cashiering, which we did not previously offer. See also “Part I, Item 1. Business—Products and Services—Payment Suite” of this report.
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Critical Accounting Policies
 

A number of our accounting policies require the application of significant judgment by our management, and such judgments are reflected in the
amounts reported in our consolidated financial statements. In applying these policies, our management uses its judgment to determine the appropriate
assumptions to be used in the determination of estimates. Those estimates are based on our historical experience, terms of existing contracts, management’s
observation of trends in the industry and information available from other outside sources, as appropriate. On an ongoing basis, we evaluate our estimates and
judgments. Actual results may differ significantly from the estimates contained in our consolidated financial statements. The following areas represent our
critical accounting policies:

 
• Provision for Operational Losses • Stock-Based Compensation
• Goodwill and Intangible Assets • Income Taxes
• Business Combinations  

 
Information about these critical accounting policies is included in Note 2 “Significant Accounting Policies” of the notes to our consolidated financial

statements appearing elsewhere in the report and to the extent different is also included below.
 
Provision for Operational Losses
 

Since our reserve is established based upon an analysis of outstanding overdrafts and historical repayment rates, if the financial condition of our
accountholders were to deteriorate, thereby reducing their ability to make payments, additional reserves would be required in the future.
 
Goodwill and Intangible Assets
 

We have one operating segment and reporting unit for purposes of our goodwill testing as a result of the integrated way that the entire business is
managed. As of the completion of our impairment test on October 31, 2010, our reporting unit was not at risk of failing step one of the goodwill impairment
test. We performed the annual impairment test during 2011 with a qualitative assessment and determined it was more likely than not that the fair value of our
reporting unit was not less than its carrying value.
 

We assess the impairment of identifiable intangible assets and goodwill whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value
may not be recoverable. Factors we consider important which could trigger an impairment review include the following:
 
 • significant underperformance relative to historical or projected future operating results;
 • significant changes in the manner of our use of the acquired assets or the strategy for our overall business; and
 • significant negative industry or economic trends.
 

When we determine that the carrying value of intangible assets may not be recoverable based upon the existence of one or more of the above indicators of
potential impairment, we assess whether an impairment has occurred based on whether net book value of the assets exceeds related projected undiscounted
cash flows from these assets. We consider a number of factors, including past operating results, budgets, economic projections, market trends and product
development cycles in estimating future cash flows. Differing estimates and assumptions as to any of the factors described above could result in a materially
different impairment charge and thus materially different results of operations.
 
Stock-Based Compensation
 

The options we grant expire ten years from the date of grant. Options for our employees vest over periods ranging from one month to five years, with the
majority vesting as follows: one-fifth of the granted options vest one year from the date of grant; the remaining four-fifths vest at a rate of 1/48 per month over
the remaining four years of the vesting period. The board grants primarily incentive stock options, but occasionally grants nonqualified stock options to key
members of management.
 

The amount of stock-based compensation expense we recognize during a period is based on the portion of the awards that are ultimately expected to vest.
We estimate option forfeitures at the time of grant and revise those estimates in subsequent periods if actual forfeitures differ from those estimates.
 

Restricted stock is a stock award that entitles the holder to receive shares of our common stock as the award vests over time. The board granted
restricted stock awards for the first, and to date only, time in 2009 when it granted a total of 43,344 shares to its executive officers. These awards vest over
four years which start on the first anniversary of the grant. The fair value of each restricted stock award is estimated using the intrinsic value method that is
based on the fair value of our common stock on the date of grant. Compensation expense for restricted stock awards is recognized ratably over the vesting
period on a straight-line basis.
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Generally, employees have received stock option grants when joining the company and then may have received periodic awards thereafter in the

discretion of the board and management, although the timing of additional awards has previously not been made according to any established policy. The
board intends all options to be granted with an exercise price equal to or greater than the per share fair value of our common stock underlying those options on
the date of grant. On each of the grant dates up until our common stock offering in June 2010, the fair value of common stock underlying stock options
granted was either estimated by the board on a contemporaneous basis with input from management and an independent valuation firm or was determined not
to have changed since a prior valuation. Given the absence of a public trading market in our common stock through June 2010, our board considered
numerous objective and subjective factors to determine the best estimate of the fair value of our common stock at each meeting at which stock option grants
were approved. These factors included, but were not limited to, the following:
 
 • developments in our business;
 • issuances of our preferred stock;
 • the rights and preferences of our convertible preferred stock relative to our common stock;
 • independent valuations of our common stock;
 • the lack of marketability of our common stock;
 • the likelihood of achieving a liquidity event, given prevailing market conditions;
 • the per share value of any recent preferred stock financing and the amount of convertible preferred stock liquidation preferences;
 • our current and historical operating performance and current financial condition;
 • our operating and financial projections;
 • the stock price performance of a peer group comprised of selected publicly-traded companies identified as being comparable to us; and
 • economic conditions and trends in the broad market for stocks.
 

If we had made different assumptions and estimates regarding the value of our stock at the time of the options being granted, the amount of our
recognized and to be recognized stock-based compensation expense could have been materially different. We believe that the board used reasonable
methodologies, approaches and assumptions in determining the fair value of our common stock.
 

We requested periodic valuation reports from an independent valuation firm, prepared consistent with the methods outlined in the American Institute of
Certified Public Accountants’ Practice Guide, “Valuation of Privately-Held-Company Equity Securities Issued as Compensation” in 2009 and up until our
common stock offering in June 2010. Each valuation recommended a fair value of our common stock on a minority, non-marketable basis as of the date of the
report.
 

In valuing our common stock, our independent valuation firm determined our business enterprise value using two valuation approaches, an income
approach and a market approach.
 
 • The income approach estimates the present value of future estimated debt-free cash flows, based upon forecasted revenue and costs. These

discounted cash flows are added to the present value of our estimated enterprise terminal value, the multiple of which is derived from comparable
company market data. These future cash flows are discounted to their present values using a rate corresponding to our estimated weighted average
cost of capital. The discount rate is derived from an analysis of the weighted average cost of capital of our publicly-traded peer group as well as
cost of capital studies for similar stage companies as of the valuation date and is adjusted to reflect the risk inherent in our cash flows.

 
 • The market approach estimates the fair value of a company by applying to that company the market multiples of comparable publicly-traded

companies. A multiple of key metrics implied by the enterprise values or acquisition values of our publicly-traded peers is calculated. Based on
the range of these observed multiples, size of the company, company specific factors such as growth and margins, and professional judgment a
appropriate adjustment to the publicly-traded companies median multiple is applied our metrics in order to derive an indication of value.

 
After determining a business enterprise value indication under each approach, the enterprise value was allocated to debt holders and then to each of our

classes of stock using a liquidation analysis that took into consideration each class of shareholder’s rights and preferences to proceeds. Under each of the
value indications based on the shareholder agreements, the preferred shareholders would automatically convert to common shareholders. The two per share
value indications were weighted to determine the concluded fair value of a share of common stock on a minority, non-marketable basis.
 

Upon our common stock offering in June 2010, we have relied upon the trading price of our common stock to determine fair value of our common
stock.
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Grants in 2009 and 2010

 
With respect to equity grants made in 2009 and up until our initial public offering in June 2010, the key assumptions in the common stock valuations

recommended by an independent valuation firm were as follows:
 

Date of Valuation  

Discounted Cash Flows
Method / Guideline

Public Company Weighting 

Discount for
Lack of

Marketability  

Discounted
Cash Flow

Discount Rate  
Common

Stock Value
June 30, 2009  75% / 25%   30%   20%                  5.56
November 19, 2009  75% / 25%   20%   25%                  10.80
March 15, 2010  75% / 25%   15%   23%                  13.94
 

For purposes of the June 2009 valuations, the comparable publicly-traded companies utilized in the market approach consisted of Alliance Data
Systems Corporation, CyberSource Corp., MasterCard Incorporated, TNS Inc. and Total Systems Services, Inc. The list was expanded to include Visa, Inc.
in the November 2009 valuation report and to include Financial Engines, Inc. in the March 2010 valuation report.
 
Income Taxes
 

Our deferred tax balances are dependent upon our estimation of the rates at which these deferred taxes will reduce in the future.  Differences in our
estimation of apportionment in future years would have an impact on the amount of deferred taxes we record as of any point in time.
 
Business Combinations
 

In recording the fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed in a business combination, we make estimates regarding customer retention rates,
discount rates and future revenues among other things.  Changes in the these estimates would have an impact on the amount of value assigned to our assets
acquired and therefore impact the amount of amortization that is recorded in future periods.
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Results of Operations for the Years Ended December 31, 2009, 2010 and 2011
 

The following tables summarize key components of our results of operations for the periods indicated, both in thousands of dollars and as a percentage
of revenue:
 
  Year Ended December 31,   Change from prior period  
  2009   2010   2011   2010   2011   2010   2011  
  (in thousands)   (in thousands of dollars)   (percentage)  
Account revenue   $ 68,529   $ 113,516  $ 142,589   $ 44,987   $ 29,073   65.6%   25.6%
Payment transaction revenue   1,688   15,742   18,733   14,054   2,991   832.6%   19.0%
Higher education institution revenue   5,135   12,543   16,614   7,408   4,071   144.3%   32.5%
Other revenue   2,254   3,168   3,112   914   (56)   40.6%   (1.8%)

Revenues before customer credit plan   77,606   144,969   181,048   67,363   36,079   86.8%   24.9%
Less customer credit plan   —   —   (4,728)   —   (4,728)   —%   100.0%

Revenue   77,606   144,969   176,320   67,363   31,351   86.8%   21.6%
Cost of revenue   26,529   51,845   67,560   25,316   15,715   95.4%   30.3%

Gross margin   51,077   93,124   108,760   42,047   15,636   82.3%   16.8%
General and administrative   18,143   32,381   37,715   14,238   5,334   78.5%   16.5%
Product development   2,287   3,311   3,265   1,024   (46)   44.8%   (1.4%)
Sales and marketing   7,966   16,185   20,265   8,219   4,080   103.2%   25.2%

Income from operations   22,681   41,247   47,515   18,566   6,268   81.9%   15.2%
Interest income   4   29   68   25   39   625.0%   134.5%
Interest expense   (558)   (729)   (266)   (171)   463   30.6%   (63.5%)
Other income   17   —   1,500   (17)   1,500   (100.0%)   100.0%

Net income before income taxes   22,144   40,547   48,817   18,403   8,270   83.1%   20.4%
Income tax expense   7,925   15,488   16,924   7,563   1,436   95.4%   9.3%

Net income   $ 22,144   $ 40,547   $ 48,817   $ 18,403   $ 8,270   83.1%   20.4%

  Year Ended December 31,  
  2009   2010   2011  
   (% of revenue)  
Account revenue   88.3%   78.3%   80.9%
Payment transaction revenue   2.2%   10.9%   10.6%
Higher education institution revenue   6.6%   8.6%   9.4%
Other revenue   2.9%   2.2%   1.8%

Revenues before customer credit plan   100.0%   100.0%   102.7%
Less customer credit plan   0.0%   0.0%   (2.7%)

Revenue   100.0%   100.0%   100.0%
Cost of revenue   34.2%   35.8%   38.3%

Gross margin   65.8%   64.2%   61.7%
General and administrative   23.4%   22.3%   21.4%
Product development   2.9%   2.3%   1.9%
Sales and marketing   10.3%   11.1%   11.5%

Income from operations   29.2%   28.5%   26.9%
Interest income   0.0%   0.0%   0.0%
Interest expense   (0.7%)   (0.5%)   (0.2%)
Other income   0.0%   0.0%   1.0%

Net income before income taxes   28.5%   28.0%   27.7%
Income tax expense   10.2%   10.7%   9.6%

Net income   18.3%   17.3%   18.1%
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Year Ended December 31, 2011 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2010
 

Revenue
 
Account revenue

 
The increase in account revenue was primarily due to an increase of 23.4%, or 0.4 million, in the number of OneAccounts from December 31, 2010 to

December 31, 2011. Greater adoption of the OneAccount at existing higher education institution clients accounted for 63% of the increase in
OneAccounts.  The remaining increase was due to students choosing the OneAccount at higher education institutions which became clients after December 31,
2010.  The increase in the number of OneAccounts resulted in increases in interchange fees, ATM fees and other fees that our bank partner remits to us.
 

Payment Transaction Revenue
 

The increase in payment transaction revenue was primarily due to an increase in payments processed at higher education institutions that were utilizing
the CASHNet payment module, ePayment, as of the beginning of 2011, as well as the inclusion of new higher education institution clients that began utilizing
ePayment since the year ended December 31, 2010.
 

Higher Education Institution Revenue
 

The increase in higher education institution revenue was primarily due to an increase in subscription revenue for our CASHNet suite of payment
products.  The increase in subscription revenue is generally due to the increase in number of new modules sold to previously existing higher education
institution clients, as well as sales of the CASHNet suite of payment products to new higher education institution clients over the course of the last twelve
months.  The increase in higher education institution revenue was also supported by growth in the financial aid disbursement revenues generated by our
OneDisburse Refund Management disbursement service.
 

Customer Credit Plan
 

In December 2011, we initiated a plan which provided credits to certain current and former customers that were previously assessed certain insufficient
fund fees.  As a result of this plan, we recorded a reduction in our revenue of approximately $4.7 million in 2011.  The insufficient funds fees that are credited
to customers under this plan were originally assessed beginning in 2008.  Of the total charge of $4.7 million, an accrual of approximately $2.6 million has
been established for amounts which are expected to be paid in the first quarter of 2012.
 

Cost of Revenue
 

Our gross margin percentage decreased by approximately 2.5 percentage points compared to 2010.  Approximately 40% of that decrease was as a result
of the credits that we agreed to provide to customers during 2011 discussed above.  The remaining decrease in margin is primarily related to higher costs
associated with honoring MasterCard Zero Liability protection to our customers.  These higher costs included approximately $1.2 million of losses associated
with a theft at an unrelated third-party merchant which impacted our customers, which was a component of this overall increase.
 

General and Administrative Expense
 

Although general and administrative expenses continue to increase as our size grows, such expenses are increasing at a lower rate than our revenue
growth.  The increase in general and administrative expenses was driven primarily by increases in employee compensation, professional fees, depreciation,
and losses recorded on the disposal of ATMs.  We expect general and administrative expenses to continue to grow at a rate slower than revenue growth in the
future.
 

Sales and Marketing Expense
 

The increase in sales and marketing expense was primarily due to an increase of $3.2 million in the non-cash, stock-based sales acquisition expense
related to the vesting of certain shares issued in connection with the acquisition of EduCard due to a higher average share price at the date of vesting. The
remainder of the increase was the result of increases in certain marketing efforts during 2011, including additional tradeshow participation and higher
employee compensation costs to support business growth.
 

Interest Expense
 

The decrease in interest expense was primarily due to lower amortization of deferred financing costs of the Credit Facility (as defined below), compared
to our prior credit facility that was in place during 2010, and accretion of our acquisition payable which became fully accreted by December 31, 2010.  During
the year ended December 31, 2011, a zero balance was maintained on the Credit Facility.
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Other Income

We recorded $1.5 million of other income during the year ended December 31, 2011, as a result of the settlement agreement reached with the former
stockholders of IDC, or the Settlement Agreement. See Part I, Item 3. Legal Proceedings, for additional information related to the Settlement Agreement.
 

Income Tax Expense
 

The increase in income tax expense was primarily due to the increase in net income before taxes.  The gain we recorded as a result of the settlement
agreement with the former stockholders of IDC of $1.5 million did not have any tax impact for the year ended December 31, 2011.  In addition, we recorded a
deferred tax benefit of approximately $0.8 million as a result of a decrease in the expected rate that certain of our deferred tax liabilities will reverse, which
resulted in an income tax benefit during the year ended December 31, 2011.  The effective tax rates for the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2011 were
38.2% and 34.7%, respectively.
 
 
Year Ended December 31, 2010 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2009
 

Revenue
 
Account revenue

 
The increase in account revenue was primarily due to an increase of 61.2%, or 0.6 million, in the number of OneAccounts from December 31, 2009 to

December 31, 2010. Greater adoption of the OneAccount at existing higher education institution clients accounted for 47% of the increase in OneAccounts,
while 53% of the increase was due to new higher education institution clients. The increase in the number of OneAccounts resulted in increases in interchange
fees relating to point of sale purchases made with our OneCards, ATM fees, and other fees that our bank partner remitted to us. While our historical experience
has been that account revenue generated per OneAccount has been generally stable year over year, with total account revenue generally increasing proportionally
with increases in the number of OneAccounts, the implementation of Regulation E in the third quarter of 2010 as well as other changes we made to our fee
schedule decreased the revenue per OneAccount compared to the same period in the prior year. This trend continued into the fourth quarter of 2010 and through
2011.
 

Payment Transaction Revenue
 

The increase in payment transaction revenue was primarily generated from our CASHNet payment transaction products, which were added to our
product offering with the acquisition of IDC in November 2009 and, accordingly, were only included in our payment transaction revenues for approximately
one and one half months during the twelve months ended December 31, 2009.
 

Higher Education Institution Revenue
 

The increase in higher education institution revenue was primarily due to the inclusion of a full year of subscription and deployment revenue from our
CASHNet suite of products compared to only approximately 42 days of revenue in 2009.
 

Other Revenue
 

The increase in other revenue was primarily due to an increase in the marketing incentive fees payable to us from MasterCard due to higher MasterCard
issuance incentives. An increase in processing fees that our bank partner paid to us, which resulted primarily from an increase in OneAccount deposits, also
contributed to the growth in other revenue.
 

Cost of Revenue
 

The inclusion of processing fees related to our CASHNet payment transaction revenue for the whole year in 2010, compared to only 42 days in 2009,
accounted for $9.8 million, or 38.6% of the total growth in cost of revenue. Increases in data processing expenses of $4.6 million, or 67.8%, network fees and
expenses of $2.7 million or 61.5% and customer service expenses of $2.0 million, or 61.1%, also contributed to the increase. The growth in these expenses
was primarily due to a 61.2% increase in the number of active OneAccounts. An increase in amortization expense, primarily related to deferred implementation
costs, of $2.0 million, or 132.1%, was driven by both new client implementations and the inclusion of costs resulting from our CASHNet deployments.
Write-offs and the provision for uncollectible fees increased $2.6 million, or 42.4%, driven by the increase in the number of active OneAccounts, which was
partially offset by higher fee collection rates and lower aggregate overdrawn balances resulting from the implementation of amendments to Regulation E. The
lower margin generally attained on the CASHNet payment transaction revenue contributed to the 1.6% overall decrease in gross margin percentage.
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General and Administrative Expense

 
The increase in general and administrative expense was driven primarily by increases of $6.8 million, or 69.2%, in employee compensation allocated

to general and administrative expenses; $2.3 million, or 159.8%, in depreciation and amortization; and $1.5 million, or 107.9%, in information technology
expenses. These expenses were the result of both the acquisition of IDC in November 2009 and of growth in our existing lines of business. Additionally,
professional fees increased $1.3 million, or 106.3%, driven by growth in the size and complexity of our business and the additional costs of operating as a
publicly traded company.
 

Product Development Expense
 

The increase in product development expense was primarily due to an increase in employee and outsourced costs primarily related to the addition of
product development employees from CASHNet.
 

Sales and Marketing Expense
 

The increase in sales and marketing expense was primarily due to an increase of $4.9 million in the non-cash, stock-based sales acquisition expense
related to the vesting of certain shares issued in connection with the acquisition of EduCard due to a higher average share price at the date of vesting. Increases
in costs related to employee compensation, primarily related to the addition of employees from HOPI and cash-based sales acquisition expense related to the
acquisition of IDC of $0.7 million also contributed to the overall increase.
 

Interest Expense
 

The increase in interest expense was primarily due to the accretion of interest related to the acquisition payable incurred as a result of the IDC
acquisition in November 2009 and amortization of financing costs associated with amending the credit facility in July and December of 2009.
 

Income Tax Expense
 

The increase in income tax expense was primarily due to an increase of $18.4 million, or 83.1%, in net income before taxes and also a higher effective
state tax rate. The effective tax rates for the years ended December 31, 2009 and 2010 were 35.8% and 38.2%, respectively.
 

Liquidity and Capital Resources
 
Sources of Liquidity
 

Our primary sources of liquidity are cash flows from operations and borrowings under our Credit Facility. As of December 31, 2011, we had $39.1
million in cash and cash equivalents, $15.7 million in available-for-sale securities and $50 million available under our Credit Facility. Our primary liquidity
requirements are for working capital, capital expenditures, product development expenses and general corporate needs. As of December 31, 2011, we had
working capital of $44.7 million.
 

During 2010, we issued common stock for net proceeds of $37.2 million. We used $10.0 million of the net proceeds to repay amounts then outstanding
under our prior credit facility and deposited $8.25 million into escrow to satisfy our post-closing obligations under the IDC stock purchase agreement. The
remaining amount of net proceeds remains available for our strategic objectives and for general corporate purposes.
 

Senior Secured Revolving Credit Facility
 

Higher One, Inc. entered into a senior secured revolving credit facility dated as of August 26, 2008 that was subsequently amended as of July 15, 2009
and November 19, 2009. We refer to this credit facility, as amended, as the Prior Credit Facility. The Prior Credit Facility matured on December 31, 2010 and
there were no amounts outstanding at maturity.
 

On December 31, 2010, Higher One, Inc. entered into a new senior secured revolving credit facility, or the Credit Facility. Among other things, the
Credit Facility increased the maximum amount available to be drawn to $50 million and allows us to request an increase in this limit to $100 million. Any
amounts drawn under the amended and restated credit facility are payable in a single maturity on December 31, 2013. Each of Higher One Holdings, Inc.,
Higher One Machines, Inc., Higher One Real Estate, Inc. and Higher One Real Estate SP, LLC, which we refer to collectively, together with Higher One Inc., as
the Credit Facility Loan Obligors, is a guarantor of Higher One, Inc.’s obligations under the Credit Facility.
 

The Credit Facility is secured by a perfected first priority security interest in all of the capital stock of Higher One, Inc. and its subsidiaries, and
substantially all of each Credit Facility Loan Obligor’s tangible and intangible assets, other than intellectual property. Each of the Credit Facility Loan
Obligors has also granted to the administrative agent under the Credit Facility a negative pledge of the intellectual property of Higher One, Inc. and its
subsidiaries, including patents and trademarks that are pending and acquired in the future.
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At our option, each advance under the Credit Facility accrues interest on the basis of a base rate or on the basis of a one-month, two-month or three-

month Eurodollar rate, plus in either case, the applicable margin based on our funded debt to EBITDA ratio, at the time each loan is made. We also pay
commitment fees for the unused portion of the revolving loan on a quarterly basis equal to the product obtained by multiplying the applicable margin for
commitment fees by the average daily unused commitment for that calendar quarter. The applicable margin for base rate advances is between (1.25%) and 0%,
subject to a minimum rate of 2%, and the applicable margin for Eurodollar rate advances is between 2.0% and 3.25%. The applicable margin for commitment
fees is between 0.25% and 0.375%. The base rate is the higher of Bank of America’s announced prime rate, the federal funds rate plus 0.50% or the
Eurodollar rate plus 1.00%. Interest on Eurodollar loans is payable at the end of each applicable interest period. Interest on base rate advances is payable
quarterly in arrears.
 

The Credit Facility contains certain affirmative covenants including, among other things, covenants to furnish the lenders with financial statements
and other financial information and to provide the lenders notice of material events and information regarding collateral. The Credit Facility also contains
certain negative covenants that, among other things, restrict Higher One, Inc.’s ability, subject to certain exceptions, to incur additional indebtedness, grant
liens on its assets, undergo fundamental changes, make investments, sell assets, make restricted payments, change the nature of its business and engage in
transactions with its affiliates.
 

In addition, the Credit Facility contains certain financial covenants that require we maintain a minimum EBITDA level measured on the prior four
fiscal quarters of $50 million, a funded debt to EBITDA ratio not to exceed 2.00 to 1.00 and a fixed charge coverage ratio of at least 1.25 to 1.00. We were in
compliance with all of the relevant covenants as of December 31, 2011.
 
Cash Flows
 

The following table presents information regarding our cash flows, cash and cash equivalents for the years ended December 31, 2009, 2010 and 2011:
 
  Year Ended December 31,   Change from prior period  
  2009   2010   2011   2010   2011  
  (in thousands)   (in thousands)  
Net cash provided by (used in):                
Operating activities  $ 20,656  $ 40,056  $ 44,467  $ 19,400  $ 4,411 
Investing activities   (18,731)   (31,756)   (43,011)   (13,025)   (11,255)
Financing activities   (74)   22,845   3,145   22,919   (19,700)
Increase in cash and cash equivalents   1,851   31,145   4,601   29,294   (26,544)
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period  $ 3,339  $ 34,484  $ 39,085  $ 31,145  $ 4,601 
 

Operating Activities
 

The $4.4 million increase in net cash provided by operating activities for the year ended December 31, 2011 was primarily comprised of an increase of
$6.8 million in net income offset by a greater use of cash in working capital accounts.  In addition, there were non-cash adjustments from net income to
operating cash flows that contributed to a $3.8 million increase in cash provided by operating activities in 2011.  An increase in stock-based customer
acquisition expense, due primarily to a higher average share price at the time of vesting and a related decrease in our deferred tax benefit, both offset by the gain
we recorded upon the settlement of our litigation with the former stockholders of IDC contributed to our non-cash adjustments from net income to operating
income.
 

The $19.4 million increase in net cash provided by operating activities for the year ended December 31, 2010 was primarily comprised of an increase
of $10.8 million in net income and an $8.6 million increase in adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash flows, including a $4.9 million increase in
stock-based sales acquisition expense and $4.3 million increase in depreciation and amortization. The increase in stock-based sales acquisition expense is due
primarily to higher average share price at the date of vesting.
 

Investing Activities
 

Net cash used for investing activities for 2011 primarily related to capital expenditures, including the expenditures related to the real estate development
project described below and related investing activities, including the receipt of various grants and subsidies and a loan provided in connection with our New
Markets Tax Credit financing.  In addition, during 2011 we commenced several software development projects which are being capitalized while in the
application development stage.
 

Net cash used for investing activities for 2010 primarily related to our investment in available for sale securities, the payment and deposit into escrow
related to our acquisition of IDC and our purchases of fixed assets.
 

In 2011 we began to invest in certain information technology infrastructure projects that we expect will provide us with more flexibility and
opportunities while helping us control costs over the long-term.  While we do not have material commitments to expend amounts on these projects, we do expect
to continue investing in these projects in 2012.  We believe that our cash flow from operations together with our existing liquidity sources will be sufficient to
fund our operations and anticipated capital expenditures over at least the next 12 months.
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Real Estate Development Project

 
As of December 31, 2011, we have incurred approximately $32.8 million, net of the grants, credits and subsidies described below, on a project that

developed two previously existing commercial buildings located in New Haven, Connecticut into our new corporate headquarters.  We moved into the
redeveloped buildings at the end of 2011.  Real Estate LLC engaged Winchester Arms NH, LLC to develop the buildings and John Moriarty & Associates, or
Moriarty, to be the general contractor for the project.  The project has a total estimated cost of approximately $47 million. Our net cost has been reduced by
federal tax credits, state grants and other programs described below. The real estate development project was funded using existing cash, cash generated from
operations, various credits and grants and other financing.
 

A summary of the subsidies, grants and credits we received as of December 31, 2011 is as follows:
 

Name of program  
Amount (in
thousands)  Description

Federal Historic Preservation Tax Incentives Program  $6,000 We will receive a federal tax credit equal to 20% of qualified
rehabilitation expenditures related to the project.  A receivable for
this estimated amount is recorded as of December 31, 2011 and is
expected to be received in the first half of 2012.

State of Connecticut Department of Economic and
Community Development, or DECD, Urban Act and
Environmental Remediation Grant

  
5,500

 The full grant proceeds were received in 2011.  We must (i)
maintain corporate headquarters in Connecticut for the next 10
years, (ii) maintain a specified minimum average employment level
for the years 2015 – 2018 and (iii) adhere to other administrative
criteria.

Connecticut Development Authority Sales and Use Tax
Relief Program

  757 This program provided relief on certain sales and use tax
associated with the real estate development project.  We must
maintain corporate headquarters in Connecticut for the next 10
years.

Other contributions   
1,625

 Cash contributions from Science Park Development Corporation
and the prior building owner were received during 2011 to offset a
portion of the environmental remediation costs.

 
Many of these programs have criteria that we must meet in order to prevent forfeiture or repayment of the grants and credits and also criteria that we

must meet on an ongoing basis in order to prevent forfeiture of the subsidies, grants and credits, and in some cases the imposition of a penalty.  Higher One
Holdings, Inc. has provided a guaranty to the DECD related to our obligation to repay the amounts granted to us if we fail to meet the criteria described
above.  The maximum potential amount of future payments of this guaranty is approximately $5.9 million.  We currently believe that the likelihood of us
being required to make a payment under this guaranty is remote.
 

In addition to the programs described above, we are also eligible to receive additional credits and subsidies in the future.  A description of these
programs is included in the table below.

Name of program  

Potential
amount  (in
thousands)  Nature of the program

DECD Urban and Industrial Site Reinvestment Tax
Credits

 $18,500 State tax credits that can be earned beginning in 2013 and
continuing through 2019

Other contributions      2,730  Cash contributions from SPDC (i) following completion of our
project and (ii) based on the value of state historic tax credits
awarded to SPDC.

 
In December 2011, we consummated a financing transaction related to the federal New Markets Tax Credit, or NMTC, program which provided

funding for our real estate development project.  The NMTC program is designed to encourage new or increased investments into operating businesses and real
estate projects located in low-income communities.  In connection with this transaction, HOI provided a loan of $7.6 million to an unrelated third party.  The
loan bears interest at 1.0%, payable quarterly and matures in December 2041.  Repayments on the loan commence in December 2019.
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Also in connection with this transaction, Real Estate LLC entered into a loan agreement and borrowed $7.6 million from an unrelated third party.  Real

Estate LLC’s loan bears interest at approximately 1.1%, payable quarterly and matures in December 2041.  Repayments on the loan commence in December
2019.  This loan is secured by the real estate development project.  In addition to the loan agreement, Real Estate Inc. admitted a new member into Real Estate
LLC.  The new member contributed $2.2 million of capital in exchange for a 2% interest in Real Estate LLC which was used to pay for a portion of our real
estate development costs. We have presented this contribution on the consolidated balance sheet as a deferred contribution as a result of our expectation that we
will re-acquire this interest in approximately seven years through the exercise of a put option for a nominal price by the counterparty to this agreement or
through a fair value call option that we can exercise.

 
In connection with the NMTC transaction, we have provided a guaranty related to our actions or inactions which cause either a NMTC disallowance or

recapture event.  In the event that we cause either a recapture or disallowance of the tax credits expected to be generated under this program, we will be required
to repay the disallowed or recaptured tax credits plus an amount sufficient to pay the taxes on such repayment, to the counterparty of the agreement.  This
guaranty will remain in place for seven years following this NMTC transaction. The maximum potential amount of future payments of this guaranty is
approximately $6.0 million.  We currently believe that the likelihood of us being required to make a payment under this guaranty is remote.
 
Financing Activities
 

The net cash provided by financing activities in 2011 was primarily related the impact of stock option exercises and the New Markets Tax Credit
financing described in the section above.  Those cash inflows were offset by a use of cash to repurchase our common stock during the year.  We used $16.2
million to repurchase approximately 1.1 million shares of common stock in 2011.  Our share repurchase program was announced on August 23, 2011 and
allows for the repurchase of up to $40.0 million of our issued and outstanding shares of common stock through September 7, 2012.
 

The net cash provided by financing activities in 2010 was primarily related to proceeds received from our initial public offering, net of issuance costs,
of $37.2 million, a tax benefit related to options of $2.8 million and proceeds received from the exercise of stock options of $1.0 million. These were partially
offset by net payments of $18.0 million of debt under our Prior Credit Facility.
 
Supplemental Non-GAAP Financial and Operating Information
 

  Year Ended December 31,  
  2009   2010   2011  
  (in thousands)  
Adjusted EBITDA(1)  $ 30,516  $ 59,465  $ 73,993 
Adjusted net income(2)  $ 18,085  $ 34,418  $ 45,028 
             
Number of students enrolled at OneDisburse client higher education institutions at end of period   2,331   3,281   4,169 
             
Number of students enrolled at payment transaction client higher education institutions at end of

period   1,949   2,460   2,617 
             
Number of OneAccounts at end of period   1,004   1,618   1,997 

(1)     We define adjusted EBITDA as net income before interest, income taxes and depreciation and amortization, or EBITDA, further adjusted to remove the
effects of stock-based customer acquisition expense related to our grants of common stock in connection with our acquisition of EduCard in 2008, cash-based
customer acquisition expense related to the acquisition of IDC, stock-based compensation expense, the impact of the customer credit plan in 2011, the gain we
recorded in connection with the settlement of our litigation with the former stockholders of IDC and a non-recurring milestone bonus paid to non-executive
employees in 2009 upon our reaching a particular long-term operational target. Neither EBITDA nor adjusted EBITDA should be considered as an alternative
to net income, operating income or any other measure of financial performance calculated and presented in accordance with GAAP. Our EBITDA and adjusted
EBITDA may not be comparable to similarly titled measures of other organizations because other organizations may not calculate EBITDA and adjusted
EBITDA in the same manner as we do. We prepare and present adjusted EBITDA to eliminate the effect of items that we do not consider indicative of our core
operating performance. You are encouraged to evaluate our adjustments and the reasons we consider them appropriate.
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We believe adjusted EBITDA is useful to our board of directors, management and investors in evaluating our operating performance for the following

reasons:

·  adjusted EBITDA is widely used by investors to measure a company’s operating performance without regard to certain items, such as interest
expense, income tax expense, depreciation and amortization, stock-based expenses and certain other items, that can vary substantially from company
to company and from period to period depending upon their financing and accounting methods, the book value of their assets, their capital structures
and the method by which their assets were acquired;

·  securities analysts use adjusted EBITDA as a supplemental measure to evaluate the overall operating performance of companies;

·  because non-cash equity grants made at a certain price and point in time do not necessarily reflect how our business is performing at any particular
time, stock-based customer acquisition expense and stock-based compensation expense are not key measures of our core operating performance;

·  because our decision to institute the customer credit plan during 2011 which will provide approximately $4.7 million in credits to customers does not
reflect on our current performance;

·  because the milestone bonus was a non-recurring expense that we recorded upon reaching a particular long-term operational target that we do not
expect to incur again in the near-term, the milestone bonus does not necessarily reflect how our business is performing at any particular time and is
therefore not a key measure of our core operating performance;

·  because cash-based customer acquisition expense is an item related to the acquisition of IDC and does not reflect how our business is performing at
any particular time; and

·  because the gain we recorded in connection with the settlement of our litigation with the former stockholders of IDC is an item related to the
acquisition of IDC and does not reflect how our business is performing at any particular time.

 
The following table presents a reconciliation of net income, the most comparable GAAP measure, to EBITDA and adjusted EBITDA for each of the

periods indicated:
 
  Year Ended December 31,  
  2009   2010   2011  
   (in thousands)
Net income  $ 14,219  $ 25,059  $ 31,893 
Interest income   (4)   (29)   (68)
Interest expense   558   729   266 
Income tax expense   7,925   15,488   16,924 
Depreciation and amortization   2,969   7,292   7,021 

EBITDA   25,667   48,539   56,036 
Customer credit plan   —   —   4,728 
Other income   (17)   —   (1,500)
Stock-based and other customer acquisition expense   2,385   8,013   10,861 
Stock-based compensation expense   1,387   2,913   3,868 
Milestone bonus   1,094   —   — 

Adjusted EBITDA  $ 30,516  $ 59,465  $ 73,993 

 
(2)     We define adjusted net income as net income, adjusted to eliminate (a) stock-based compensation expense related to incentive stock option grants and the
gain we recorded in connection with the settlement of our litigation with the former stockholders of IDC and (b) after giving effect to tax adjustments, stock-
based compensation expense related to non-qualified stock option grants, stock-based customer acquisition expense related to our grant of common stock in
connection with our acquisition of EduCard in 2008, cash-based customer acquisition expense related to the acquisition of IDC, the impact of the customer
credit plan in 2011, a non-recurring milestone bonus paid to non-executive employees in 2009 upon our reaching a particular long-term operational target and
amortization expenses related to intangible assets and financing costs. Adjusted net income should not be considered as an alternative to net income, operating
income or any other measure of financial performance calculated and presented in accordance with GAAP. Our adjusted net income may not be comparable to
similarly titled measures of other organizations because other organizations may not calculate adjusted net income in the same manner as we do. We prepare
adjusted net income to eliminate the effect of items that we do not consider indicative of our core operating performance. You are encouraged to evaluate our
adjustments and the reasons we consider them appropriate.
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We believe adjusted net income is useful to our board of directors, management and investors in evaluating our operating performance for the following

reasons:

·  because non-cash equity grants made at a certain price and point in time do not necessarily reflect how our business is performing at any particular
time, stock-based customer acquisition expense and stock-based compensation expense are not key measures of our core operating performance;

·  because cash-based customer acquisition expense is an item related to the acquisition of IDC and does not reflect how our business is performing at
any particular time;

·  because our decision to institute the customer credit plan during 2011 which will provide approximately $4.7 million in credits to customers does not
reflect on our current performance;

·  because the milestone bonus was a non-recurring expense that we recorded upon reaching a particular long-term operational target that we do not
expect to incur again in the near-term, the milestone bonus does not necessarily reflect how our business is performing at any particular time and is
therefore not a key measure of our core operating performance;

·  amortization expenses can vary substantially from company to company and from period to period depending upon their financing and accounting
methods, the fair value and average expected life of their acquired intangible assets, their capital structures and the method by which their assets were
acquired; and

·  because the gain we recorded in connection with the settlement of our litigation with the former stockholders of IDC is an item related to the
acquisition of IDC and does not reflect how our business is performing at any particular time.

 
 The following table presents a reconciliation of net income, the most comparable GAAP measure, to adjusted net income for each of the periods

indicated:
 

  Year Ended December 31,  
  2009   2010   2011  
   (in thousands)  
Net income  $ 14,219  $ 25,059  $ 31,893 
Customer credit plan   —   —   4,728 
Stock-based and other customer acquisition expense   2,385   8,013   10,861 
Stock-based compensation expense - ISO   610   1,526   1,743 
Stock-based compensation expense - NQO   777   1,387   2,125 
Other income   —   —   (1,500)
Milestone bonus   1,094   —   — 
Amortization of intangible assets   710   3,070   3,071 
Amortization of deferred finance costs   113   204   76 

Total pre-tax adjustments   5,689   14,200   21,104 
Tax rate   35.9%   38.2%   38.2%
Tax adjustment (1)   1,823   4,841   7,969 

Adjusted net income  $ 18,085  $ 34,418  $ 45,028 
 
(1) We have tax effected all the pre-tax adjustments except for stock-based compensation expense for incentive stock options, which are generally not tax

deductible and other income which is not tax deductible.
 

The adjusted EBITDA and adjusted net income measures presented in this annual report on Form 10-K may not be comparable to similarly titled
measures presented by other companies, and may not be identical to corresponding measures used in our various agreements, in particular our credit facility
agreement.
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Contractual Obligations
 

The following table summarizes our contractual obligations as of December 31, 2011 and the effect such obligations are expected to have on our
liquidity and cash flows in future periods.
 
  Payments Due by Period  

  Total   
Less Than

1 Year   
1 to 3
Years   

3 to 5
Years   

5+
Years   

All
Other  

  (in thousands)  
Long-term debt obligations(1)  $ 7,633  $ —  $ —  $ —  $ 7,633  $ — 
Operating lease obligations(2)   3,633   353   863   720   1,697   — 
Purchase obligations(3)   10,541   4,216   6,325   —   —   — 
Uncertain tax positions and related

interest(4)   380   —   —   —   —   380 
Total contractual obligations  $ 23,807  $ 4,569  $ 7,188  $ 2,720  $ 9,330  $ 380 

 
(1) We have a loan payable which has a maturity date of 2041 and in which payments commence in 2019.
(2) We lease certain property in Oakland, California and Atlanta, Georgia under non-cancelable operating leases. The leases in Oakland and Atlanta are due

to expire in January 2016 and September 2022, respectively.
(3) Purchase obligations include minimum amounts committed under contracts for services.
(4) We are unable to reasonably estimate the timing of such liability and interest payments in individual years due to uncertainties in the timing of the

effective settlement of tax positions.
 

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
 

We are not a party to any off-balance sheet arrangements that have or are reasonably likely to have a current or future effect on our financial condition,
change in our financial condition, results of operations, liquidity, capital expenditures or capital resources that is material.
 

Recent Accounting Pronouncements
 

We review new accounting standards to determine the expected financial impact, if any, that the adoption of each such standard will have. As of the
filing of this report, there were no new accounting standards issued that we expect to have a material impact on our consolidated financial position, results of
operations or liquidity.
 
Item 7A.              Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk
 

Our principal market risk relates to interest rate sensitivity, which is the risk that future changes in interest rates will reduce our net income or net
assets. Our Credit Facility accrues interest at a rate equal to a base rate or Eurodollar rate plus an applicable margin (depending on Higher One, Inc.’s funded
debt to EBITDA ratio). Based upon a sensitivity analysis at January 1, 2012, assuming average outstanding borrowings during the year ended December 31,
2011 of $10.0 million, a hypothetical 50 basis point increase in interest rates would result in an increase in interest expense of $0.05 million.
 

In addition, we receive processing fees paid from our bank partner, based on prevailing interest rates and the total deposits held in our OneAccounts.
Since 2008, fees paid by our bank partner have been relatively small because of low interest rates. A change in interest rates would affect the amount of
processing fees that we earn and therefore would have an effect on our revenue, cash flows and results of operations.
 
Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

 
Information required by this item is contained in our consolidated financial statements, related footnotes and the report of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP,

which information follows the signature page to this annual report and is incorporated herein by reference.
 
Item 9.                 Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure
 

None.
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Item 9A. Controls and Procedures
 

Disclosure Controls and Procedures
 

Under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, we have
evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures as required by Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(b) as of the end of the period covered by this
report. Based on that evaluation, the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were
effective as of December 31, 2011.
 

Report of Management on Internal Controls Over Financial Reporting
 

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting for the company. Internal control over
financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of our financial reporting and the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. Internal control over financial reporting includes policies and
procedures that: 1) pertain to maintaining records that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect our transactions and dispositions of assets; 2) provide
reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of our financial statements in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures are made in accordance with management and board of director authorization; and 3) provide
reasonable assurance regarding the prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of company assets that could have a material
effect on our financial statements. Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements.  Also,
projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or
that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.
 

Management conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting based on the framework in Internal Control –
Integrated Framework  issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Based on this evaluation, management
concluded that the company’s internal control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2011.

The effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2011 has been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an
independent registered public accounting firm, as stated in their report, which is included herein.

 
Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

 
There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting during the quarter ended December 31, 2011 that have materially affected, or are

reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
 

Item  9B.                      Other Information
 

None.
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PART III
 
Item  10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance
 

 The information required by this item with respect to our executive officers is provided under the caption entitled “Executive Officers of the Registrant”
in Part I of this Annual Report on Form 10-K and is incorporated by reference herein. The rest of the information required by this Item will be included in our
Proxy Statement for the 2012 Annual Meeting of Stockholders set forth under the captions “General Information About the Board of Directors” and “Election
of Directors,” which will be filed with the SEC no later than 120 days after the close of the fiscal year ended December 31, 2011 and is incorporated herein by
reference.
 
Item  11. Executive Compensation
 

The information required by this Item will be included in our Proxy Statement for the 2012 Annual Meeting of Stockholders set forth under the captions
“Director Compensation,” “Named Executive Officer Compensation,” “Compensation Committee Report,” and “Compensation Committee Interlocks and
Insider Participation,” which will be filed with the SEC no later than 120 days after the close of the fiscal year ended December 31, 2011 and is incorporated
herein by reference.
 
Item  12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters
 

The information required by this Item will be included in our Proxy Statement for the 2012 Annual Meeting of Stockholders set forth under the captions
“Information Regarding Beneficial Ownership of Principal Shareholders, Directors, and Management” and “Equity Compensation Plan Information,” which
will be filed with the SEC no later than 120 days after the close of the fiscal year ended December 31, 2011 and is incorporated herein by reference.
 
Item  13. Certain Relationships, Related Transactions and Director Independence
 

The information required by this Item will be included in our Proxy Statement for the 2012 Annual Meeting of Stockholders set forth under the caption
“Certain Relationships and Related Transactions,” which will be filed with the SEC no later than 120 days after the close of the fiscal year ended December
31, 2011 and is incorporated herein by reference.
 
Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services
 

The information required by this Item will be included in our Proxy Statement for the 2012 Annual Meeting of Stockholders set forth under the
headings “Fees Billed by Principal Accountant” and “Policy on Audit Committee Pre-Approval of Audit and Permissible Non-Audit Services of Independent
Auditor,” which will be filed with the SEC no later than 120 days after the close of the fiscal year ended December 31, 2011 and is incorporated herein by
reference.

 
PART IV

 
Item  15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules
 

(a)
 

1. Financial Statements
 

The following financial statements are filed as part of this annual report:
  

Document Page
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm F-1
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2010 and 2011 F-2
Consolidated Statements of Operations for the years ended December 31, 2009, 2010 and 2011 F-3
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stockholder’s (Deficit)/Equity for years ended December 31, 2009, 2010 and 2011 F-4
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended December 31, 2009, 2010 and 2011 F-5
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements F-6

 
2. Financial Statement Schedules

 
Financial statement schedules are not submitted because they are not applicable, not required or the information is included in our consolidated

financial statements.
 
3. Exhibits

 
The exhibits listed in the Exhibit Index immediately preceding the exhibits are filed as part of this annual report.
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Signatures
 

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, the registrant has duly caused this Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2011 to be signed on their behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.
 
 
Date: February 15, 2012
 
Higher One Holdings, Inc.
 

/S/    DEAN HATTON
Dean Hatton

President and Chief Executive Officer
(Duly authorized officer and principal executive

officer)
 

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, this report has been signed below by the following persons and in the
capacities and on the dates indicated.
 

Signature  Title  Date
     

/S/    DEAN HATTON     
Dean Hatton  President, Chief Executive Officer and Director

(principal executive officer)
 February 15, 2012

     
/S/    MARK VOLCHEK     

Mark Volchek  Chief Financial Officer and Chairman of the Board of
Directors

(principal financial and accounting officer)

 February 15, 2012

     
/S/    MILES LASATER  Director  February 15, 2012

Miles Lasater     
     

/S/    PAUL BIDDELMAN  Director  February 15, 2012
Paul Biddelman     

     
/S/    DAVID CROMWELL  Director  February 15, 2012

David Cromwell     
     

/S/    STEWART GROSS  Director  February 15, 2012
Stewart Gross     

     
/S/ ROBERT HARTHEIMER  Director  February 15, 2012

Robert Hartheimer     
     

/S/ PATRICK MCFADDEN  Director  February 15, 2012
Patrick McFadden     

     
/S/    CHARLES MORAN  Director  February 15, 2012

Charles Moran     
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of Higher One Holdings, Inc.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated balance sheets and the related consolidated statements of operations, changes in stockholders’ (deficit) equity,
and cash flows present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Higher One Holdings, Inc. and its subsidiaries  at December 31, 2011 and
December 31, 2010, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2011  in conformity
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.  Also in our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective
internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2011, based on criteria established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework  issued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO).  The Company’s management is responsible for these financial statements,
for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting,
included in Report of Management on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting appearing under Item 9A. Our responsibility is to express opinions on these
financial statements, and on the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audits (which was an integrated audit in 2011).  We
conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States).  Those standards require that we
plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement and whether effective
internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects.  Our audits of the financial statements included examining, on a test basis,
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by
management, and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation.  Our audit of internal control over financial reporting included obtaining an
understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and
operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk.  Our audits also included performing such other procedures as we considered necessary
in the circumstances. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinions.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and
the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles.  A company’s internal control over
financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (i) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect
the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit
preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being
made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or
timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements.  Also, projections of any evaluation of
effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance
with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Hartford, Connecticut
February 15, 2012
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HIGHER ONE HOLDINGS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

 
Consolidated Balance Sheets
December 31, 2010 and 2011

(In thousands, except share and per share amounts)

  2010   2011  
Assets       
Current assets:       

Cash and cash equivalents  $ 34,484   $ 39,085 
Investments in marketable securities and certificate of deposit   14,697   15,743 
Accounts receivable   2,622   3,672 
Income receivable   3,719   5,961 
Deferred tax assets   48   33 
Income tax receivable    2,381    12,671 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets   4,600   6,774 
Restricted cash   8,250   — 

Total current assets   70,801   83,939 
Deferred costs   3,782   3,776 
Fixed assets, net   9,919   46,088 
Intangible assets, net   18,456   16,787 
Goodwill   15,830   15,830 
Loan receivable related to New Markets Tax Credit financing (Note 11)   —   7,633 
Other assets   653   712 
Restricted cash   —   1,250 

Total assets   $ 119,441   $ 176,015 
         
Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity         
Current liabilities:         

Accounts payable   $ 3,063   $ 3,118 
Accrued expenses   11,786   26,414 
Acquisition payable   8,250   — 
Deferred revenue   7,974   9,690 

Total current liabilities   31,073   39,222 
Deferred revenue   2,051   2,173 
Loan payable and deferred contribution related to New Markets Tax Credit financing (Note 11)   —   9,801 
Deferred tax liabilities   2,926   1,233 

Total liabilities   36,050   52,429 
Commitments and contingencies (Note 15)         
         
Stockholders’ equity:         

Common stock, $0.001 par value; 200,000,000 shares authorized; 56,109,234 shares issued and outstanding at
December 31, 2010; 57,675,806 shares issued and 56,615,683 shares outstanding at December 31, 2011   5 6   58 

Additional paid-in capital   136,760   161,268 
Treasury stock, 1,060,123 shares at December 31, 2011   —   (16,208)
Accumulated deficit, net of 2008 stock tender transaction of $93,933   (53,425)   (21,532)

Total stockholders’ equity   83,391   123,586 
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity   $ 119,441   $ 176,015 

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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HIGHER ONE HOLDINGS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

 
Consolidated Statements of Operations

For the Years Ended December 31, 2009, 2010 and 2011
(In thousands of dollars, except shares and per share amounts)

  2009   2010   2011  
Revenue:          

Account revenue   $ 68,529   $ 113,516  $ 142,589 
Payment transaction revenue   1,688   15,742   18,733 
Higher education institution revenue   5,135   12,543   16,614 
Other revenue   2,254   3,168   3,112 

Revenue before customer credit plan   77,606   144,969   181,048 
Less customer credit plan   —   —   (4,728)

Revenue   77,606   144,969   176,320 
Cost of revenue   26,529   51,845   67,560 

Gross margin   51,077   93,124   108,760 
Operating expenses:             

General and administrative   18,143   32,381   37,715 
Product development   2,287   3,311   3,265 
Sales and marketing   7,966   16,185   20,265 

Total operating expenses   28,396   51,877   61,245 
Income from operations   22,681   41,247   47,515 

Interest income   4   29   68 
Interest expense   (558)   (729)   (266)
Other income   17   –   1,500 

Net income before income taxes   22,144   40,547   48,817 
Income tax expense   7,925   15,488   16,924 

Net income   $ 14,219   $ 25,059   $ 31,893 
              
Net income available to common stockholders:  

Basic   $ 2,742   $ 16,149   $ 31,893 
Participating Securities   11,477   8,910   – 
Diluted   $ 14,219   $ 25,059   $ 31,893 

             
Weighted average shares outstanding:             

    Basic   9,298,131   33,395,310   55,210,972 
    Diluted   53,150,890   57,302,843   59,553,678 

             
Net income available to common stockholders per common share:  

Basic   $ 0.29  $ 0.48   $ 0.58 
Diluted   0.27   0.44   0.54 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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HIGHER ONE HOLDINGS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

 
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stockholders’ (Deficit) Equity

For the Years Ended December 31, 2009, 2010 and 2011
(In thousands of dollars, except shares)

 

  Convertible Preferred Stock   Common Stock              

  Shares   Amount   Shares   Amount   

Additional
Paid-in
Capital   

Treasury
Stock   

Accumulated
Deficit   

Total Stockholders’
(Deficit) Equity  

Balance at December
31, 2008   12,975,169   $ 80,954   11,626,941   $ 12   $ —   $  —   $ (92,703)   $ (11,737) 
Stock-based

compensation   —   —   —   —   1,387   —   —   1,387 
Purchase of common

stock pursuant to
stock subscription
agreement   —   —   108,000   —   495   —   —   495 

Stock-based customer
acquisition
expense   —   —   —   —   2,385   —   —   2,385 

Tax benefit related to
options   —   —   —   —   148   —   —   148 

Issuance of restricted
common stock   —   —   43,344   —   —   —   —   — 

Exercise of stock
options   —   —   498,480   —   209   —   —   209 

Net income   —   —   —   —   —   —   14,219   14,219 
Balance at December

31, 2009   12,975,169   $  80,954    12,276,765   $  12   $ 4,624    $ —   $  (78,484)   $ 7,106 
Stock-based

compensation   —   —   —   —   2,913   —   —   2,913 
Stock-based customer

acquisition
expense   —   —   —   —   7,274   —   —   7,274 

Tax benefit related to
options and
restricted stock   —   —   —   —   2,811   —   —   2,811 

Conversion of
preferred stock to
common stock   (12,975,169)   (80,954)    38,925,507    39    80,915    —    —    — 

Issuance of common
stock   —   —   3,569,395   4   37,205   —   —   37,209 

Exercise of stock
options, net of
repurchases   —   —   1,337,567   1   1,018   —   —   1,019 

Net income   —   —   —   —   —   —   25,059   25,059 
Balance at December
31, 2010    —   $ —   56,109,234   $  56   $ 136,760   $ —   $ (53,425)   $ 83,391 
Stock-based

compensation   —   —   —   —   4,010   —   —   4,010 
Stock-based customer

acquisition
expense   —   —   —   —   10,493   —   —   10,493 

Tax benefit related to
options   —   —   —   —   8,793   —   —   8,793 

Repurchase of common
stock   —   —   (1,060,123)   —   —   (16,208)   —   (16,208)

Exercise of stock
options   —   —   1,566,572   2   1,212   —   —   1,214 

Net income   —   —   —   —   —   —   31,893   31,893 
Balance at

December 31,
2011   —   $ —   56,615,683  $ 58  $ 161,268  $ (16,208)  $ (21,532)  $ 123,586 

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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HIGHER ONE HOLDINGS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

 
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

For the Years Ended December 31, 2009, 2010 and 2011
(In thousands of dollars)

 
  2009   2010   2011  
Cash flows from operating activities          
Net income   $ 14,219   $ 25,059   $ 31,893 
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:  

Depreciation and amortization   2,969   7,292   7,021 
Amortization of deferred finance costs   113   204   76 
Non-cash interest expense   40   360   — 
Stock-based customer acquisition expense   2,385   7,274   10,493 
Stock-based compensation   1,387   2,913   3,868 
Deferred income taxes   (726)   (3,166)   (1,678)
Gain on litigation settlement agreement   —   —   (1,500)
Loss on disposal of fixed assets   —   24   428 
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:             

Accounts receivable   27   (263)   (1,050)
Income receivable   219   (382)   (2,242)
Deferred costs   (1,917)   (988)   (992)
Prepaid expenses and other current assets   (811)   (4,480)   (6,464)
Other assets   (330)   (125)   109 
Accounts payable   6 6 5   263   5 5 
Accrued expenses   2,109   2,732   2,612 
Deferred revenue   307   3,339   1,838 

Net cash provided by operating activities   20,656   40,056   44,467 
Cash flows from investing activities             
Purchases of available for sale investment securities   —   (20,777)   (14,101)
Proceeds from sales and maturities of available for sale investment securities   —   6,080   13,055 
Purchases of fixed assets, net of changes in construction payables of $0, $347 and  $11,584,
respectively   (2,188)   (7,059)   (40,328)
Additions to internal use software   —   —   (1,379)
Proceeds from development related subsidies   —   —   7,125 
Loan made related to New Markets Tax Credit financing (Note 11)   —   —   (7,633)
Payment to escrow agent   —   (8,250)   (1,250)
Proceeds from escrow agent   —   —   1,500 
Payment of acquisition payable   —   (1,750)   — 
Acquisition of Informed Decisions Corporation, net of cash acquired   (16,543)   —   — 

Net cash used in investing activities   (18,731)   (31,756)   (43,011)
Cash flows from financing activities             
Tax benefit related to stock options   148   2,811   8,793 
Proceeds from exercise of stock options   210   1,019   1,214 
Repurchases of common stock   —   —   (16,208)
Proceeds related to New Markets Tax Credit financing (Note 11)   —   —   7,633 
Deferred contribution related to New Markets Tax Credit financing (Note 11)   —   —   2,168 
Repayments of line of credit   (21,150)   (22,000)   — 
Proceeds from issuance of common stock, net of issuance costs   495   37,209   — 
Proceeds from line of credit   20,250   4,000   — 
Payment of deferred financing costs   —   (187)   (455)
Repayment of capital lease obligations   (27)   (7)   — 

Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities   (74)   22,845   3,145 
Net change in cash and cash equivalents   1,851   31,145   4,601 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period   1,488   3,339   34,484 
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period   $ 3,339   $ 34,484   $ 39,085 
             
Supplemental information:             
Income tax paid   $ 8,732  $ 16,491   $ 14,279 
Cash paid for interest   581   165   190 

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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HIGHER ONE HOLDINGS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

December 31, 2011
(In thousands of dollars, except share and per share amounts)

 
 
1. Nature of Business and Organization
 

Higher One Holdings, Inc., or the Company or HOH, is a leading provider of technology and payment services to the higher education industry. The
Company is incorporated in Delaware and provides a comprehensive suite of disbursement and payment solutions specifically designed for higher education
institutions and their students. The Company has developed proprietary software-based solutions to provide these services. The Company has a wholly-owned
subsidiary, Higher One, Inc., or HOI, which has two wholly owned subsidiaries, Higher One Machines, Inc., or HOMI, and Higher One Real Estate, Inc., or
Real Estate Inc.  Higher One Payments, Inc., or HOPI, was previously a subsidiary and was merged into HOI in December 2011.  As of December 31, 2011,
Real Estate Inc. has a 98% ownership interest in Higher One Real Estate SP, LLC, or Real Estate LLC.  HOMI performs certain operational support functions.
HOPI was the acquired entity formerly known as Informed Decisions Corporation, or IDC, discussed in Note 3. Real Estate Inc. and Real Estate LLC were
each formed to hold and operate certain of our real estate.  The terms “we,” “us,” “our” or “Higher One,” unless the context otherwise requires, mean Higher
One Holdings, Inc. and its subsidiaries.
 
2. Significant Accounting Policies
 

Basis of Presentation and Consolidation
 

The consolidated financial statements reflect our financial position and results of operations and our majority and wholly-owned subsidiaries. All
material intercompany transactions and balances have been eliminated in consolidation.
 

Use of Estimates
 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America requires
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at
the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Estimates include those related to the
valuation of deferred taxes, provision for operational losses, valuation of acquired intangible assets and assumptions used in the valuation of stock options.
Actual results could differ from these estimates.
 

Cash and Cash Equivalents
 

We consider all short-term, highly-liquid investments, with an original maturity of three months or less, to be cash equivalents. Cash equivalents are
recorded at cost which approximates their fair value.
 

Investments in Marketable Securities
 

Marketable securities that have a readily determinable fair value and that we do not intend to trade are classified as available for sale and carried at fair
value. Unrealized holding gains and losses are recorded as other comprehensive income, a separate component of shareholders’ equity, net of deferred income
taxes.
 

Fair Value of Financial Instruments
 

The carrying amounts of our financial instruments, which include cash equivalents, accounts receivable, accounts payable and accrued expenses,
approximate fair value because of the short-term nature of these instruments.

 
Fair Value Measurements

 
We evaluate assets and liabilities subject to fair value measurements on a recurring basis to determine the appropriate level to classify them each

reporting period.
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HIGHER ONE HOLDINGS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, continued

December 31, 2011
(In thousands of dollars, except share and per share amounts)

 
The following table provides the assets and liabilities carried at fair value measured on a recurring basis (in thousands):

 

   
 

Total   

Quoted Prices in Active
Markets for Identical Assets

(Level 1)   
Significant Other

Observable Inputs (Level 2)  
Fair values at December 31, 2011           
Assets:           

U.S. government debt securities   $  15,498  $ 15,498  $ — 
Certificate of deposit    245   —   245 

Total assets    15,743  $ 15,498  $ 245 
             
Fair values at December 31, 2010             
Assets:             

U.S. government debt securities   $ 13,695  $ 13,695  $ — 
Corporate debt securities   1,002    1,002   — 

Total assets   $  14,697  $ 14,697  $ — 
 

We had no recorded unrealized gains or losses from investments as of either December 31, 2010 or 2011 and there is no difference between the
amortized cost and fair value of the securities we held. There were no liabilities carried at fair value measured on a recurring basis as of December 31, 2010 or
2011.
 

At December 31, 2011, our investments have remaining maturities which vary between 1 and 12 months. The fair value of our cash equivalents as of
December 31, 2010 and 2011 was valued based upon Level 1 inputs.

 
Concentration of Credit Risk
 

Our potential concentration of credit risk consists primarily of trade accounts receivable from university clients. For the years ended December 31,
2010 and 2011 no university client individually accounted for more than 10% of trade accounts receivable or revenue.
 

Fixed Assets
 

Property and equipment are stated at cost and are depreciated using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets. Capital lease
assets are depreciated over the lesser of the estimated useful life of the asset or the term of the lease.
 

Goodwill and Intangible Assets
 

Goodwill represents costs in excess of the fair value of consideration transferred over the fair values assigned to the underlying net identifiable assets of
acquired businesses. We test goodwill for impairment annually on October 31, or whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that an impairment
may have occurred, by comparing its fair value to its carrying value. Effective for our test as of October 31, 2011, we adopted Accounting Standard Update
No. 2011-08, “Testing Goodwill for Impairment” which allows for a qualitative assessment to determine if it is more likely than not that the fair value of a
reporting unit is less than its carrying value.  Impairment may result from, among other things, deterioration in the performance of the acquired business,
adverse market conditions, adverse changes in applicable laws or regulations, including changes that restrict the activities of the acquired business, and a
variety of other circumstances. If it is determined that an impairment has occurred, we record a write-down of the carrying value and charge the impairment as
an operating expense in the period the determination is made. We test intangible assets for impairment whenever events occur indicating that the carrying value
may be impaired. As of the completion of our impairment test on October 31, 2010, our reporting unit was not at risk of failing step one of the goodwill
impairment test. We performed the annual impairment test during 2011 with a qualitative assessment and determined it was more likely than not that the fair
value of our reporting unit was not less than its carrying value.
 

The costs of defending and protecting patents are expensed. All costs incurred to the point when a patent application is to be filed are expensed as
incurred.
 

Intangible assets are amortized using the straight-line method over the following estimated useful lives of the assets:
Acquired technology  5 to 7 years
Customer contracts 4 to 10 years
Non-compete agreements 5 years
Trademarks 10 years
 

 
F-7



Table of Contents
HIGHER ONE HOLDINGS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, continued

December 31, 2011
(In thousands of dollars, except share and per share amounts)

 
Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

 
We evaluate the recoverability of our long-lived assets for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of

such assets may not be recoverable. Recoverability of assets to be held and used is measured by a comparison of the carrying amount of any asset to future net
undiscounted cash flows expected to be generated by the asset. If such assets are considered to be impaired, the impairment to be recognized is measured as the
difference between the fair value of the asset compared to its carrying amount.
 

Capitalized Software
 

Computer software costs incurred in the preliminary project stage for software to be used for internal use are expensed as incurred until the
capitalization criteria have been met. The criteria for capitalization is defined as the point at which the preliminary project stage is complete, management
commits to funding a computer software project, it is probable that the project will be completed and the software will be used to perform the function intended.
Capitalization ceases at the point that the computer software project is substantially complete and ready for its intended use. The capitalized costs are
amortized using the straight-line method over the estimated economic life of the software, generally three years. Although we incurred costs relating to software
improvements, for the years ended December 31, 2009 and 2010, none of these costs met the criteria for capitalization.   During the year ended December 31,
2011, approximately $1,402 million of costs were capitalized.

 
 Revenue Recognition and Deferred Revenue

 
We derive revenues from the delivery of services to higher education institution clients and their constituents such as students, faculty, staff and

alumni. Revenues are recognized when persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, services have been rendered, the price is fixed or determinable and
collectability is reasonably assured. We enter into long-term (generally three- or five-year initial term) contracts with the institutions to provide payment and
disbursement services. We categorize revenue as account revenue, payment transaction revenue, higher education institution revenue and other revenue.
Deferred revenue consists of amounts billed to or received from clients for services prior to the recognition of services revenue.  During 2011, we implemented a
customer credit plan which returned fees that had been charged to customers previously which is recorded as a reduction of revenue.  See Note 15 for further
information.
 

Account Revenue
 

Account revenue is generated from deposit accounts opened and funded by students and other members of the campus community. We earn fees for
services based on a fee schedule, including interchange fees charged to merchants, ATM fees, non-sufficient funds fees and other fees. Revenue on such
transactions is recognized when the banking transaction is completed.
 

Payment Transaction Revenue
 

Payment transaction revenue is generated through convenience fees charged to students, parents or other payors who make online payments to higher
education institution clients through our online payment product using a credit or debit card. Payment transaction revenue is recognized as the transaction is
processed and reflects the convenience fees from items paid by our clients’ customers via the service.
 

Higher Education Institution Revenue
 

Revenue from higher education institution clients is generated from fees charged for the services they purchase from us. For refund management
services, clients are charged an annual fee and/or per-transaction fees for certain transactions. The annual fee is recognized ratably over the period of service
and the transaction fees are recognized when the transaction is completed.
 

Revenues from payment services include subscription license fees from clients accessing on-demand application services. Subscription fees are
recognized ratably over the term of the subscription agreement, which generally ranges from 1 to 5 years and are renewable at the option of the customer. For
certain payment transaction products, an implementation fee may be charged. This implementation fee is deferred and recognized over the longer of the
estimated client relationship period, which we estimate is 5 years, or the contractual term of the agreement.
 

Other Revenue
 

Other revenue consists of two main components: (i) fees received from our current bank partner based on prevailing interest rates and the total deposits
held in accounts and (ii) a marketing incentive fee paid by MasterCard International Incorporated, or MasterCard, based on new debit card issuances. We
recognize this revenue as it is earned in each period.
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HIGHER ONE HOLDINGS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, continued

December 31, 2011
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Cost of Revenues

 
Cost of revenue consists primarily of data processing expenses, interchange expenses related to online payment and ATM transactions, amortization of

acquired technology and uncollectible fees and customer service expenses.
 

We incur set-up and other direct costs of implementation at the outset of certain contracts that are comprised primarily of employee labor costs. These
costs are directly related to a contract and are thus deferred and amortized to costs of revenue over the expected term of the contract, which is generally three to
five years. In instances where a client terminates its contract before the end of the expected term of the contract, we modify the amortization period of the
deferred costs of the related contract to equal the remaining period of time until termination of the service. See Note 5 for further information.
 

Stock-based Compensation
 

We measure and recognize compensation expense for share-based awards based on the estimated fair value on the date of grant. We issue new shares
upon the exercise of outstanding stock options.  We estimate fair value of each option using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model with the following
assumptions for stock options granted during the years ended December 31, 2009, 2010 and 2011:
 
 2009  2010  2011
Expected term 5.8 – 6.3 years  6.2 – 6.3 years  5.0 – 6.3 years
Expected volatility 50.7%  51.0% – 51.9%  46.7% – 55.4%
Risk-free rate 2.2% – 3.2%  1.5% – 3.0%  1.1% – 2.7%
Expected dividends None  None  None
 

Expected term is the period of time that the equity grants are expected to remain outstanding. The Company calculates the expected life of the options
using the “simplified method.”  The simplified method is used because we do not yet have sufficient historical exercise data to provide a reasonable basis to
estimate the expected term. We use the midpoint between the end of the vesting period and the contractual life of the grant to estimate option exercise timing. The
simplified method was applied for all options granted during 2009, 2010 and 2011.
 

Expected volatility is a measure of the amount by which a financial variable such as a share price has fluctuated (historical volatility) or is expected to
fluctuate (expected volatility) during a period. We have based our estimated volatility primarily on the historical volatility of a peer group of publically traded
companies which includes companies that are in the same industry or are our competitors. We use historical volatility of a peer group because we do not yet
have sufficient historical exercise data to provide a reasonable basis to estimate our expected volatility.
 

Risk-free rate is the average U.S. Treasury rate at the time of grant having a term that most closely approximates the expected term of the option.
 

Expected dividends have not been assumed as we have never declared or paid dividends on our common stock and do not anticipate paying dividends
in the foreseeable future.
 

Restricted stock is a stock award that entitles the holder to receive shares of our common stock as the award vests over time. The fair value of each
restricted stock award is estimated using the intrinsic value method which is based on the fair market value price on the date of grant. Compensation expense
for restricted stock awards is recognized ratably over the vesting period on a straight-line basis.

 
Provision for Operational Losses

 
We have entered into an agreement with a third-party FDIC-insured bank to hold all deposit accounts of our accountholders. Although those deposit

funds are held by the third-party bank, we are liable to the bank for any uncollectible accountholder overdrafts and any other losses due to fraud or theft. We
provide reserves for our estimated overdraft liability and our estimated uncollectible fees to the third-party bank. The provision for these reserves is included
within the costs of revenue on the accompanying consolidated financial statements. Such reserve is based upon an analysis of outstanding overdrafts and
historical repayment rates. See Note 8 for further information.
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Income Taxes
 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined based on temporary differences between the financial reporting bases and the tax bases of assets and
liabilities. Deferred tax assets are also recognized for tax net operating loss carry-forwards. These deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using the
enacted tax rates and laws that will be in effect when such amounts are expected to reverse or be utilized. The realization of total deferred tax assets is contingent
upon the generation of future taxable income. Valuation allowances are provided to reduce such deferred tax assets to amounts more likely than not to be
ultimately realized.
 

Income tax provision or benefit includes U.S. federal, and state and local income taxes and is based on pre-tax income or loss. In determining the
estimated annual effective income tax rate, we analyze various factors, including projections of our annual earnings and taxing jurisdictions in which the
earnings will be generated, the impact of state and local taxes and our ability to use tax credits and net operating loss carry-forwards.
 

We utilize a more-likely-than-not recognition threshold, based on the technical merits of the tax position taken, when we consider the need for a
provision related to an uncertain tax provision.  Tax positions that meet the more-likely-than-not recognition threshold are measured as the largest amount of the
tax benefits, determined on a cumulative probability basis, which is more likely than not to be realized upon ultimate settlement in the financial statements. We
recognize interest and penalties related to income tax matters in income tax expense.
 

Business Combinations
 

When we are the acquiring entity in a business combination, we recognize all of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed in the transaction at their
acquisition-date fair value. Contingent consideration, if any, is recognized and measured at fair value on the acquisition date. Transaction costs associated
with an acquisition are expensed as incurred.
 

Basic and Diluted Net Income Available to Common Stockholders per Common Share
 

As discussed in Note 12 below, on June 22, 2010, we consummated an initial public offering of common stock. Had we made a distribution to
stockholders prior to the initial public offering, all classes of preferred stock would have participated pro rata in dividends if and when we declared a
dividend. Therefore, the two class method of calculating basic net income per common share was applied for the periods prior to the initial public offering.
Upon completion of the initial public offering, all classes of preferred stock were converted to common shares.
 
    Basic net income per common share excludes dilution for potential common stock issuances and is computed by dividing net income available to
common stockholders by the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding for the period.  Diluted net income per common share reflects the
potential dilution that could occur if securities or other contracts to issue common stock were exercised or converted into common stock.  For the calculation of
diluted net income per common share, the basic weighted-average number of shares is increased by the dilutive effect of restricted stock and stock options
using the treasury-stock method.  The treasury-stock method assumes that the options or warrants are exercised at the beginning of the year (or date of issue if
later), and that the company uses those proceeds to purchase common stock for treasury at the average price for the reporting period.
 

The following table provides a reconciliation of the numerators and denominators used in computing basic and diluted net income available to common
stockholders per common share:
  2009   2010   2011  
Net income available to common shareholders:          

Basic  $ 2,742  $ 16,149  $ 31,893 
Participating securities   11,477   8,910   — 
Diluted  $ 14,219  $ 25,059  $ 31,893 

             
Weighted average shares outstanding:             

Basic   9,298,131   33,395,310   55,210,972 
Stock awards   43,852,759   23,907,533   4,342,706 
Diluted   53,150,890   57,302,843   59,553,678 

             
Net income per common share:             

Basic  $ 0.29  $ 0.48  $ 0.58 
Diluted  $ 0.27  $ 0.44  $ 0.54 

 
The dilutive effect of stock options totaling 2,876,400, 936,728 and 1,091,876 were not included in the computation of diluted net income per

common share for the years ended December 31, 2009, 2010 and 2011, respectively, as their effect would be anti-dilutive. Anti-dilutive securities are securities
that upon conversion or exercise increase earnings per share (or reduce the loss per share). Restricted stock shares totaling 2,272,809, 1,701,975
and 1,073,556 were not included in the computation of either basic or diluted earnings per share as all necessary conditions for vesting had not been satisfied
by the end of the years ended December 31, 2009, 2010 and 2011, respectively.
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Comprehensive Net Income

 
Comprehensive net income includes net income, combined with any unrealized gains and losses not included in earnings and reflected as a separate

component of stockholders’ equity. There were no differences between net income and comprehensive net income for the years ended December 31, 2009, 2010
and 2011.
 

Segment Information
 

We currently operate in one business segment, namely, providing technology and payment services to the higher education industry. We provide
products and services to two distinct, but related target markets, higher education institutions and their students. We are not organized by market and we are
managed and operated as one business. A single management team that reports to the chief operating decision maker comprehensively manages the entire
business. We do not operate any material separate lines of business or separate business entities with respect to our products or product development.
Accordingly, we do not accumulate discrete financial information with respect to separate product lines and we do not have separately reportable segments. All
of our material identifiable assets are located in the United States.
 

Recent Accounting Pronouncements
 

There were no new accounting standards adopted during 2011 which had a material impact on our consolidated financial position, results of operations
or liquidity.  There were no new accounting standards issued which we expect to have a material impact on our consolidated financial position, results of
operations or liquidity.
 
3. Acquisitions
 

Intellectual Property Acquisition
 

On June 9, 2008, HOI entered into a purchase agreement with one of the officers of Educard, LLC to purchase certain intellectual property owned by
this individual. The purchase price of 3,000,000 shares of common stock of the Company issued to the individual was subject to restrictions and certain
repurchase rights through December 31, 2011 based upon student enrollment at qualified educational institutions, which convert to HOI’s platform as defined
in the agreement. As specific student milestones were met, the individual vested in a defined number of shares.  There were 1,051,878 shares which did not
vest and which will revert back to us in 2012.  We have accounted for the vesting of shares as a selling expense and have recorded $2,385, $7,274 and
$10,493 of expense associated with shares that were vested in 2009, 2010 and 2011, respectively, based on the fair value of the shares at the time they were
vested.
 

Informed Decisions Corporation Acquisition
 

On November 19, 2009, the Company entered into a Stock Purchase Agreement, or SPA, with IDC to acquire all of the shares of outstanding capital
stock of IDC. The initial purchase price was $27,489. The purchase price was comprised of cash paid of $17,889, excluding cash acquired, and an
acquisition payable of $9,600.  Pursuant to the SPA, the Company was required to make post-closing payments of $10,000. The post-closing payments
called for four quarterly payments of $1,750 each on or before March 31, June 30, September 30 and December 31, 2010. A final post-closing payment of
$3,000 was to be paid on or before December 31, 2010, but was subject to an escrow deposit reduction in regard to any applicable indemnification
adjustments. After making the post-closing payment on March 31, 2010 of $1,750, the remaining amount due was placed into an escrow account. See Notes
4, 10 and 15 for further information.
 

IDC, which was renamed HOPI upon the acquisition and then subsequently merged into HOI on December 31, 2011, conducts business as CASHNet
and provides payment services to higher education institutions. Management believes that the acquisition of IDC will allow us to continue to cross-sell its
products to acquired IDC customers, thereby resulting in greater market penetration and increased revenue growth.
 

The acquisition was accounted for under the purchase method of accounting. Assets acquired and liabilities assumed were recorded at their fair values
as of November 19, 2009. We have included the financial results of HOPI in our consolidated financial statements beginning November 20, 2009.
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Under the acquisition method of accounting, the total fair value of consideration transferred was allocated to IDC’s net tangible and intangible assets

based on their estimated fair values as of November 19, 2009. The excess of the fair value of consideration transferred over the fair value of the net tangible
and identifiable intangible assets was recorded as goodwill. The fair values of the intangible assets acquired and the deferred revenue assumed was based upon
a third party valuation, which was based on estimates and assumptions that are subject to change. The fair value of consideration transferred was allocated as
follows as of November 19, 2009:
 
Assets acquired:    
Cash and cash equivalents  $ 1,346 
Accounts receivable   1,686 
Prepaid and other assets   984 
Fixed assets   102 
Deferred tax assets, net   619 
Deferred deployment costs   2,549 
Intangible assets   20,880 
Goodwill   15,830 

Total assets acquired  $ 43,996 
Liabilities assumed:     
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities   2,321 
Deferred revenue   6,310 
Deferred tax liabilities   7,876 

Total liabilities assumed  $ 16,507 
Total fair value of consideration transferred  $ 27,489 

 
    Definite-lived intangible assets of $20,880 consist of the value assigned to IDC’s customer relationships of $10,160, developed software of $6,790,
trademarks of $450 and non-compete arrangements between us and the two former shareholders of IDC of $3,480. These intangible assets, other than the non-
compete agreements, are not deductible for tax purposes.
 

As of the date of acquisition, IDC maintained relationships with over 200 active customers. The majority of these customer relationships are contractual
in nature and it has been determined that the customer relationships meet the separability criterion of ASC 805. The value assigned to IDC’s customer
relationships was determined by utilizing the direct method of the Income Approach to valuation, whereby after-tax cash flows attributable to the existing
customer relationships were examined. A discounted cash flow analysis was performed whereby the expected cash flows of the acquired customers were
estimated assuming an attrition rate based on the average life of a customer. The present value of the cash flows was added to the present value of the related tax
shield associated with the customer relationships’ amortization to determine the fair value of the customer relationships. The estimated cash flows were based
on revenues for those existing customers net of operating expenses and net of contributory asset charges associated with servicing those customers. The
projected revenues were based on existing recurring subscription revenues, revenue associated with the deployment of subscription backlog, additional sales of
add- on modules and new products to be developed and adopted by existing customers. Operating expenses were estimated based on the supporting
infrastructure expected to sustain the assumed revenue streams. Net contributory asset charges were based on the estimated fair value of those assets that
contribute to the generation of the estimated cash flows and estimated to be 8% of gross revenue. A discount rate of 23% was deemed appropriate for valuing the
existing customer base. We are amortizing the value of IDC’s customer relationships on a straight-line basis over an estimated useful life of ten years.
 

The value assigned to IDC’s developed software was determined by utilizing the relief from royalty method of the Income Approach to valuation,
whereby the net cash flows generated by the sales revenue, license income, or royalty income associated with the distribution of the software system in the
marketplace was projected. The relief from royalty method was used to estimate the cost savings that accrue to the owner of the intangible asset who would
otherwise have to pay royalties (or license fees) on revenue earned through use of the asset. The royalty rate used in the analysis was based on an analysis of
empirical, market-driven royalty rates for comparable or guideline intangible assets. In the case of product software, revenues are projected over the expected
remaining economic life of the software. The market-derived royalty rate is then applied to estimate the royalty savings. The net after-tax royalty savings are
calculated for each year in the remaining economic life of the software and then discounted to a present value, as in the discounted cash flow method. A
discount rate of 23% was deemed appropriate for valuing developed software and was based on the risks associated with the respective cash flows. We are
amortizing the developed software on a straight-line basis over an estimated useful life of seven years.
 

The value assigned to IDC’s trademarks was determined by utilizing the relief from royalty method of the Income Approach to valuation, whereby net
after–tax royalty savings are calculated for each year in the remaining economic life of the trademarks and then discounted to a present value, as in the
discounted cash flow method. The trademarks are comprised of “CASHNet” and “CASHNet Business Offices.” Service marks include “CASHNet” and
“CASHNet…any payment, anytime, anywhere.” The royalty rate of 0.5% used to value the trademarks was based on estimates of prevailing royalty rates
paid for the use of similar trademarks in arm’s-length licensing transactions of companies that operate in related industries. A discount rate of 23% was
deemed appropriate for valuing IDC’s trademarks and was based on the risks associated with the respective royalty savings. We are amortizing the
trademarks on a straight-line basis over an estimated useful life of ten years.
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Upon close of the acquisition, we also entered into two separate five year non-compete agreements with each of the former shareholders of IDC. The

value assigned to IDC’s non-compete agreements was determined by utilizing the discounted cash flow method of the Income Approach to valuation, whereby a
comparative discounted cash flow analysis was completed. In the analysis, the expected cash flows of IDC were estimated assuming the covenant not to
compete is executed and was then compared to the diminished cash flows assuming the covenant not to compete was absent whereby the company is assumed
to be “impaired” by the competition and solicitation of the covenantor for the term of the covenant.  The difference in the present value of the cash flows under
the two scenarios was then probability weighted (based on the likelihood of the covenantor competing and soliciting) and added to the present value of the
related tax-shield associated with the covenant’s amortization to determine the fair value of the covenant. A discount rate of 23% was deemed appropriate for
valuing the covenants not to compete. We are amortizing the value of IDC’s non-competes on a straight-line basis over the actual term of the agreement of five
years.
 

Of the total purchase price, approximately $15,830 has been allocated to goodwill. Goodwill represents the excess of the fair value of consideration
transferred of an acquired business over the fair value of the net tangible and intangible assets acquired. Goodwill exists in the transaction as a result of value
beyond that of the tangible and other intangible assets, attributable to synergies that exist in the combined business. The goodwill from this transaction is not
deductible for tax purposes.
 

IDC does not constitute a separate operating segment and we have integrated the payment services business into our then existing business. We have
concluded that our operating segment is a single reporting unit. Our single operating segment does not have any components that constitute a separate business
for which discrete information will be available. We planned to operate and have operated the combined enterprise as one integrated business. Accordingly, the
goodwill arising from the acquisition was assigned to our single operating segment and single reporting unit.
 

As a result of the IDC acquisition, the Company recorded tax deferred liabilities of $7,876 resulting primarily from the acquired intangible assets
which have no tax basis. The deferred tax liabilities are offset by approximately $619 in net deferred tax assets that relate primarily to federal and state net
operating losses and certain amortization and depreciation expenses.
 

Deferred Revenue
 

In connection with the purchase price allocation, the estimated fair value of the support obligation assumed from IDC in connection with the acquisition
was determined utilizing a cost build-up approach. The cost build-up approach determines fair value by estimating the costs relating to fulfilling the obligation
plus a normal profit margin. The sum of the costs and operating profit approximates the amount that we would be required to pay a third party to assume the
support obligation. Estimated costs to fulfill the support obligation, including cost of sales, administrative expenses and expected income taxes, were based on
IDC’s historical and projected financial ratios and the guideline public company financial ratios. These estimated costs did not include any costs associated
with selling efforts. Profit associated with selling efforts is excluded because IDC had concluded the selling effort on the contracts prior to November 19, 2009.
As a result, in allocating the purchase price, we recorded an adjustment to reduce the carrying value of IDC’s November 19, 2009 deferred revenue to
$6,310 which represented our estimate of the fair value of the service obligation assumed. As former IDC customers renew these annually billed service
contracts, we will recognize revenue for the full value of the service contracts over the remaining terms of the contracts.
 

Pro Forma Financial Information (Unaudited)
 

The financial information in the table below summarizes the combined results of operations of HOH and IDC on a pro forma basis, as though the
companies had been combined as of the beginning of the period presented. The pro forma financial information is presented for informational purposes only
and is not indicative of the results of operations that would have been achieved if the acquisition had taken place at the beginning of each of the periods
presented. The pro forma financial information for all periods presented also includes amortization expense from acquired intangible assets, adjustments to
interest expense, interest income and related tax effects.
 

The pro forma financial information for the year ended December 31, 2009 combines the historical results for the Company for the year ended
December 31, 2009 and the historical results for IDC for the period from January 1, 2009 to November 19, 2009.

 
  2009  
Total revenues  $ 92,549 
Net income   12,275 
Basic net income per common share   0.25 
Diluted net income per common share   0.23 
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4. Restricted Cash
 

On June 22, 2010, HOI provided notice and a certificate of claim for indemnity to the former stockholders of IDC under the Stock Purchase Agreement
arising from certain misrepresentations and breaches of warranty. At the same time, HOI deposited an amount of $8,250 with an escrow agent, equal to the
remaining balance of the acquisition payable. The funds which were held in escrow are shown on the accompanying balance sheet as restricted cash as of
December 31, 2010. All amounts were paid out of escrow during 2011, $2,000 of which was paid to us and the remainder that was paid to the former
shareholders of IDC. See Note 15 for additional discussion of the indemnity claim made by HOI, the complaint filed by the former stockholders of IDC and
the settlement that was agreed upon by the parties
 

Also, in February 2011 we deposited $1,075 into an escrow account to fulfill our obligations related to a sales and use tax agreement with the
Connecticut Development Authority.  See Note 11 for additional information.  This amount is reflected on the condensed consolidated balance sheet as
noncurrent restricted cash.
 
5. Deferred Costs
 

Deferred costs consist of the following:
 

  December 31,  
  2010   2011  
Deferred implementation costs  $ 9,788  $ 8,484 
Deferred financing costs   222   978 
Less: Accumulated amortization   (6,228)   (5,686)
  $ 3,782  $ 3,776 
 

For the years ended December 31, 2009, 2010 and 2011, we deferred $2,008, $1,308 and $1,447 respectively, of such costs. Amortization of deferred
costs for the years ended December 31, 2009, 2010 and 2011 was $1,583, $2,538 and $1,453, respectively. Amortization of deferred financing costs is
charged to interest expense. Amortization of deferred implementation costs is charged to cost of revenue.
 
6. Fixed Assets
 

Fixed assets consist of the following:

  Estimated        
  Useful Life   December 31,  
  (in years)   2010   2011  
          
Building and related improvements   39   $ —  $ 32,758 
Computers and software   7    4,549   5,881 
Equipment   7    6,508   9,591 
Furniture and fixtures   5    481   515 
Leasehold improvements   5    376   498 
Assets under construction       2,529   2,776 
       14,443   52,019 
Less: Accumulated depreciation    (4,524)   (5,931)
      $ 9,919  $ 46,088 
 

Depreciation and amortization of fixed assets for the years ended December 31, 2009, 2010 and 2011 was $883, $1,684 and $2,573, respectively.
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7. Goodwill and Intangible Assets
 

Goodwill and intangible assets consist of the following:
 

  
Weighted Average

Amortization Period  December 31,  
  (in years)   2010   2011  
Goodwill     $ 15,830  $ 15,830 
            
Acquired technology   7   $ 6,883  $ 6,883 
Internal use software   3    422   422 
Contracts and customer lists   10    11,031   11,031 
Trademarks and domain names   10    450   450 
Covenants not to compete   5    4,016   4,016 
Internal use software in development       —   1,402 
       22,802   24,204 
Less: Accumulated amortization       (4,346)   (7,417)
Intangible assets, net      $ 18,456  $ 16,787 
 

Intangible assets from acquisitions are amortized over five to ten years. Amortization expense related to intangible assets was approximately $710,
$3,070 and $3,071 for the years ended December 31, 2009, 2010 and 2011, respectively. Amortization related to internal use software is expensed to cost of
service revenues, while amortization of other intangibles is expensed to general and administrative expenses. Amortization expense for the years ended
December 31, 2012, 2013, 2014, 2015 and 2016 is expected to be approximately $2,949, $2,783, $2,644, $2,033 and $1,918 respectively.
 
8. Provision for Operational Losses
 

Activity in the provision for operational losses for each of the last three years is as follows:
 

 
 December 31,  
 2009   2010   2011  

(Prepayment of) reserve for operational losses, beginning  $ 201  $ 533  $ (1,870)
Provision for operational losses   5,492   7,197   8,860 
Payments to third party for losses, net of recoveries   (5,160)   (9,600)   (10,786)
(Prepayment of) reserve for operational losses, ending  $ 533  $ (1,870)  $ (3,796)
 

The balance as of December 31, 2010 and 2011 is included within prepaid expenses and other current assets on the accompanying balance sheet.
 
9. Accrued Expenses
 

Accrued expenses consist of the following:
 
  December 31,  
  2010   2011  
Construction related  $ 347  $ 11,931 
Compensation and benefits   5,066   4,093 
Bank and payment processing expenses   2,167   5,680 
Data processing   1,487   1,364 
Other   2,719   3,346 
  $ 11,786  $ 26,414 
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10. Debt and Acquisition Payable
 

Credit Facilities
 

August 2008 Facility
 

In August 2008, HOI entered into a credit agreement with two lenders for a revolving loan facility and such agreement was amended in July 2009 and
November 2009, or the August 2008 Facility. The August 2008 Facility permitted up to $25,000 in borrowings and matured on December 31, 2010. There
was no amount outstanding at maturity under the August 2008 Facility. The August 2008 Facility also provided for a letter of credit facility of $3,000 and
permitted acquisitions up to an aggregate of $2,000.  Amounts borrowed under the August 2008 Facility bore interest based on LIBOR, plus an interest rate
margin based upon a funded debt to EBITDA ratio. At December 31, 2009, the interest rate on the revolving loan facility was 1.9%.
 

December 2010 Facility
 

On December 31, 2010, HOI entered into a new senior secured revolving credit facility in an amount of $50,000, the December 2010 Facility. The
December 2010 Facility provides for a letter of credit facility of up to $3,000 and includes certain restrictions on the amount of acquisitions we may complete.
Each of HOH, HOMI, Real Estate Inc. and Real Estate LLC (together with HOI, the Loan Obligors) is a guarantor of HOI’s obligations under the December
2010 Facility.
 

The December 2010 Facility is secured by a perfected first priority security interest in all of the capital stock of Higher One, Inc. and its subsidiaries,
and substantially all of each Loan Obligor’s tangible and intangible assets, other than intellectual property. Each of the Loan Obligors has also granted to the
administrative agent under the December 2010 Facility a negative pledge of the intellectual property of HOI and its subsidiaries including patents and
trademarks that are pending and acquired in the future.
 

At our option, each advance under the December 2010 Facility accrues interest on the basis of a base rate or on the basis of a one-month, two-month or
three-month Eurodollar rate, plus in either case, the Applicable Margin based on our Funded Debt to EBITDA, as each term is defined in the December 2010
Facility, at the time each loan is made. We also pay commitment fees for the unused portion of the revolving loan on a quarterly basis equal to the product
obtained by multiplying the Applicable Margin for commitment fees by the average daily unused commitment for that calendar quarter. The Applicable Margin
for base rate advances is between (1.25%) and 0%, subject to a minimum total rate of 2%, and the Applicable Margin for Eurodollar rate advances is between
2.0% and 3.25%. The Applicable Margin for commitment fees is between 0.25% and 0.375%. The base rate is the higher of Bank of America’s announced
prime rate, the federal funds rate plus 0.50% or the Eurodollar rate plus 1.00%. Interest on Eurodollar loans is payable at the end of each applicable interest
period. Interest on base rate advances is payable quarterly in arrears.
 

The December 2010 Facility contains certain affirmative covenants including, among other things, covenants to furnish the lenders with financial
statements and other financial information and to provide the lenders notice of material events and information regarding collateral. The December 2010
Facility also contains certain negative covenants that, among other things, restrict Higher One, Inc.’s ability, subject to certain exceptions, to incur additional
indebtedness, grant liens on its assets, undergo fundamental changes, make investments, sell assets, make restricted payments, change the nature of its
business and engage in transactions with its affiliates.
 

In addition, the December 2010 Facility contains certain financial covenants that require us to maintain a minimum EBITDA level measured on the
prior four fiscal quarters of $50 million, a funded debt to EBITDA ratio not to exceed 2.00 to 1.00, and a fixed charge coverage ratio of at least 1.25 to 1.00.
We were in compliance with all of the applicable debt covenants in the December 2010 Facility as of December 31, 2011.
 

The Company incurred financing costs of $187 in 2010, relating to the December 2010 Facility. These financing costs are included in deferred costs on
the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

 
Acquisition Payable

 
In November 2009, in conjunction with the acquisition of IDC, we incurred payment obligations totaling $10,000 to the former shareholders of IDC.

The agreement called for four quarterly payments of $1,750 to be made on or before each quarter ended March 31, June 30, September 30 and December 31,
2010. The agreement also called for one final payment of $3,000 on or before December 31, 2010, subject to adjustments for indemnification claims. The
payment obligations were non-interest bearing. The acquisition payable was recorded at is fair value of $9,600 based upon an estimated interest rate of 5.0%.
The payable was accreted to its principle amount on an effective interest rate method. For the years ended December 31, 2009 and 2010 we recorded $40 and
$360 of interest expense, respectively.
 

During 2010 we made one payment of $1,750 to the former shareholders of IDC and deposited the remaining $8,250 in an escrow account.  All
amounts were paid out of escrow during 2011, $2,000 of which was paid to us and the remainder that was paid to the former shareholders of IDC. See Note
15.

 
F-16



Table of Contents
HIGHER ONE HOLDINGS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, continued

December 31, 2011
(In thousands of dollars, except share and per share amounts)

 
11. Real Estate Development Project and New Markets Tax Credit Financing
 

As of December 31, 2011, we have incurred approximately $32.8 million, net of the grants, credits and subsidies described below, on a project that
developed two previously existing commercial buildings located in New Haven, Connecticut into our new corporate headquarters, to which we moved at the
end of 2011.  Real Estate LLC engaged Winchester Arms NH, LLC to develop the buildings and John Moriarty & Associates, or Moriarty, to be the general
contractor for the project.
 

On February 18, 2011, Real Estate LLC signed a land lease with Science Park Development Corporation, or SPDC, which owns the property on
which the two buildings reside, concerning the leasing, expansion and buyout of the land. The lease provides for a long term lease of the land at a nominal cost
per year and includes a buyout option for a nominal amount after seven years.
 

During the year ended December 31, 2011, we received a number of grants, credits and subsidies which have reduced our basis in the building.  Many
of these programs have criteria that we must meet in order to prevent forfeiture or repayment of the grants and credits and also criteria that we must meet on an
ongoing basis which are described below.
 

Name of program  Amount  Continuing criteria  Potential recapture or forfeiture
Federal Historic Preservation Tax
Incentives Program

 $6,000  We may not dispose of the building or reduce
our ownership interest below a specified level
for five years following the date the building
is placed in service.
 

 The recapture amount is reduced 20% of
the total amount claimed each year.

Department of Economic and
Community Development Urban Act
Grant and Environmental Remediation
Grant

   5,500 We must (i) maintain corporate headquarters
in Connecticut for the next 10 years, (ii)
maintain a specified minimum average
employment level for the years 2015 – 2018
and (iii) adhere to other administrative
criteria.

 

 The full amount of the grant, plus 7.5%
may be required to be repaid to the
Department of Economic and
Community Development.

Connecticut Development Authority
Sales and Use Tax Relief Program

      757  We must maintain corporate headquarters in
Connecticut for the next 10 years.

 

 The full amount of benefit received from
the program plus 7.5%.

Other contributions   
1,625

 None  None

 
 All amounts, other than the Federal Historic Preservation Tax Incentives Program, were received by us during 2011.  The historic tax credits are

expected to be received in 2012 and are included within prepaid expenses and other currents assets as of December 31, 2011.
 

We provided a guaranty to the Department of Economic and Community Development related to our obligation to repay the amounts granted to us if we
fail to meet the criteria described above.  The maximum potential amount of future payments of this guaranty is approximately $5.9 million.  We currently
believe that the likelihood of us being required to make a payment under this guaranty is remote.
 

 In December 2011, we consummated a financing transaction related to the federal New Markets Tax Credit, or NMTC, program which provided
funding for our real estate development project.  The NMTC program is designed to encourage new or increased investments into operating businesses and real
estate projects located in low-income communities.  In connection with this transaction, HOI provided a loan of $7,633 to an unrelated third party.  We
consider this loan to be a debt instrument held to maturity which is recorded at amortized cost and the value as of December 31, 2011 approximates fair
value.  The loan bears interest at 1.0% which is payable quarterly and matures in December 2041.  Repayments on the loan commence in December 2019.
 

Also in connection with this transaction, Real Estate LLC entered into a loan agreement and borrowed $7,633 from an unrelated third party.  Real
Estate LLC’s loan bears interest at approximately 1.1% which is payable quarterly and matures in December 2041.  Repayments on the loan commence in
December 2019.  This loan is secured by the real estate development project.  In addition to the loan agreement, Real Estate Inc. admitted a new member into
Real Estate LLC.  The new member contributed $2,168 of capital in exchange for a 2% interest in Real Estate LLC. We have presented this contribution on the
consolidated balance sheet as a deferred contribution as a result of our expectation that we will re-acquire this interest in approximately seven years through the
exercise of a put option for a nominal price by the counterparty to this agreement or through a fair value call option that we can exercise.
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In connection with the NMTC transaction, we have provided a guaranty related to our actions or inactions which cause either a NMTC disallowance or

recapture event.  In the event that we cause either a recapture or disallowance of the tax credits expected to be generated under this program, then we will be
required to repay the disallowed or recaptured tax credits plus an amount sufficient to pay the taxes on such repayment, to the counterparty of the
agreement.  This guaranty will remain in place for seven years following this NMTC transaction. The maximum potential amount of future payments of this
guaranty is approximately $6.0 million.  We currently believe that the likelihood of us being required to make a payment under this guaranty is remote.
 
12. Capital Stock
 

Initial Public Offering
 

On June 22, 2010, we consummated an initial public offering of 3,569,395 shares of newly issued common stock and 6,780,605 shares offered by
selling stockholders. The aggregate public offering price of the offering amount registered was $124,200 and the offering did not terminate before all of the
shares registered in the registration statement were sold. Proceeds to the Company of $37,209, net of issuance costs were used to pay outstanding amounts on
the Credit Facility, make an escrow payment of $8,250 related to the acquisition payable described in Note 10 above and fund working capital. The
Company did not receive any of the proceeds from the sale of shares by the selling stockholders.
 

Upon consummation of the Company’s initial public offering, 417,049 shares of Series A convertible preferred stock outstanding, 1,086,784 shares
of Series B convertible preferred stock outstanding, 2,522,554 shares of Series C convertible preferred stock outstanding, 2,180,633 shares of Series C-1
convertible preferred stock outstanding, 1,313,604 shares of Series D convertible preferred stock outstanding and 5,454,545 shares of Series E convertible
preferred stock outstanding were converted into a total of 38,925,507 shares of common stock after giving effect to the 3-for-1 stock split discussed below.
Following the consummation of the offering, there were no shares of preferred stock outstanding.
 

Common Stock
 

In connection with the initial public offering, the Company effected a 3-for-1 stock split of the outstanding shares of its Common Stock that was
previously approved by stockholders. All common share amounts and per common share amounts have been adjusted in the financial statements for all
periods presented. The Company is authorized to issue up to 200,000,000 shares of Common Stock with a par value of $.001 per share. Each share of
Common Stock entitles the holder to one vote on all matters submitted to a vote of the Company’s stockholders.
 

Common stockholders are not entitled to receive dividends unless declared by the Board of Directors. Any such dividends would be subject to the
preferential dividend rights of the preferred stockholders. If such a dividend is declared, then the Board of Directors shall declare at the same time a dividend
upon the outstanding shares of Preferred Stock as if the Preferred Stock had converted to Common Stock.
 

Preferred Stock
 

The Company is authorized to issue 20,000,000 shares of Preferred Stock with a par value of $.001 per share.
 

Treasury Stock
 

In August 2011, our board of directors authorized a share repurchase program pursuant to which we may repurchase up to $40.0 million of our issued
and outstanding shares of common stock through September 7, 2012.  During the year ended December 31, 2011, we repurchased 1,060,123 shares of our
common stock at a cost of $16.2 million.  All repurchased shares were held in treasury as of December 31, 2011.
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13. Stock Based Compensation
 

Our Board of Directors adopted the 2000 Stock Plan, or 2000 Plan, on April 20, 2000. The Plan, as amended, permitted the granting of stock options
and restricted stock to employees and directors not to exceed in the aggregate 11,400,000 shares of Common Stock. Such options expire ten years from the date
of grant and options are no longer able to be granted under the 2000 Plan. On March 26, 2010, our Board of Directors adopted the 2010 Equity Incentive Plan,
or 2010 Plan. The 2010 Plan permits the granting of stock options, restricted stock and other stock-based awards to employees and directors not to exceed in
the aggregate 4,860,000 shares of Common Stock. Options for our employees under the 2000 Plan and 2010 Plan vest over periods ranging from one month to
five years, with the majority vesting as follows: one-fifth of the granted options vest one year from the date of grant; the remaining four-fifths vest at a rate of
1/48 per month over the remaining four years of the vesting period. We primarily grant incentive stock options, but occasionally grant nonqualified stock
options to key members of management.
 

As of December 31, 2011, 5,083,266 and 4,847,225 shares of common stock were reserved under the 2000 Plan and 2010 Plan, respectively, of
which 3,740,025 remain available for grant under the 2010 Plan.  A summary of stock option and restricted stock activity under the Company’s stock plan
for the years ended December 31, 2009, 2010 and 2011, and changes during the years then ended are as follows:

  Stock Options   Restricted Stock  

   Shares   

Weighted
Average Exercise

Price    Shares   

Weighted
Average Grant

Stock Price  
Outstanding at December 31, 2008   7,780,416  $ 1.57   —  $ — 
Granted   1,241,250   7.97   43,344   10.80 
Exercised   (498,480)   0.42   —   —  
Forfeited / Canceled   (59,754)   3.51   —   — 
Outstanding at December 31, 2009   8,463,432  $ 2.57   43,344  $ 10.80 
Granted   630,750   14.48   —   — 
Exercised   (1,337,567)   0.81   (10,833)(1)  10.80 
Forfeited / Canceled   (450,872)   8.03   —   — 
Outstanding at December 31, 2010   7,305,743  $ 3.58   32,511  $ 10.80 
Granted   608,750   17.45   —   — 
Exercised   (1,566,572)   0.77   (10,833)(1)  10.80 
Forfeited / Canceled   (157,455)   8.52   —   — 
Outstanding at December 31, 2011   6,190,466  $ 5.53   21,678  $ 10.80 
                 
Intrinsic value                 
Shares outstanding  $ 79,919      $ 400     
Shares vested   68,353             
(1) Represents restricted stock vested
 

The weighted-average grant-date fair value of options granted during the years ended December 31, 2009, 2010 and 2011 was $4.12, $7.58 and
$8.92, respectively. The weighted-average grant-date fair value of options vested during the years ended December 31, 2009, 2010 and 2011 was $1.25,
$2.28 and $3.48, respectively. The total grant-date fair value of options vested during the years ended December 31, 2009, 2010 and 2011 was $1,450,
$2,545 and $3,448, respectively. The weighted-average grant-date fair value of options forfeited in 2009, 2010 and 2011 was $1.71, $4.11 and $4.38,
respectively.
 

The following table summarizes information about stock options outstanding at December 31, 2011:
 

   Options Outstanding   Options Exercisable  

Range of
Exercise Price   

Number
Outstanding   

Weighted
Average

Remaining
Contractual

Life (in years)   

Weighted
Average Exercise

Price   
Number

Exercisable   

Weighted Average
Remaining

Contractual
Life (in years)   

Weighted Average
Exercise Price  

                    
$ 0.22-1.00    1,617,751   2.7  $ 0.45   1,617,751   2.7  $ 0.45 
 1.01-4.00    1,097,655   5.6   2.11   989,030   5.6   2.06 
 4.01-6.00    1,999,860   6.9   4.68   1,520,752   6.8   4.64 
 6.01-14.00    719,250   8.1   12.29   298,423   8.0   11.98 
 14.01-21.23    755,950   9.2   17.17   112,028   9.0   17.22 
     6,190,466   6.0  $ 5.53   4,537,984   5.2  $ 3.38 
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The total intrinsic value, the amount by which the stock price exceeds the exercise of the option on the date of exercise, of stock options exercised for the

years ended December 31, 2009, 2010 and 2011 was $4,037, $17,550 and $26,764, respectively.
 
    As of December 31, 2011, the total compensation cost related to non-vested options and restricted stock not yet recognized in the consolidated
financial statements is approximately $9,171, net of estimated forfeitures. The cost is expected to be recognized through December 2016 with a weighted
average recognition period of approximately 3.4 years.
 

The total income tax benefits recognized in the consolidated statements of operations related to stock options for the years ended December 31, 2009,
2010 and 2011 were approximately $152, $71 and $125, respectively.
 
14. Income Taxes
 

The components of income tax expense for the years ended December 31, 2009, 2010 and 2011, were as follows:
 

  2009   2010   2011  
Current income tax expense          

Federal  $ 8,276  $ 17,035  $ 17,131 
State and local   375   1,619   1,471 
Total   8,651   18,654   18,602 

             
Deferred income tax benefit             

Federal   (677)   (3,082)   (807)
State and local   (49)   (84)   (871)
Total   (726)   (3,166)   (1,678)

Income tax expense  $ 7,925  $ 15,488  $ 16,924 
 

The reconciliation of expected income tax expense at the statutory federal income tax rate to the effective income tax rate is as follows:
 

          
  2009   2010   2011  
Expected federal income tax expense  $ 7,750  $ 14,191  $ 17,086 
Non-deductible expenses   251   496   26 
State tax expense, net of federal tax effect   201   968   85 
Federal credits   (141)   (98)   (253)
Other   (136)   (69)   (20)
  $ 7,925  $ 15,488  $ 16,924 
 

Deferred tax (liabilities) assets reflect the net tax effects of temporary differences between the carrying amount of assets and liabilities for financial
reporting purposes and the amounts used for income tax purposes. Significant components of net deferred tax (liabilities) assets are as follows:
 
  December 31,  
  2010   2011  
  Deferred   Deferred   Deferred   Deferred  
  Tax   Tax   Tax   Tax  
  Assets   Liabilities   Assets   Liabilities  
                 

Stock options  $ 793  $ —  $ 1,526  $ — 
Tax credits   5 9 6   —   693   — 
Intangible assets   —   (2,241)   2,952   — 
Fixed assets   —   (1,776)   —   (6,116)
Other   450   —   731   — 

Total   1,839   (4,017)   5,902   (6,116)
Valuation allowance   (700)   —   (986)   — 

Total  $ 1,139  $ (4,017)  $ 4,916  $ (6,116)
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As of December 31, 2011, we had approximately $7,047 of state net operating loss carry-forwards, which expire from 2020 through 2030. We also

have approximately $934 in state credit carry-forwards layers of which expire from 2013 to 2025. State net operating loss and credit carry-forwards of
approximately $1,199 and $50, respectively are restricted under Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code. As of December 31, 2011, we had federal net
operating loss carry-forwards of approximately $182 that expire in 2022 and federal credit carry-forwards of approximately $86 that expire from 2020 to
2023. All federal net operating loss and credit carry-forwards are restricted under Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code. Section 382 of the Internal Revenue
Code limits the utilization of net operating losses and credits when ownership changes, as defined by that section, occur. We have performed an analysis of
our Section 382 ownership changes and determined that the utilization of certain of our net operating loss and credit carry-forwards may be limited. We do not
expect that Section 382 will limit the utilization of the net operating loss or credit carry-forwards. Valuation allowances have been established primarily for state
tax credits and net state operating loss carry-forwards. As of December 31, 2011, we had income tax refund receivable of approximately $9,343 included in
prepaid expenses and other current assets on our consolidated balance sheet.
 

All tax years are subject to examination for state purposes.  We are no longer subject to examination for federal purposes for tax years prior to 2010. All
of the Company’s unrecognized tax benefit liability would affect the Company’s effective tax rate if recognized.
 

A reconciliation of the beginning and ending amounts of unrecognized tax benefits for the years ended December 31, 2009, 2010 and 2011 are as
follows:
 
          
  2009   2010   2011  
Balance at January 1  $ 363  $ 545  $ 606 
Additions for tax positions related to the current year   60   40   53 
Additions for tax positions of prior years   1   33   243 
Reductions for tax positions of prior years   (6)   —   (402)
Settlements   (10)   (12)   (158)
Acquisition of Informed Decisions Corporation   137   —   — 
Balance at December 31  $ 545  $ 606  $ 342 
 
15. Commitments and Contingencies
 

Operating Leases and Purchase Obligations
 

We lease facilities with varying terms, renewal options and expiration dates. Aggregate future minimum lease payments under non-cancelable operating
leases are as follows:
 
2012  $ 353 
2013   429 
2014   434 
2015   443 
2016   277 
Thereafter   1,697 
Total payments  $ 3,633 
 

Rent expense under non-cancelable operating leases for the years ended December 31, 2009, 2010 and 2011 was $1,142, $1,036, and $1,235
respectively.

 
We also have certain purchase obligations which include minimum amounts committed for contracts for services through 2014.  The minimum

payments due for these services are as follows:
 
2012  $ 4,216 
2013   4,216 
2014   2,109 
Total  $ 10,541 
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Litigation and Regulatory

 
The Company and its subsidiaries, from time to time, are subject to litigation relating to matters in the ordinary course of business, as well as

regulatory examinations, information gathering requests, inquiries and investigations. In February 2011, the New York Regional Office of the Federal Deposit
Insurance Corporation, or FDIC, notified us that it was prepared to recommend to the Director of FDIC Supervision that an enforcement action be taken
against us for alleged violations of certain applicable laws and regulations principally relating to our compliance management system and policies and
practices for past overdraft charging on persistently delinquent accounts, collections and transaction error resolution. We have responded to the FDIC’s
notification, been in regular dialogue with the FDIC since 2010 and voluntarily amended certain practices. We voluntarily initiated a plan in December 2011,
which provided credits to certain current and former customers that were previously assessed certain insufficient fund fees.  As a result of this plan, we
recorded a reduction in our revenue of approximately $4.7 million in 2011.  The insufficient funds fees that are credited to customers under this plan were
originally assessed beginning in 2008.  Of the total charge of $4.7 million, an accrual of approximately $2.6 million has been established for amounts which
are expected to be paid in the first quarter of 2012.  While we believe that our decision to initiate the plan described above reduces our risk, the process with the
FDIC is ongoing and there continues to be various potential outcomes in order to resolve this matter.  For instance, we could receive an enforcement action
which could result in an order to pay civil money penalties and additional restitution.  We believe that the material loss related to this matter has been recorded
as of December 31, 2011. While there is the potential for additional loss related to this matter in the future, such loss is not considered probable, nor is it
reasonably estimable at this time. In accordance with applicable accounting guidance, we would establish a liability for litigation and regulatory matters if and
when those matters were to present loss contingencies that were both probable and reasonably estimable.
 

In June 2010, HOI provided notice and a certificate of claim for indemnity under the Stock Purchase Agreement by and among us and the former
stockholders of Informed Decisions Corporation, or IDC, dated November 19, 2009, arising from certain misrepresentations and breaches of warranty. At the
same time, we deposited $8.25 million with an escrow agent, equal to the remaining balance of the post-closing payments. Separately, the former stockholders
of IDC filed a complaint against HOI in the United States District Court for the Northern District of California, or the Complaint, on July 20, 2010, disputing
that misrepresentations were made and that warranties were breached; alleging breach of contract and anticipatory breach; and seeking a declaratory judgment
ordering that the post-closing payments be made in accordance with the schedule set forth in the stock purchase agreement.
 

On April 25, 2011, HOI and the former stockholders of IDC agreed to a settlement, the material terms of which are as follows: (a) $2 million of the
amount held in escrow, plus pro-rated interest, was to be paid to HOI; (b) $6.25 million of the amount held in escrow, plus pro-rated interest, was to be paid
to the former stockholders; and (c) HOI and the former stockholders generally and mutually released each other from all past and future claims, known and
unknown, arising out of the stock purchase agreement and related transition services agreements between HOI and each of the former stockholders, relating to
the operation or sale of IDC, including all indemnification and payment obligations, with the exception of certain rights, obligations and claims.  The amount
held in escrow was distributed to HOI and the former stockholders of IDC in accordance with the terms of the settlement agreement in May 2011.
 

We recorded the impact of the settlement agreement in the quarter ending June 30, 2011.  The $2 million returned from escrow to us was recorded as
other income of $1.5 million, reflecting a payment made under the indemnification provisions of the stock purchase agreement and a reduction of general and
administrative expenses of $0.5 million, reflecting the recovery of certain legal costs incurred for the litigation.
 

In February 2009, HOI filed a complaint against TouchNet Information Systems, Inc., or TouchNet, in the United States District Court for the District
of Connecticut alleging patent infringement related to TouchNet’s offering for sale and sales of its “eRefund” product in violation of one of its patents. In the
complaint, HOI seeks a judgment that TouchNet has infringed its patent, a judgment that TouchNet pay damages and interest on damages to compensate HOI
for infringement, an award of HOI’s costs in connection with this action and an injunction barring TouchNet from further infringing HOI’s patent. TouchNet
answered the complaint and asserted a number of defenses and counterclaims, including that it does not infringe HOI’s patent, that HOI’s patent is invalid or
unenforceable and certain allegations of unfair competition. In addition, TouchNet’s counterclaims seek dismissal of HOI’s claims with prejudice, declaratory
judgment that TouchNet does not infringe HOI’s patent and that HOI’s patent is invalid or unenforceable, as well as an award of fees and costs related to the
action, and an injunction permanently enjoining HOI from suing TouchNet regarding infringement of HOI’s patent. The parties are currently in the discovery
stage of the proceeding. HOI intends to pursue the matter vigorously. There can be no assurances of success in these proceedings.
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16. Quarterly Results (unaudited)
 

The quarterly results of the Company for the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010 are as follows:
 
             

  
March 31,

2011   
June 30,

2011   
September 30,

2011   
December 31,

2011  
Revenue  $ 51,383  $ 35,067  $ 48,140  $ 41,730 
Gross margin   33,950   21,644   28,510   24,656 
Income from operations   17,929   5,033   13,239   11,314 
Net income before income taxes   17,880   6,488   13,188   11,261 
Net income   11,042   4,754   8,468   7,629 
Basic net income per share   0.20   0.09   0.15   0.14 
Diluted net income per share   0.19   0.08   0.14   0.13 
             

  
March 31,

2010   
June 30,

2010   
September 30,

2010   
December 31,

2010  
Revenue  $ 38,870  $ 27,750  $ 38,566  $ 39,783 
Gross margin   26,331   17,351   24,176   25,266 
Income from operations   13,659   3,258   10,780   13,550 
Net income before income taxes   13,431   3,013   10,706   13,397 
Net income   8,264   1,830   6,429   8,536 
Basic net income per share   0.17   0.04   0.12   0.16 
Diluted net income per share   0.15   0.03   0.11   0.14 
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the shareholders listed thereto.

   
10.22 

*
Deposit Processing Services Agreement between Urban Trust Bank and Higher One, Inc., dated December 22, 2011.** 

    10.23 * Deposit Processing Services Agreement between Wright Express Financial Services Corporation and Higher One, Inc., dated January 11,
2012.** 

21.1 * List of Subsidiaries of Higher One Holdings, Inc.
23.1 * Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
31.1 * Certifications of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
31.2 * Certifications of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
32.1 * Certifications of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
32.2 * Certifications of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
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Portions of this exhibit have been omitted pursuant to a request for confidential treatment.

 (1) Incorporated by reference to exhibit filed with Registrant’s registration statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-165673), as amended.
 (2) Incorporated by reference to exhibit filed with Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ending June 30, 2010.
 (3) Incorporated by reference to exhibit filed with Registrant’s Report on Form 8-K filed on January 5, 2011.
 (4) Incorporated by reference to exhibit filed with Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the period ending December 31, 2010.
 (5)

(6)
Incorporated by reference to exhibit filed with Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ending March 31, 2011.
Incorporated by reference to exhibit filed with Registrant’s Report on Form 8-K filed on August 23, 2011.

 * Filed herewith
 



EXHIBIT 2.11
 

EIGHTH AMENDMENT TO
INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY PURCHASE AGREEMENT

THIS EIGHTH AMENDMENT TO INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY PURCHASE AGREEMENT (this “ Eighth Amendment”), dated as of
December 21, 2011, by and between Kevin Jones, an individual residing at 2747 Paradise Road, Apt 3204, Las Vegas, Nevada 89109 (“ Seller”), and Higher
One, Inc., a Delaware corporation having a place of business at 25 Science Park, New Haven, Connecticut 06511 (“ Buyer”), and, with respect to Sections 2
and 4 below, D. Dean McCormick, III (“McCormick”), an individual, and Douglas Connon, an individual (“ Connon”).
 

RECITALS:
 
WHEREAS, Seller and Buyer are parties to that certain Intellectual Property Purchase Agreement, dated as of June 9, 2008 as amended by that certain First
Amendment to Intellectual Property Agreement, dated as of May 1, 2009, that certain Second Amendment to Intellectual Property Agreement, dated as of August
21, 2009, that certain Third Amendment to Intellectual Property Agreement, dated as of May 12, 2010, that certain Fourth Amendment to Intellectual Property
Agreement, dated December 10, 2010, that certain Fifth Amendment to Intellectual Property Agreement, dated February 3, 2011, that certain Sixth Amendment to
Intellectual Property Agreement, dated April 15, 2011 and that certain Seventh Amendment to Intellectual Property Agreement, dated April 20, 2011 (collectively,
the “IP Purchase Agreement”); and
 
WHEREAS, pursuant to the IP Purchase Agreement, one million (1,000,000) shares of the Buyer’s common stock, $0.001 par value per share, were issued to
Seller as consideration for the Intellectual Property and, thereafter, such shares have been converted into three million (3,000,000) shares of Higher One Holdings,
Inc. (“HOHI”) taking into effect the 3-for-1 stock split of common stock of HOHI and the corporate reorganization of Higher One, and a portion thereof have been
transferred from Seller to each of McCormick and Connon; and
 
WHEREAS, prior to the date of this Eighth Amendment, McCormick has sold two thousand two hundred twenty-eight (2,228) of the shares referred to in the
immediately preceding paragraph and Jones has sold eleven thousand one hundred forty (11,140) of the shares referred to in the immediately preceding paragraph;
and
 
WHEREAS, the parties hereto have agreed to amend the IP Purchase Agreement on the terms set forth herein.
 
NOW THEREFORE, intending to be legally bound hereby, the parties hereto agree as follows:
 
Section 1.                      Incorporation by Reference; Defined Terms.
 
(a)           The recitals set forth above are hereby incorporated herein by reference.
 
(b)           Capitalized terms used but not defined herein shall have the meanings given to such terms in the IP Purchase Agreement.
 
Section 2.                      Amendments to IP Purchase Agreement .
 

(a) Section 3.4(b) of the IP Purchase Agreement is hereby amended and restated in its entirety as follows:
 

“(b)           Buyer and the Shareholders agree that as of December 18, 2011, a total of 1,866,207 of the Shares (after deducting the 2,228 Shares
heretofore sold by McCormick and the 11,140 Shares heretofore sold by Jones), comprised of 1,849,639of the Jones Shares, 7,170 of the
McCormick Shares, and 9,398 of the Connon Shares, were not subject to the Repurchase Right and therefore need not have born the Legend, and
the Shareholders and Buyer will promptly provide to BNY Mellon the necessary notice to have the Legend removed from such Shares, to the extent
such notice has not heretofore been given to BNY Mellon.”

 
Section 3.                      Effect of this Amendment .

The IP Purchase Agreement is hereby amended in accordance with the terms hereof, and this Eighth Amendment and the IP Purchase Agreement shall hereafter be
one agreement and any reference to the IP Purchase Agreement in any document, instruments or agreement shall hereafter mean and include the IP Purchase
Agreement as amended hereby.  Except as specifically amended hereby, the IP Purchase Agreement is hereby ratified and confirmed and shall remain in full force
and effect after the date hereof.
 
  Section 4.                      Miscellaneous.
 
(a)           Governing Law.  This Eighth Amendment shall be governed by, and construed and enforced in accordance with, the laws of the State of Connecticut,
without regard to its conflict of law principles.
 
(b)           Counterparts.  This Eighth Amendment may be executed in any number of counterparts and by the different parties hereto on separate counterparts each
of which, when so executed, shall be deemed an original, but all such counterparts shall constitute but one and the same instrument.
 
(c)           Facsimiles and Email.  The parties hereby agree that delivery by facsimile transmission or email of signature pages hereto signed on behalf of the parties
hereto shall constitute effective and binding execution and delivery of this Eighth Amendment by such parties.
 
(d)           Severability.  If any provision of this Eighth Amendment, or the application thereof to any party hereto, shall be held invalid or unenforceable, such
invalidity or unenforceability shall not affect any other provisions or applications of this Eighth Amendment which can be given effect without the invalid and
unenforceable provision or application, and to this end the parties hereto agree that the provisions of this Eighth Amendment are and shall be severable.



 
(e)           Amendment, Waivers, Consents, Etc.  Any provision of the IP Purchase Agreement, including but not limited to any provision contained in this Eighth
Amendment, may be amended, and the observance of any such provision may be waived (either generally or in a particular instance and either retroactively or
prospectively), only with the written consent of Buyer and Seller, and any such amendment or waiver shall be binding on Buyer, Seller, McCormick and
Connon.  Further, any consent, approval or instructions given by Seller (including but not limited to any given to BNY Mellon Shareowner Services) pertaining in
any way to the IP Purchase Agreement, including but not limited to any consent, approval or instructions relating to the imposition or removal of the Legend from
any of the Shares, or in connection with the exercise of the Repurchase Right by Buyer, shall be binding on Seller, McCormick and Connon.
 

 

 
[Signatures on following page]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto, intending to be legally bound hereby, have executed and delivered this Eighth Amendment as of the date first above
written.
 
                            SELLER
 
                           /s/ Kevin Jones
 
                            Kevin Jones
 
                            BUYER
 
                            HIGHER ONE, INC.
 

                           By:  /s/ Mark Volchek
 
                           Name:  Mark Volchek                                  
 
                           Title:  CFO                                

The undersigned hereby agree to the provisions of Sections 2 and 4 above.

 
/s/ D. Dean McCormick, III                  /s/ Douglas Connon
D. Dean McCormick, III                    Douglas Connon

 
The undersigned hereby agrees to abide by the provisions of the IP Purchase Agreement, as amended by this Eighth Amendment.
 
                            HIGHER ONE HOLDINGS, INC.
 
                                    By: /s/ Mark Volchek
 
 
                                    Name: Mark Volchek
 
 
                           Title: CFO
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EXHIBIT 10.22

CONFIDENTIAL TREATMENT REQUESTED

 
DEPOSIT PROCESSING SERVICES AGREEMENT

 
THIS DEPOSIT PROCESSING SERVICES AGREEMENT (this “Agreement”) is entered into as of this 22 nd day of December, 2011 (“Effective

Date”) by and between Urban Trust Bank (“Bank”), a Federal Savings Bank, with its principal place of business at  400 Colonial Center Parkway, Suite
150, Lake Mary, Florida 32746, and Higher One, Inc. (“Higher One”), a Delaware corporation with its principal place of business at 25 Science Park, New
Haven, Connecticut  06511.  Higher One and Bank are hereinafter referred to, collectively, as the “Parties,” and individually each as a “Party.”
 

RECITALS
 

Bank is a Federal Savings Bank that, among other things, offers and maintains demand deposit accounts for customers.
 

Higher One is engaged in the business of providing customized product and service programs to educational institutions throughout the United States
and to their respective students, faculty, staff, alumni, and other related parties, including but not limited to the delivery of demand deposit accounts with
customized features to such parties.
 

The Parties desire to work together to establish and maintain Bank demand deposit accounts in connection with such customized programs offered
by Higher One.
 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants and representations contained herein, and for other good and valuable consideration,
the receipt and sufficiency of which is hereby acknowledged, the Parties hereto agree as follows:
 

SECTION I.                      
 

DEFINITIONS
 

1.1 Certain Definitions.  As used in this Agreement, the following terms have the definitions indicated.
 

“Applicable Law” means all applicable federal and state statutes, regulations, judicial decisions, rules, orders and requirements, of a Regulatory
Authority as such statutes, regulations, requirements, or orders, may be amended or in effect from time to time during the term of this Agreement.
 

 “Card” means a debit card or other electronic access device issued by Bank to a Depositor for purposes of accessing the Depositor Account.
 

 “Depositor” means a current customer of Higher One who has entered into a Depositor Agreement.
 

“Depositor Account” means a demand deposit account (as defined by Regulation D of the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System) that is
held by Bank in the name or for the benefit of a Depositor pursuant to a Depositor Agreement.

 
_________________________
 
***Note: Confidential treatment has been requested with respect to the information contained within the

       [***] marking. Such portions have been omitted from this filing and have been filed separately with
       the Securities and Exchange Commission.

 
 

 



 
 
“Depositor Agreement” means the agreement that governs the relationship between Bank and a Depositor and prescribes the terms and conditions

under which the related Depositor Account is established, maintained and used, and all related disclosures provided with respect thereto.
 

“Depositor Program” means the administration and processing operation of Depositor Accounts pursuant to the Depositor Agreement.
 

“FDIC” means the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation or any successor entity.
 

“Fees” means all fees and charges generated from the use of the Depositor Accounts, including any Card usage, interchange, and miscellaneous fees.
 

“Financial Transaction(s)” means a Depositor Account transaction involving the withdrawal of funds from or the deposit of funds to a Depositor
Account.
 

“Graphic Standards” means all standards, policies, and other requirements adopted by Bank from time to time with respect to use of its Marks.
 

“Higher One Technology” means all proprietary software owned or licensed by Higher One and made available to Bank pursuant to this Agreement.
 

“Joint Oversight Policies” means the policies and procedures as to be agreed to by the Parties, as may be amended from time to time.
 

“Mark” means trade names, trademarks, service marks and logos, whether or not registered.
 

“Material Adverse Effect” means a change, effect, event, or circumstance that would have, individually or in the aggregate, a material adverse change
in, as the case may be, the assets, liabilities, financial position, or results of operations, prospects, or business conditions of a Party, taken as a whole.
 

“Network” means MasterCard, VISA, Cirrus, Plus, and/or any similar electronic payment processing system over which Financial Transactions
with respect to Cards are processed.
 

“Network Rules” means the operating rules of any Network, as may be amended from time to time and provided to Higher One in writing.
 

“OFAC” means the U.S. Department of Treasury’s Office of Foreign Assets Control.
 

“OCC” means the Office of the Comptroller of the Currency.
 

“Regulatory Authority” means any local, state, or federal agency, office, or supervising entity, or any other authority having jurisdiction over Bank
or Higher One, in such a manner as to impact the operations or activity being contemplated under this Agreement.  Without limiting the foregoing, the OCC is
a Regulatory Authority.
 

“Solicitation Material” means all advertisements, brochures, applications, telemarketing scripts, point of purchase displays, packaging, television
advertisements, radio advertisements, electronic web pages, electronic web links, and any other type of advertisement, marketing material, or interactive media
developed, launched, or distributed for purposes of marketing or promoting a Depositor Program.
 

“Supervisory Objection” has the meaning set forth in Section 7.2(d).
 

 “Term” has the meaning set forth in Section 7.1.
 

“University” means an educational institution wherein Higher One offers its services.
 

SECTION II.                                
 

OBLIGATIONS AND COVENANTS
 

2.1 General Intent.  It is the intent of the Parties to offer Bank demand deposit accounts to students, faculty, staff, and alumni of Higher One’s
various University clients in conjunction with other customized products and services offered by Higher One.  As set forth herein, Higher One, on behalf of
Bank, will provide processing and other administrative services at its cost including, but not limited to, customer services, with respect to those Depositor
Accounts, and Bank will establish and maintain the Depositor Accounts opened by such customers.
 

2.2 Commencement of Activities.   The activity discussed in Section 2.1 will not commence until Bank obtains approval of (or non-objection to)
such activity from the OCC, upon terms and conditions reasonably satisfactory to Bank, which Bank agrees to pursue promptly upon execution of this
Agreement.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, Bank, in its sole discretion, may elect to conduct such activity on a limited “pilot program” basis prior to
obtaining such approval or non-objection.  The scope of any such pilot program will be in the sole discretion of Bank and communicated to Higher One.
 

2.3 Specific Obligations of Higher One.   Upon the commencement of the activity discussed in Section 2.1 in accordance with Section 2.2, Higher
One shall be responsible for the following obligations in accordance with Joint Oversight Policies, Network Rules, and Applicable Law.
 

(a)  Contracts with Universities.   From time to time, Higher One may enter into contracts with Universities to provide services and
products to such Universities and/or their students, faculty, staff, alumni, and/or other related parties.  As part of such contracts,
and using Solicitation Materials approved by Bank, Higher One shall make available to the Universities and/or their students,



faculty, staff, alumni, and/or other related parties the Depositor Program, including Depositor Accounts.  Higher One shall
manage such relationships with the Universities on an ongoing basis and shall process any Depositor Accounts under the
Depositor Programs.

 
(b)  Back-Office Operations of Depositor Program.   Higher One, directly or pursuant to contracts with the Third Party Service

Providers (as defined in Section 2.3(j) below) approved in writing by Bank, shall provide for all necessary operations of the
Depositor Program, including providing customer support, management, financial expertise, staff, and software required to
conduct the Depositor Program, excluding all Bank staff, systems, networks, utilities, software, and hardware.  In addition,
Higher One shall manage the daily settlements with other bank partners as required to service the Depositor Program.

 
(c)  Master Account Recordkeeping.   Higher One will make appropriate entries to an account established by Bank for such purpose

to reflect the Financial Transactions to the Depositor Accounts and maintain such necessary records to establish a Depositor
Account for each individual Depositor with sufficient detail as required by Applicable Law to assist in ensuring that the Depositor
Accounts qualify for FDIC insurance.

 
(d)  Verification of Depositor Identity.  Higher One, in accordance with policies and procedures to be developed by Higher One and

approved by Bank in its sole discretion, shall be responsible for the collection and verification of such Depositor information as
is necessary to (i) verify Depositor identity and complete appropriate Office of Foreign Assets Control validation; (ii) to satisfy the
customer identification program requirements applicable to insured depository institutions found in 31 C.F.R. Chapter X; and (iii)
otherwise comply with Applicable Law. For the avoidance of doubt, Bank hereby acknowledges that Higher One’s policies and
procedures in place relating to the verification of Depositor identity are approved as of the Effective Date.

 
(e)  Depositor Account Recordkeeping.   Higher One shall be responsible for the processing of all transactional activity in connection

with the Depositor Accounts, including:  (i) ACH and wire transfer transactions initiated at the direction of Depositors; (ii)
deposits to Depositor Accounts (via ACH, mail, wire transfers, and direct credits from Universities (including disbursement
funds from the Universities to recipients individually identified to Higher One and identified by Higher One to Bank)); and (iii)
coordinating and providing support for payments made from Depositor Accounts, including payment by check, debit card, and
electronic payment (collectively, “Financial Transactions”).  Higher One shall keep accurate records of the Financial Transactions
to comply with the recordkeeping requirements under Section 2.8.

 
(f)  Check Production and Card Management.   Higher One shall be responsible for:

 
(i)  arranging for the production of all checks and/or Cards provided to Depositors in connection with any Depositor

Account, including the manufacturing, printing, and distribution of all checks and/or Cards and the Depositor
Agreement related thereto, at its sole risk and expense, identifying Bank as the Card issuer on each Card and the related
Depositor Agreement, and including such other names and Marks as may be required to conform to Graphic Standards,
Applicable Law, Joint Oversight Policies and the Network Rules;

 
(ii)  handling and distributing, or having arranging for the handling and distributing of Cards and/or checks as necessary at

its sole risk and expense; and
 

(iii)  managing all security aspects of the Cards, including allowing for Depositors to select and change their personal
identification number (PIN) online.

 
(g)  Document Retention.  Upon the qualification of a potential Depositor by Higher One consistent with Applicable Law, Joint

Oversight Policies and Network Rules, Higher One shall retain on behalf of Bank such potential Depositor’s application, all
supporting information and documentation, and any reports prepared therefrom, as provided by Applicable Law, the Joint
Oversight Policies, and the Network Rules, and shall at all times be made available to Bank in electronic form promptly upon
Bank’s request.

 
(h)  Compliance with Law and Regulation.   Higher One shall develop, implement, and maintain internal controls designed to

ensure regulatory compliance at all times with Applicable Law.
 

(i)  Marketing and Advertising.   Higher One shall be solely responsible for marketing the Depositor Program to end users, potential
customers and universities at its cost and in accordance with the terms and conditions of this Agreement.

 
(j)  Management of Third Party Service Provider.  Higher One shall be responsible for the selection and management of third-

party service providers to provide outsourced functions in connection with the Depositor Program (each, a “Third Party Service
Provider”); provided that Higher One must obtain Bank's written approval prior to using any service provider in the performance
of its bank-related obligations under this Agreement.  For the avoidance of doubt, Bank hereby acknowledges that the Third Party
Service Providers currently providing bank-related services to Higher One and the corresponding contracts with such parties as
listed on Schedule 2.3(j) hereto are approved  by Bank as of the Effective Date.

 
2.4 Specific Obligations of Bank.   Upon the commencement of the activity discussed in Section 2.1 in accordance with Section 2.2, Bank shall

perform the following obligations in accordance with the Joint Oversight Policies, Network Rules, and Applicable Law:
 

(a)  Maintenance of Depositor Accounts.   Bank shall establish, maintain, and administer the Depositor Accounts and perform all
related banking services offered to and used by the Depositors under the Depositor Program that are not otherwise the



responsibility of Higher One as provided herein.
 

(b)  Maintenance of the Depositor Program.   Bank shall ensure that all depository services performed in connection with the
Depositor Program are separately maintained for the Depositors and the Depositor Program, such as maintaining a separate
Routing/Transit number (including working with Higher One and one or more of its existing bank partners to transfer an existing
routing number and making commercially reasonable efforts to enter into any required agreements to facilitate the continued use of
existing numbers), clearing accounts, and BINs for the Depositor Accounts and Cards.

 
(c)  Deposit Insurance.  Subject to fulfillment by Higher One of its obligations hereunder, including Section 2.3(c), Bank shall

ensure that its FDIC deposit insurance remains in full force and effect so that the Depositor Account of each Depositor qualifies
for FDIC deposit insurance in the Depositor’s individual right and capacity, either on a pass-through or direct basis.  Bank shall
bear all costs associated with providing this insurance.

 
(d)  Availability of Checks.  Bank shall process checks in connection with certain Depositor Accounts to be made available to each

Depositor through Higher One  pursuant to Section 2.3(f) ,  with which Depositors may draw against their Depositor Accounts, and
Bank shall honor those checks properly drawn on the Depositor Accounts based on funds available in the Depositor Accounts, all
in accordance with any Depositor Agreement.

 
(e)  Issuance of Cards.  Bank shall: (i) facilitate the issuance of the Cards in accordance with applicable Network Rules; (ii) honor

the Card transactions made by Depositors based on funds available in the Depositor Accounts and applicable Network Rules;
and (iii) facilitate the pass-through to Higher One of all benefits from Networks (including through incentive agreements or
through volume, entered into by Higher One or Bank).

 
(f)  ATM Sponsorship.  Bank shall (i) sponsor Higher One-branded ATMs as needed and (ii) provide cash for the Higher One-

branded ATMs in connection with the Depositor Accounts [***].  Notwithstanding the foregoing ,  Higher One shall be responsible
for all costs incurred by Bank or Higher One in connection with providing the ATM services, including, but not limited to,
expenses for ATM-related hardware, cash-carrier expenses and network fees.

 
(g)  Wire Transfers.  Bank shall provide Federal Reserve Bank services (including wire transfer services) to Higher One and any

costs incurred by Bank in connection therewith shall be passed through to Higher One.  Such services shall otherwise be
performed in accordance with Bank’s standard terms that are in effect at the time of the transfer.

 
(h)  Network Membership.   Bank shall use commercially reasonable efforts to obtain and maintain membership in one or more

Networks, maintain its BIN, and timely pay all normal fees, dues, and assessments associated therewith, except those fees, dues
or assessments arising in connection with the Depositor Program, or incurred as a direct result of Bank’s sponsorship of Higher
One (for which Higher One shall be solely responsible).  In addition, Bank shall not be responsible for the payment of any fees,
fines, or charges assessed by a Network as a result of the perceived failure of any aspect of a Depositor Program to comply with
the Network Rules, payment of which fees, fines, and charges being the obligation of Higher One under this Agreement.  Bank
shall also reasonably assist Higher One in securing such Network registration as a marketing or service provider, and such
approvals as may be required for Higher One to discharge its obligations under this Agreement, and Higher One shall be solely
responsible for all costs related to seeking, obtaining, and holding such approvals.

 
2.5 Compliance Obligations.   Each Party shall perform its respective obligations under this Agreement pursuant to Applicable Law.  Each Party

shall possess and maintain at all times all licenses, permits, approvals, and registrations required by Applicable Law and the Joint Oversight Policies to
perform its obligations pursuant to this Agreement.  Each Party, at its own expense, shall be responsible for obtaining any and all regulatory approvals related
to the transactions contemplated herein, and shall use its respective best efforts to obtain all such regulatory approvals and cooperate with the other Party to
facilitate the procurement of all such regulatory approvals.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, unless expressly provided otherwise herein, Higher One is
responsible for ensuring that the Depositor Program complies with all Applicable Laws.
 

2.6 Handling of Complaints.   Higher One shall promptly notify Bank in writing of any and all complaints received in connection with the
Depositor Program from a Regulatory Authority, and shall promptly respond to and resolve such complaints as instructed by Bank.  In

 
_________________________
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addition, Higher One shall cooperate with Bank in assessing and evaluating the frequency, nature, or underlying causes for any consumer complaints, and
preventing the recurrence thereof.  Each notice regarding a Depositor or third party complaint shall include the name and address of the complainant, a brief
summary of the complaint, the date upon which such complaint or inquiry was received, and Higher One’s proposed resolution thereof.
 

2.7 Approvals of Solicitation Materials.   All Solicitation Materials shall be submitted to Bank in advance for Bank’s prior written approval
(which approval (i) may be granted or withheld in Bank’s sole discretion, (ii) shall be provided within two (2) business days and (iii) may not be
unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed) and, as necessary, the approval of any third parties.  Higher One shall not release, launch, or distribute any
Solicitation Materials in any form without having first obtained written Bank approvals.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Parties agree that non-material
changes to the approved Solicitation Materials including, but not limited to, the name of a University, the logo of such entity and related items shall not require
the approval of Bank.  The graphic design of all Cards, and the design and content of all Depositor Agreements, shall be subject to Bank’s prior written
approval (which approval (i) may be granted or withheld in Bank’s sole discretion, (ii) shall be provided within two (2) business days and (iii) may not be
unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed) and the approval of any applicable third parties to the extent expressly required.  Notwithstanding Bank’s
approval of the form or content of a Depositor Agreement, Bank shall have the right, in its sole and absolute discretion, from time to time, with reasonable
advance notice, if possible, to require alterations to or amendments of, or provide a substitute for, the Depositor Agreement (each a “Revision” and,
collectively, “Revisions”) thereof in the event that (i) Bank reasonably determines that Applicable Law, Joint Oversight Policies, or Network Rules require such
Revision, (ii) either Party receives any written demand or order from a court, Regulatory Authority, or a Network, mandating that such Revisions must be
implemented, or (iii) either Party receives or becomes aware of an actual or threatened legal claim based upon or in any way related to the affected portion of the
Depositor Program.  Bank shall notify Higher One in writing of any required Revisions, and, unless otherwise directed by Bank, Higher One shall within the
timeframe set forth by Applicable Law (i) incorporate said Revisions into such Depositor Agreement and/or Solicitation Materials as may be distributed
thereafter, and (ii) distribute replacement Depositor Agreements incorporating the Revisions to all Depositors who had received prior versions of the Depositor
Agreement.  Bank hereby acknowledges that it approves the current version of the Depositor Agreement, which has been provided to Bank as of the date
hereof.
 

2.8 Access to Higher One Reports.   Higher One shall provide Bank direct access to all reports, and such services as Bank requests, to facilitate
settlements, balance and reconcile Depositor Accounts, monitor for fraudulent Financial Transactions, comply with Bank’s Bank Secrecy Act and OFAC
obligations, and otherwise monitor regulatory compliance.  Higher One shall keep accurate, complete, and up to date records on behalf of Bank of (i) the
identity of each Depositor and the steps taken to verify such identity; (ii) all charges, Financial Transactions, and fees that have been made or charged
Depositor, and (iii) such other information as may from time to time be required by Bank, the Joint Oversight Policies, or Applicable Law (collectively, the
“Required Records”).  Higher One shall retain all Required Records for a minimum time period as mandated by Applicable Law, Joint Oversight Policies or the
Network Rules.  All Required Records shall be accurate, and to the extent presenting financial information, kept in a manner that is consistent with accounting
standards and designed to accurately present the information set forth therein.  Higher One shall provide Bank access to any and all Depositor Program related
records, including, but not limited to, Required Records that Bank reasonably requests in connection with compliance with Bank’s obligations under
Applicable Law and/or Joint Oversight Policies.
 

2.9 Right to Audit.   Bank shall have the right, at its own expense, to conduct periodic audits of Higher One and any Third Party Service
Providers.  Bank shall select an independent third-party auditor to conduct such audits. Such audits, in Bank’s and/or the auditor’s discretion, may include
an on-site inspection of the respective facilities and a review of documents, contracts, hardware and software systems, security systems, policies, procedures,
and books and records of Higher One and such third parties.  Such audits may be conducted during business days upon reasonable advance notice.  Higher
One agrees to cooperate with such audit and provide copies or access to such documents, information, and Higher One personnel as reasonably necessary or
helpful for the auditor to conduct such audit.  In exercising its rights under this paragraph, Bank and its representatives shall take reasonable steps to avoid
disruption of the business of the audited party.  Higher One shall provide to Bank, and shall cause any Third Party Service Provider to provide to Bank,
such information as Bank may, at its sole and absolute discretion, request regarding Higher One, the Third Party Service Providers and the Depositor
Program, for purposes of performing a periodic due diligence and/or compliance review as permitted by Applicable Law.
 

2.10 Examination by Regulatory Authorities.   Higher One shall permit, and shall require each Third Party Service Provider to permit, any
Regulatory Authority with supervisory authority over Bank to inspect, audit, and examine the facilities, records, and personnel relating to the Depositor
Program to ensure compliance with Applicable Law at any time during normal business hours upon reasonable notice.  Higher One shall permit, and shall
require each Third Party Service Provider to permit, any such Regulatory Authority to make abstracts of any such records directly pertaining to the subject
matter of this Agreement during such an inspection, audit, or examination.
 

2.11 Other Agreements Not Precluded.   This Agreement shall not preclude Higher One from entering into similar agreements to provide deposit
processing services to other banks or financial institutions, nor shall it preclude Bank from providing products or services to providers of other depositor
programs generally through Bank’s own marketing efforts or through the marketing efforts of other third parties.  Higher One shall have the right to offer
additional products and services to Depositors in Higher One’s sole discretion. Bank may not solicit Higher One’s customers for any services of Bank unless
such customers were customers of Bank  prior to becoming customers of Higher One. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Parties acknowledge that this Section
shall not preclude general solicitations by Bank such as mass mailing, media, and otherwise not specifically targeted at Depositors, or if the Depositor or their
names come to Bank in the normal course of business.
 

2.12 Joint Program Management Committee.   No later than thirty (30) days after the Effective Date, each Party shall designate up to four (4)
individuals (an equal number for each Party as mutually agreed) to serve on a standing joint program management committee (“Joint Program Management
Committee”) which shall meet (including through participation by telephone or other electronic means) at least quarterly during the time this Agreement is in
effect, at such times and places as the members of the Joint Program Management Committee shall agree.  The initial members of the Joint Program
Management Committee shall be designated in writing by each Party, and each Party may change its designated individuals for the Joint Program Management
Committee at any time by providing written notice to the other Party from time to time.  The purpose of the Joint Program Management Committee will be to
review and discuss the effectiveness of the Depositor Program as a whole and the policies and procedures implemented to ensure compliance with this
Agreement, Applicable Law, Joint Oversight Policies, and the Network Rules.  All members of the Joint Program Management Committee shall exercise



reasonable diligence and shall cooperate fully with other members of the Joint Program Management Committee in carrying out the purposes and functions of
such committee.  Each Party shall pay for its own expenses incurred with respect to its participation in the Joint Program Management Committee.
 

[***]
 

SECTION III.                                
 

COMPENSATION AND COSTS
 

3.1 Bank Compensation.  As its sole source of compensation for performance of all obligations pursuant to this Agreement, Bank shall retain any
and all revenue it may generate from the investment of the funds held in the Depositor Accounts.
 

3.2 Higher One Compensation.  As consideration for the processing services and other services Higher One is providing under this Agreement,
Bank shall pay to Higher One the fees as set forth on Schedule 3.2.  In addition, Higher One will have the right to retain all revenue generated by or from the
Depositor Accounts, including, but not limited to, Fees, interchange and all other miscellaneous revenues (excluding any revenues retained by Bank pursuant
to Section 3.1).  Higher One shall also retain all fees, charges, and interchange generated by its ATMs and from its payment processing services.
 

3.3 Ancillary Services.  Ancillary services required for the Depositor Program, including Federal Reserve Bank fees (including wire transfers) and
ATM sponsorship, shall be provided by Bank and any actual costs incurred by Bank therewith shall be passed through to Higher One; provided that such
ancillary services shall not generate additional compensation for Bank.  Except as otherwise expressly set forth in this Agreement, any fees and costs incurred
by Bank in connection with performing its obligations under this Agreement shall be borne by Higher One on a pass-through basis.
 

3.4 Charges to Depositors.   Higher One shall be responsible for ensuring that all fees and charges to Depositors in connection with the Depositor
Program are in compliance with Applicable Law.  In the event that Higher One seeks to introduce new fees or services to the

 
_________________________
 
***Note: Confidential treatment has been requested with respect to the information contained within the

       [***] marking. Such portions have been omitted from this filing and have been filed separately with
       the Securities and Exchange Commission.

 
 

 
 



 
 
Depositors, any such fees or services must first be approved by Bank in writing in its sole discretion.
 

SECTION IV.                                
 

REPRESENTATIONS OF BANK
 

Bank represents and warrants as follows:
 

4.1 Organization, Good-Standing and Conduct of Business.   Bank is a banking corporation, duly organized, validly existing and in good
standing under the laws of the United States, and has full power and authority and all necessary governmental and regulatory authorization to own its
properties and assets and to carry on its business as it is presently being conducted.
 

4.2 Corporate Authority.  The execution, delivery, and performance of this Agreement have been duly authorized.  No further corporate acts or
proceedings on the part of Bank are required or necessary to authorize this Agreement.
 

4.3 Binding Effect.  When executed, this Agreement will constitute a valid and legally binding obligation of Bank, enforceable against Bank in
accordance with its terms, subject to (i) applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium, or other similar laws now or hereafter in effect
relating to rights of creditors of FDIC-insured institutions or the relief of debtors generally; (ii) laws relating to the safety and soundness of depository
institutions; and (iii) general principles of equity.
 

4.4 Non-Contravention and Defaults; No Liens.   Neither the execution or delivery of this Agreement, nor the fulfillment of, or compliance with,
the terms and provisions hereof, will (i) result in a breach of the terms, conditions, or provisions of, or constitute a default under, or result in a violation of,
termination of, or acceleration of the performance provided by the terms of, any agreement to which Bank is a party or by which it may be bound; (ii) violate
any provision of any law, rule or regulation; or (iii) violate any provisions of Bank’s Articles of Incorporation or Bylaws.
 

4.5 Necessary Approvals.   Except for receipt of any required regulatory approvals (which approvals, if any, are determined by Bank to be
required, will be obtained by Bank prior to consummation of the transactions contemplated herein), no consent, approval, authorization, registration, or filing
with or by any governmental authority, foreign or domestic, is required on the part of Bank in connection with the execution and delivery of this Agreement or
the consummation by Bank of the transactions contemplated hereby.
 

4.6 Liabilities and Litigation.   There are no claims, actions, suits or proceedings pending or, to Bank’s knowledge, threatened against Bank, at
law or in equity, before or by any Federal, state, municipal, administrative or other court, governmental department, commission, board, or agency, an
adverse determination of which could have a Material Adverse Effect on the business or operations of Bank, and Bank knows of no basis for any of the
foregoing.  There is no order, writ, injunction, or decree of any court, domestic or foreign, or any Federal or state agency affecting Bank or to which Bank is
subject.
 

4.7 Disclosure.  Neither Bank nor any principal of Bank has been subject to any administrative or enforcement proceedings commenced by any
Regulatory Authority, or any restraining order, decree, injunction, or judgment in any proceeding or lawsuit, alleging fraud or deceptive practice on the part of
Bank or any principal thereof.  For purposes of Section 4.7, the word “principal” shall include any executive officer or director of Bank.
 

4.8 FDIC Insurance.  As of the Effective Date and during the term of this Agreement, Bank is FDIC-insured to the maximum extent permitted under
Applicable Law.
 

4.9 Well-Capitalized.  As of the Effective Date and during the term of this Agreement, Bank is designated “Well Capitalized” under the Prompt
Corrective Action provisions of the Federal Deposit Insurance Act and all regulations and guidelines with respect thereto.
 

4.10 Durbin Amendment.  As of the Effective Date, Bank (a) has less than and (b) does not intend to have in excess of $10 billion in consolidated
net assets so as to qualify for the small issuer exemption pursuant to the applicable rules of the Durbin Amendment of Dodd–Frank Wall Street Reform and
Consumer Protection Act 12 C.F.R 235.
 

4.11 Disclaimer.  EXCEPT AS EXPRESSLY SET FORTH IN THIS AGREEMENT, BANK DISCLAIMS ALL OTHER
WARRANTIES, CONDITIONS, AND REPRESENTATIONS OF ANY KIND, WHETHER EXPRESS, IMPLIED, STATUTORY, OR
OTHERWISE, INCLUDING THOSE RELATED TO MERCHANTABILITY, FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE, AND NON-
INFRINGEMENT AND THOSE ARISING OUT OF COURSE OF DEALING, USAGE, OR TRADE.
 

SECTION V.                                
 

REPRESENTATIONS OF HIGHER ONE
 

Higher One represents and warrants as follows as of the date hereof:
 

5.1 Organization, Good-Standing and Conduct of Business.   Higher One is a corporation, duly organized, validly existing and in good standing
under the laws of the State of Delaware, and has full power and authority and all necessary governmental and regulatory authorization to own its properties
and assets and to carry on its business as it is presently being conducted, except where lacking authority or authorization would not have a Material Adverse
Effect on Higher One or its ability to perform its obligations under this Agreement .  Higher One is a duly appointed agent of each Depositor with authority to
transfer the deposits to Bank for the purpose of establishing the Depositor Accounts as contemplated in this Agreement.



 
5.2 Corporate Authority.  The execution, delivery, and performance of this Agreement have been duly authorized.  No further corporate acts or

proceedings on the part of Higher One are required or necessary to authorize this Agreement.
 

5.3 Binding Effect.  When executed, this Agreement will constitute a valid and legally binding obligation of Higher One, enforceable against Higher
One in accordance with its terms, subject to (i) applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium, or other similar laws now or hereafter in effect
relating to rights of creditors or the relief of debtors generally and (ii) general principles of equity.
 

5.4 Non-Contravention and Defaults; No Liens.   Neither the execution or delivery of this Agreement, nor the fulfillment of, or compliance with,
the terms and provisions hereof, will (i) result in a breach of the terms, conditions, or provisions of, or constitute a default under, or result in a violation of,
termination of or acceleration of the performance provided by the terms of, any agreement to which Higher One is a party or by which it may be bound, (ii)
violate any provision of any law, rule or regulation, (iii) result in the creation or imposition of any lien, charge, restriction, security interest or encumbrance of
any nature whatsoever on any asset of Higher One, or (iv) violate any provisions of Higher One’s Certificate of Incorporation or Bylaws.
 

5.5 Necessary Approvals.   No consent, approval, authorization, registration, or filing with or by any governmental authority, foreign or domestic,
is required on the part of Higher One in connection with the execution and delivery of this Agreement or the consummation by Higher One of the transactions
contemplated hereby.
 

5.6 Liabilities and Litigation.   Except as disclosed by Higher One in writing to Bank, there are no claims, actions, suits, or proceedings pending
or, to Higher One’s knowledge, threatened against Higher One, at law or in equity, before or by any Federal, state, municipal, administrative, or other court,
governmental department, commission, board, or agency, an adverse determination of which could have a Material Adverse Effect on the business or
operations of Higher One (including its ultimate ownership and operation of the Operation), and Higher One knows of no basis for any of the foregoing.  There
is no order, writ, injunction, or decree of any court, domestic or foreign, or any Federal or state agency affecting Higher One or to which Higher One is subject.
 

5.7 Disclosure.  Neither Higher One nor any principal of Higher One has been subject to any administrative or enforcement proceedings commenced
by any Regulatory Authority, or any restraining order, decree, injunction, or judgment in any proceeding or lawsuit, alleging fraud or deceptive practice on the
part of  Higher One or any principal thereof.  For purposes of Section 5.7, the word “principal” shall include any executive officer or director of Higher One.
 

5.8 Disclaimer.  EXCEPT AS EXPRESSLY SET FORTH IN THIS AGREEMENT, HIGHER ONE DISCLAIMS ALL OTHER
WARRANTIES, CONDITIONS, AND REPRESENTATIONS OF ANY KIND, WHETHER EXPRESS, IMPLIED, STATUTORY, OR
OTHERWISE, INCLUDING THOSE RELATED TO MERCHANTABILITY, FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE, AND NON-
INFRINGEMENT AND THOSE ARISING OUT OF COURSE OF DEALING, USAGE, OR TRADE .
 

SECTION VI.
CONFIDENTIALITY; DATA PROTECTION; INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY

 
6.1 General.  It is expected that the Parties will disclose to each other certain information, which may be considered confidential or proprietary

(“Confidential Information”), and each Party recognizes the value and importance of the protection of the other’s Confidential Information.  All Confidential
Information owned solely by one Party and disclosed to the other Party shall remain solely the property of the disclosing Party, and its confidentiality shall be
maintained and protected by the other Party with at least the same effort used to protect such other Party’s own confidential information of a similar
nature.  Except to the extent required by this Agreement, each Party agrees not to duplicate in any manner the other’s Confidential Information or to disclose it to
any third party or to any of their employees not having a need to know for purposes of this Agreement.  Each Party further agrees not to use the other’s
Confidential Information for any purpose other than the implementation of this Agreement.  This confidentiality provision extends to all information (whether
oral, written, electronic, or otherwise) provided by either Party (the “Disclosing Party”) to the other Party (the “Receiving Party”) pursuant hereto.  Confidential
Information includes, without limitation, software, data, prototypes, design plans, drawings, financial information, or other business and/or technical
information, whether disclosed before or after the date of this Agreement.  In addition, without limitation, and any provision to the contrary in this Agreement
notwithstanding, the names of, and any and all information regarding the Depositor Accounts or other accounts belonging to, Depositors and potential
Depositors is, and for all purposes shall be deemed to be, Confidential Information belonging to both Parties as permitted by Applicable Law, subject to
Bank’s rights to use such information according to the terms of this Agreement.  Except as otherwise provided herein, Confidential Information shall not
include (i) information that is now in the public domain, or that later enters the public domain, through no action or inaction of the Receiving Party, (ii)
information that the Receiving Party can demonstrate was already in its possession at the time of its disclosure hereunder other than through disclosure by the
Disclosing Party, (iii) information subsequently and independently developed by the Receiving Party without reference to, or the use of, any Confidential
Information, or (iv) information that is lawfully received from a third party that is known not to be prohibited by law or agreement from disclosing the
same.  The Parties hereby acknowledge that Higher One may elect to request confidential treatment of certain provisions of this Agreement from the Securities
and Exchange Commission including, but not limited to, the pricing related provisions and exhibits as permitted by law and that the Parties will cooperate in
order to effect such request.
 

6.2 Confidentiality Obligations.   Each Receiving Party shall hold Confidential Information received by it in the strictest of confidence and shall not
disclose it to any person or entity, other than the Receiving Party’s officers, directors, employees, third  party service providers, agents, consultants and legal
advisors (collectively, “Representatives”), without the Disclosing Party’s prior written consent.  The Receiving Party shall share Confidential Information
received hereunder only with those of its Representatives as are necessary to enable the Receiving Party to accomplish the purposes of this Agreement, and then
only after advising such Representatives of the requirements of this Section and obtaining their agreement to abide herewith as if they were original parties
hereto.  The Receiving Party shall be responsible for any breach of this Agreement by its Representatives.
 

6.3 Ownership of Confidential Information.   All Confidential Information and all documents, diskettes, tapes, procedural manuals, guides,
specifications, plans, drawings, designs and similar materials, lists of present, past, or prospective customers, vendor proposals, invitations to submit
proposals, price lists and data relating to the pricing of products and services, records, notebooks, and all other materials containing Confidential Information
or information about concepts or ideas developed by or for a Disclosing Party (including all copies and reproductions thereof) that come into a Receiving



Party’s possession or control, whether prepared by the Disclosing Party or others:  (i) are the property of the Disclosing Party, and (ii) shall not be used by the
Receiving Party in any way other than in connection with fulfilling the purposes of this Agreement.
 

6.4 Return of Confidential Information.   Upon the written request of a Disclosing Party, which may be made at any time or from time to time, a
Receiving Party shall, and/or shall cause its Representatives to, promptly return or destroy all Confidential Information provided by the Disclosing Party
without retaining any copies, summaries or extracts thereof except (i) as may otherwise be required to be retained pursuant to Applicable Law and the Network
Rules and (ii) transaction history documents of the Depositors.  In the event of such written request by a Disclosing Party, all documents, analyses, studies, or
other materials prepared by the Receiving Party or its Representatives that contain or reflect Confidential Information shall be forwarded to the Disclosing Party
and no copies thereof shall be retained except as may otherwise be required to be retained pursuant to Applicable Law.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, the
Parties agree that (i) Higher One owns and control any and all documents, Confidential Information, and similar non-bank related information obtained
through its relationships with Universities as well as the Higher One Technology and shall not be required to return or destroy such information and (ii) both
Parties shall have the right to retain a copy of transaction history documents of the Depositors.
 

6.5 Required Disclosures.  Should a Receiving Party learn that it or its Representatives may or will be legally compelled to disclose Confidential
Information (whether by interrogatories, subpoenas, civil investigative demands, or otherwise) provided by a Disclosing Party hereunder, or should a
Receiving Party or its Representatives be requested to disclose such Confidential Information by a governmental authority or agency, the Receiving Party shall
promptly notify the Disclosing Party.  In addition, the Receiving Party shall inform the Disclosing Party of any developments with respect to such compulsion
or request.  When time is of the essence, the Receiving Party may provide notice or updates orally, but must follow these communications with written
summaries.  The Receiving Party shall cooperate with the Disclosing Party to enable the Disclosing Party to obtain a protective order or other similar relief.  If,
in the opinion of legal counsel and in the absence of a protective order or waiver, the Receiving Party and/or its Representatives are legally compelled to disclose
Confidential Information, the Receiving Party and/or such Representatives shall disclose only so much of the Confidential Information as is legally
required.  In any such event, the Receiving Party shall use its good faith efforts to ensure that any Confidential Information so disclosed is accorded
confidential treatment to the greatest extent possible.
 

6.6 Injunctive Relief.  Each Party acknowledges that remedies at law may be inadequate to protect the other against actual or threatened breach of the
provisions of this Section VI.  Without prejudice to any other rights and remedies available to a Party hereunder, each Receiving Party hereby consents to the
granting of injunctive relief in the Disclosing Party’s favor, without proof of actual damages, in the event of an actual or threatened breach hereof with respect
to Confidential Information provided by such Disclosing Party.
 

6.7 Consumer Information and Program Security.  Each Party acknowledges that Applicable Law, including but not limited to the Gramm-
Leach Bliley Act of 1999, as amended, and the regulations promulgated thereunder (the Act and the regulations, collectively, the “GLB Act”) impose certain
obligations on financial institutions with respect to the confidentiality of customer data (collectively, “Protected Information”).  Regardless of whether Higher
One and/or its Representatives are otherwise subject to the GLB Act and other Applicable Law, Bank and Higher One and each of their respective
Representatives shall fully comply with all requirements of the GLB Act and other Applicable Law with respect to any Protected Information received or
accessed in connection with the Program.
 

6.8 Security Measures.  Each Party represents and warrants to the other Party that it has implemented, and shall continue to implement, support,
and maintain, security measures that meets industry standards to secure against unauthorized access and/or damage to Depositor information and other
Protected Information (collectively, the “Security Measures”).  Higher One shall provide Bank with copies of written policies of Higher One regarding the
safeguarding the security of Protected Information promptly upon Bank’s request, which shall be subject to Bank’s approval and modifications as required
by Bank.  In addition to any other Security Measure, Higher One and Bank shall maintain an Identity Theft Prevention Program (the “IDTP”) designed to
detect, prevent, and mitigate identity theft in connection with the Depositor Program.  The IDTP shall be designed to comply with the provisions of Applicable
Law and the Joint Oversight Policies, including, but not limited to, the federal banking agencies’ Interagency Guidelines on Identity Theft Detection,
Prevention, and Mitigation, 12 C.F.R. Part 30, App. B.
 

6.9 Breach.  Subject to the terms below regarding breaches with respect to Protected Information, Higher One and Bank agree to promptly notify the
other Party by telephone as soon as possible after verification in the event either of them becomes aware of any intrusion, security breach, unauthorized access
to, or disclosure or use of any Protected Information that materially affects the security and integrity of such Protected Information and promptly inform the
affected Party of the nature of the security breach, material incursion, or intrusion, what Protected Information has been or may be compromised, and the
extent, if any, that such Protected Information has been or may be compromised.  In such a case, Higher One or Bank, as applicable, will provide an
appropriate response in consultation with the other Party, which may include notification of Depositors and/or law enforcement, and any other acts required by
Applicable Law. Higher One or Bank, as applicable, shall keep the other Party informed of the corrective measures taken and the time for completing such
corrective measures.
 

6.10 Disaster Recovery.  Each Party shall prepare and maintain appropriate disaster recovery, business resumption, and contingency plans in
compliance with Applicable Law, and reasonably acceptable to the other Party.  Such plans shall be sufficient to enable the Party to promptly resume the
performance of its obligations hereunder in the event of a natural disaster, destruction of such Party’s facilities or operations, utility or communication
failures, or similar interruptions of operations, or of any necessary third party.  Each Party shall deliver to the other Party copies of all such disaster recovery,
business resumption, and contingency plans, and shall make available to the other Party copies of any changes thereto upon request.  Each Party shall
regularly test disaster recovery, business resumption, and contingency plans as it deems reasonably appropriate and prudent in light of the nature and scope of
the respective Party’s activities and operations and its obligations hereunder.  Such testing shall be conducted no less frequently than once per calendar year,
and each Party shall promptly provide the other Party with the results thereof upon request.
 

6.11 Intellectual Property Ownership and Licenses
 

(a)  Except for the licenses and other rights set forth in this Agreement, each Party retains all right, title, and interest in and to the
intellectual property rights owned by it, and neither Party is granted any right, title, or interest in or to the other Party’s intellectual
property rights.



 
(b)  In connection with the Depositor Program, either Party (the “Licensor”) may grant the other (the “Licensee”) a non-exclusive,

limited, royalty free license to use and reproduce certain Marks owned by the Licensor to the extent necessary to enable the
Licensee to perform its obligations in accordance with this Agreement.  The Licensee shall only use such Marks (i) in a manner
that will not dilute the value of such Mark, and (ii) in strict compliance with Applicable Laws, Joint Oversight Policies, Network
Rules, and this Agreement.  Any license granted hereunder shall be subject to any applicable usage and style guides or limitations
as from time to time provided by the Licensor.  Except as specifically set forth in this Subsection, no right, title, license, or
interest in any Marks shall be granted to the Licensee or shall be deemed to have been acquired by the Licensee by virtue of this
Agreement.  Prior to using a Mark licensed hereunder, the Licensee shall provide written notice to the Licensor (a “Use Notice”)
setting forth exemplars of the intended design and a description of the intended use.  Within five (5) calendar days of receipt of a
Use Notice, Licensor shall either approve the design and allow use, or identify the reason for withholding its approval.  In the
event that use is not approved, the Parties shall cooperate to find an acceptable design and/or use.  Licensee may not sublicense
any use of the Marks of Licensor without the prior written consent of Licensor in each instance.  Any use of the Marks by
Licensee (or any permitted sub-licensee) and any goodwill associated therewith shall inure to the benefit of Licensor.

 
SECTION VII.                                

 
TERM AND TERMINATION

 
7.1 Term.  The initial term of this Agreement shall be five years from the Effective Date, and shall renew automatically for additional three year

terms unless either Party gives written notice of non-renewal 180 days prior to the expiration of the then-current term; provided, however that this Agreement
may be terminated prior to the end of the initial term or any such renewal term as set forth in Section 7.2 (“Term”).
 

7.2 Termination.  This Agreement may be terminated prior to the end of a Term under the following circumstances:
 

(a)  at any time upon the written agreement of the Parties, specifying a mutually agreed termination date;
 

(b)  by Higher One, without cause, upon providing Bank with at least 270 days' prior written notice before specified termination date
(the "Termination Notice Date"); provided that such termination shall not be effective until Higher One pays Bank an early
termination fee which is equal :

 
(i)  [***] (the “Base Amount”);

 
(ii)  multiplied by the prevailing annual percentage yield (APY) rate available to Bank as of thirty (30) days before the

specified termination date for a brokered certificate of deposit with a maturity period comparable to the time period
between the specified termination date and the end of the Term;

 
(iii)  divided by twelve (12) months; and

 
(iv)  multiplied by the number of months remaining during the period between the specified termination date and the end of

the Term (the “Early Termination Fee”).
 

(c)  by either Party upon the breach by the other Party of any material terms of this Agreement, if such breach is not cured by the
breaching Party within 30 days after receipt of notice thereof from the non-breaching Party;

 
(d)  by either Party in the event of a Supervisory Objection (as defined below) that, after going through the process described below, in

either Party’s good faith judgment requires such Party to terminate its obligations under this Agreement, such Party may terminate
this Agreement upon sixty (60) days written notice to the other Party or such shorter notice as may be required by a Regulatory
Authority; provided,  however, that in the event either Party becomes aware of a Supervisory Objection, such Party shall, as soon
as reasonably practicable and prior to any termination by it of this Agreement, (i) provide the other Party, to the extent permitted
by Applicable Law, with a written certification from an officer of the Party summarizing such Supervisory Objection and (ii) with
the reasonable cooperation of such other Party, use its commercially reasonable efforts to respond to and challenge any such
Supervisory Objection, including, if necessary, proposing and implementing mutually agreed upon

 
    _________________________
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  modifications to the Depositor Program that will satisfy the Regulatory Authority.  If the Parties cannot address the Regulatory
Authority’s concerns to its satisfaction or the expenses associated in connection with implementing modifications necessary to
satisfy the Regulatory Authority will not be commercially practical for either Party, this Agreement may be terminated in
accordance with the foregoing.  As used herein, “Supervisory Objection” means (i) an objection raised by an employee of a
Regulatory Authority having the designation of examiner-in-charge or higher and having supervisory authority over a Party that
expresses the Regulatory Authority’s opinion, in writing, that one or more provisions of this Agreement or the Depositor Program
constitutes a material violation of Applicable Law, is unsafe or unsound, or is otherwise unfair, deceptive, or abusive, (ii) a
memorandum of understanding with a Regulatory Authority, or (iii) any cease-and-desist or other similar formal order of a
Regulatory Authority;

 
(e)  by Higher One, immediately upon written notice should Bank or its affiliate become subject to caps on interchange transaction

fees because Bank or its affiliate has more than $10 billion in consolidated net assets resulting in Bank no longer qualifying for
the small issuer exemption pursuant to the applicable rules of the Durbin Amendment of Dodd–Frank Wall Street Reform and
Consumer Protection Act 12 C.F.R 235;

 
(f)  by Bank, upon 270 days’ prior written notice to Higher One upon any change to, enactment of, or interpretation of, Applicable

Law that Bank reasonably determines, in good faith, would make its continued provision of the services hereunder commercially
impracticable; provided that Bank shall pay Higher One a termination fee equal to the actual and reasonable associated costs of
Higher One to transfer the Depositor Accounts to another financial institution; or

 
(g)  by Bank, immediately upon written notice to Higher One, in the event the Bank is unable to procure the OCC’s approval or non-

objection to this Agreement within ninety (90) days from the Effective Date, despite the Bank’s good faith and reasonable efforts.
 

7.3 Effect of Termination or Expiration.  In the event of termination or expiration of this Agreement by any Party:
 

(a)  Any undisputed amounts due and owing from one Party to the other shall be promptly paid in full; and
 

(b)  Sections I, 2.3(e), 2.3(g), 2.8, III (to the extent payment obligations remain outstanding), IV, V, VI, 7.3, XVIII, IX, X, XI and XII
shall survive such termination and provided further, that any termination hereof shall not preclude any Party hereto from
recovering any legal or equitable damages or relief to which it is entitled, including any damages incurred during the Transfer
period described in Section 8.1 below.

 
SECTION VIII.                                

 
TRANSFER OF DEPOSITOR ACCOUNTS

 
8.1 Transfer of Deposits.  Upon the date of termination or expiration of this Agreement as provided in Section 7.1 or 7.2 of this Agreement, Bank

shall, at Higher One’s cost and expense, transfer the Depositor Accounts to an institution designated by Higher One (the “Transfer”), subject to the
requirements of Applicable Law, the Depositor Agreement and any other applicable requirements.  Any required approvals shall be obtained as soon as
practicable following the date notice of termination is given; provided,  however, notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, the Parties shall
continue to maintain the Depositor Accounts and perform related obligations pursuant to the terms provided in this Agreement until any necessary approvals
have been obtained.  As part of the Transfer, Bank shall, to the extent permitted or considered necessary or appropriate and at Higher One’s cost and expense,
transfer any BINs, routing numbers and other related identifiers used in connection with the Depositor Accounts, and deliver any and all applicable
information, account opening contracts and the like.  The Parties shall cooperate with each other on the issuance of necessary notices to Depositors (at Higher
One’s cost and expense) and on all other matters necessary or appropriate to a legal and efficient Transfer.  Bank shall use commercially reasonable efforts to
assist with the Transfer.  Until the Transfer is complete, Bank shall continue to provide all services under this Agreement if requested to do so by Higher One
upon the terms and conditions set forth in this Agreement, unless otherwise directed by a Regulatory Authority.
 

8.2 Closing Deliveries and Documents.   Upon the consummation of the Transfer, the Parties shall deliver to each other such documents as are
typical for such a transfer, including contracts and officer’s certificates.  Appropriate adjustments for returned and uncollected items shall be made, as
appropriate, on a post-closing basis.
 

8.3 Certain Transfer Matters.  Upon the Transfer, Higher One or its designee shall be responsible for completing Forms 1099 and other tax
reporting forms, if applicable, for Depositors who were set up in connection with the Depositor Program, and other similar customer-related matters.
 

SECTION IX.                                
 

INSURANCE
 

9.1 General Liability Coverage.   Higher One shall, at its sole expense, obtain and maintain throughout the Term, policies of commercial general
liability insurance which may include excess umbrella insurance, including contractual liability, having such terms and such limits as are reasonably
required by Bank from time to time, but in any event an aggregate limit of not less than Ten Million Dollars ($10,000,000), and a per occurrence limit of not
less than Ten Million Dollars ($10,000,000).
 

9.2 Policy Requirements.  Each insurance policy required of Higher One shall (i) name Bank as an additional insured, (ii) by its terms, be



considered primary and non-contributory with respect to any other insurance carried by Bank, and (iii) be issued by an insurer having an A.M. Best’s Key
Rating Guide rating of A-IX or better.  All insurance limits required hereunder may be met through a combination of primary and umbrella/excess
policies.  Higher One agrees to give Bank thirty (30) days’ prior written notice that such policy has been canceled or materially changed.
 

9.3 No Limitation of Liability.  Neither the issuance of any insurance policy required hereunder, nor the minimum levels of insurance coverage
required herein, shall serve to limit any liability otherwise accruing to Higher One hereunder or in connection with the Depositor Program.
 

SECTION X.                                
 

INDEMNIFICATION
 

10.1 Indemnification by Bank.   Bank shall indemnify and defend Higher One and its parent, subsidiaries and affiliates, and its and their
respective officers, directors, employees, and permitted assigns, against any direct losses or expenses arising from any legal action, claim, demand, or
proceedings brought against any of them as a result of (a) any act of gross negligence, willful misconduct, or intentional tort on the part of Bank or its agents,
officers, or employees; (b) any material breach by Bank of this Agreement; or (c) the authorized access and use by Higher One of any Marks of Bank in
accordance with this Agreement; provided,  however, Bank shall not be liable for any loss, claim, damage, or liability with respect to which Higher One is
obligated to indemnify Bank pursuant to Section 10.2.
 

10.2 Indemnification by Higher One.   Higher One shall indemnify and defend Bank and its parent, subsidiaries and affiliates, and its and their
respective officers, directors, employees, and permitted assigns, against any direct losses or expenses, arising from any legal action, claim, demand, or
proceedings brought against any of them as a result of (a) any act of gross negligence, willful misconduct, or intentional tort on the part of Higher One or
Third Party Service Providers, or their representatives, agents, officers, or employees; (b) any material breach by Higher One of this Agreement; (c) the
authorized access and use by Bank of any Marks owned by Higher One, or  software, systems or any other intellectual property used or provided by Higher
One in connection with this Agreement; or (d) except to the extent caused by Bank's failure to comply with this Agreement, the Depositor Program.
 

10.3 Indemnification Procedure.  If either Party (the “Indemnified Party”) becomes aware of any matter which may give rise to a claim for
indemnification (“Indemnification Claim”) against the other Party (the “Indemnifying Party”), the Indemnified Party shall promptly notify the Indemnifying
Party in writing; provided,  however, that no delay on the part of the Indemnified Party in notifying the Indemnifying Party shall relieve the Indemnifying Party
from any obligation hereunder unless (and then solely to the extent) the Indemnifying Party is materially prejudiced thereby.  The Indemnifying Party will have
the right to assume the defense of the third-party claim with counsel reasonably satisfactory to the Indemnified Party to represent the Indemnified Party in such
proceeding, and shall pay the fees and disbursements of such counsel related to such proceeding, so long as (i) the Indemnifying Party notifies the Indemnified
Party in writing within thirty (30) days after the Indemnified Party has given notice of the indemnification claim that the Indemnifying Party will indemnify the
Indemnified Party in accordance with this Section, and (ii) the Indemnifying Party conducts the defense of the third-party claim actively and diligently.  The
Indemnified Party also may retain its own separate co-counsel at its sole cost and expense and participate in the defense of the claim.  No Indemnifying Party
shall, without the prior written consent of the Indemnified Party, effect any settlement of any pending or threatened proceeding in respect of which any
Indemnified Party is or could have been a party and indemnity could have been sought hereunder by such Indemnified Party (i) if such settlement involves
any form of relief other than the payment of money or any finding or admission of any violation of any law, regulation or order or any of the rights of any
person or has any adverse effect on any other indemnification claims that have been or may be made against the Indemnified Party or (ii) if such settlement
involves only the payment of money, unless it includes an unconditional release of such Indemnified Party of all liability on claims that are the subject of such
proceeding.  The Indemnifying Party shall not be liable for any settlement of any proceeding effected without its written consent, but if settled with such
consent or if there is a final judgment for the plaintiff, the Indemnifying Party agrees to indemnify the Indemnified Party from and against any Loss by reason
of such settlement or judgment.  The Indemnified Party may assume control of the defense of any claim if (A) the Indemnifying Party fails to provide
reasonable assurance to the Indemnified Party of its financial capacity to defend or provide indemnification with respect to such claim, (B) the Indemnified
Party determines in good faith that there is a reasonable likelihood that an indemnification claim would materially and adversely affect it or any other
indemnitees other than as a result of monetary damages that would be fully reimbursed by an Indemnifying Party under this Agreement, or (C) the
Indemnifying Party refuses or fails to timely assume the defense of such indemnification claim.
 

SECTION XI.
LIMITATION OF LIABILITY

11.1 THE AGGREGATE CUMULATIVE LIABILITY OF BANK WITH RESPECT TO HIGHER ONE FOR ANY LOSS OR DAMAGE
ARISING OUT OF OR RELATED TO THIS AGREEMENT WITH RESPECT TO CLAIMS RELATING TO EVENTS DURING THE TERM OF THIS
AGREEMENT SHALL NOT UNDER ANY CIRCUMSTANCES EXCEED ONE MILLION DOLLARS ($1,000,000).
 
THE AGGREGATE CUMULATIVE LIABILITY OF HIGHER ONE WITH RESPECT TO BANK FOR ANY LOSS OR DAMAGE ARISING OUT OF
OR RELATED TO THIS AGREEMENT WITH RESPECT TO CLAIMS RELATING TO EVENTS DURING THE TERM OF THIS AGREEMENT
SHALL NOT UNDER ANY CIRCUMSTANCES EXCEED THE HIGHER OF:  (A) ONE MILLION DOLLARS ($1,000,000), AND (B) THE AMOUNT
OF THE EARLY TERMINATION FEE THAT WOULD HAVE BEEN PAYABLE BY HIGHER ONE IF HIGHER ONE HAD TERMINATED FOR
CONVENIENCE ON THE DATE OF THE EVENT GIVING RISE TO THE CLAIM.
 

11.2 NOTWITHSTANDING ANY OTHER PROVISION IN THIS AGREEMENT, NEITHER PARTY SHALL HAVE ANY LIABILITY TO
THE OTHER PARTY FOR ANY INDIRECT, EXEMPLARY, SPECIAL, INCIDENTAL, PUNITIVE, OR CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES
(INCLUDING, WITHOUT LIMITATION, LOST PROFITS, BUSINESS INTERRUPTION, OR LOST DATA) HOWEVER CAUSED AND,
WHETHER IN CONTRACT, TORT, OR UNDER ANY OTHER THEORY OF LIABILITY, WHETHER OR NOT THE PARTY HAS BEEN ADVISED
OF THE POSSIBILITY OF SUCH DAMAGE.  NOTWITHSTANDING THE FOREGOING, THE COST OF REPLACING DEPOSITS FOR THE
REMAINDER OF THE TERM SHALL BE CONSIDERED A DIRECT LOSS OF THE BANK FOR THE PURPOSES OF THIS AGREEMENT AND
NOT EXCLUDED BY THIS SECTION 11.2, AND THE PARTIES AGREE THAT THE LIMITATION OF LIABILITY IN THIS SECTION 11.2
SHALL NOT APPLY TO ANY EARLY TERMINATION FEE (OR ANY PORTION THEREOF) THAT MAY BECOME DUE AND PAYABLE BY



HIGHER ONE UNDER THIS AGREEMENT.
 

11.3 NOTWITHSTANDING ANYTHING IN THIS AGREEMENT TO THE CONTRARY, THE LIMITATIONS OF LIABILITY SET FORTH
IN THIS ARTICLE 11, INCLUDING, WITHOUT LIMITATION, THE MONETARY LIMITATION SET FORTH ABOVE, SHALL NOT APPLY TO
ANY CLAIMS ARISING OR RESULTING FROM (A) A PARTY’S BREACH OF CONFIDENTIALITY OBLIGATIONS SET FORTH IN SECTION VI;
(B) INDEMNIFICATION OBLIGATIONS SET FORTH IN ARTICLE X; OR (C) A PARTY’S FRAUD, GROSS NEGLIGENCE OR WILLFUL
MISCONDUCT.
 

SECTION XII.                                
 

MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS
 

12.1 Cooperation and Access.   The Parties shall reasonably cooperate in order to effect the transaction contemplated herein.  The Parties hereby
agree to provide the other with full and complete access to their respective operations to the extent relating to the transactions contemplated herein and all matters
related thereto.
 

12.2 Arbitration.  Any dispute arising under this Agreement shall be referred to and resolved by arbitration in the State of New York in accordance
with the rules of the American Arbitration Association, by a panel of three arbitrators, one of whom shall be selected by Higher One, one of whom shall be
selected by Bank, and the third of whom shall be selected by the arbitrators selected by Higher One and Bank.  A determination made in accordance with such
rules shall be delivered in writing to the Parties hereto and shall be final and binding and conclusive upon them.  Each Party shall pay its own legal,
accounting, and other fees and expenses in connection with such an arbitration; provided, however, that the arbitrators may award arbitration costs, including
legal, auditing, and other fees and expenses to the prevailing party in the arbitration proceeding if the arbitrators determine that such an award is appropriate.
 

12.3 Relationship of Parties.   Each Party and all of its respective agents and employees shall be considered independent contractors of the other
Party, and the Parties shall take such action as may be reasonably necessary to ensure such treatment.  Bank shall at no time have any right or interest in the
agreement(s) between Higher One and the Universities and shall have no rights with respect to Higher One customers except those rights which derive from the
Depositor Agreements or from other contracts or relationships having no relation to the Depositor Program.
 

12.4 Entire Agreement.  This Agreement contains the entire agreement of the Parties with respect to the subject matter contained herein and there are
no agreements, warranties, covenants, or undertakings, other than those expressly set forth herein, and replaces in its entirety the Letter of Intent, dated
September 30th, 2011, between Higher One and Bank.  Higher One and Bank may enter into additional agreement for other products through separate
agreements or amendments hereto.
 

12.5 Successors and Assigns.   This Agreement shall be binding upon and shall inure to the benefit of the Parties hereto and their respective
successors and assigns.  This Agreement shall not be assigned by either Party, other than to an affiliate, without the prior written consent of the other Party;
and provided that any actions required or permitted to be taken herein by a Party may be taken by an affiliate of such Party, provided further that such
substitution does not have a material adverse affect on the attendant benefits to the other Party.  For the purposes of this Agreement, “affiliate” is a person who
is controlled by or is under the common control of a Party, “control” being presumptively shown by a majority ownership and/or voting interest.
 

12.6 GOVERNING LAW.  THIS AGREEMENT SHALL BE GOVERNED BY AND CONSTRUED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE LAWS
OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK WITHOUT REGARD TO ITS CONFLICT OF LAWS RULES.
 

12.7 Amendment and Waiver.  This Agreement may not be amended except by an instrument in writing signed on behalf of all of the Parties.  Any
term, provision, or condition of this Agreement (other than that required by law) may be waived in writing at any time by the Party which is entitled to the
benefits thereof.
 

12.8 Force Majeure.  Neither Party shall be deemed to be in default hereunder or liable for any losses arising out of the failure, delay or interruption
of its performance of obligations under this Agreement due to any act of God, act of terrorism, act of public enemy, war, riot, flood, civil commotion,
insurrection, severe weather conditions, or any other cause beyond that Party’s reasonable control.
 

12.9 Interpretation.  The headings of the various sections of this Agreement have been inserted for convenience of reference only and shall not be
deemed to be a part of this Agreement.
 

12.10 Notice.  Any notice to be given hereunder to the other Party, including any notice of a change of address, shall be in writing and shall be
deemed validly given if (a) delivered personally or (b) sent by express delivery service, registered or certified mail, postage prepaid, return receipt requested or
(c) sent by facsimile or email, as follows:
 
 If to Higher One: Higher One, Inc.
 25 Science Park
 New Haven, CT 06511
 Attn:  President
 Email: contracts@higherone.com
 Fax:  203-776-7796
 
 If to Bank: Urban Trust Bank
 Corporate Offices
 400 Colonial Center Parkway - Suite 150



 Lake Mary, FL 32746
 Attn: Mike Farrell
 Email: mfarrell@urbantrustbank.com
 
All such notices shall be deemed given on the date of actual receipt by the addressee if delivered personally, on the date of deposit with the express delivery
service or the postal authorities if sent in either such manner, on the date the facsimile or email is sent if sent in such manner, and on the date of actual receipt
by the addressee if delivered in any other manner.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, each Party shall provide the other Party with a pre-notification of its intent to
provide a notice hereunder, including, but not limited to, a notice of termination, two (2) business days prior to the notice so that the Parties can use reasonable
efforts to coordinate any necessary public disclosure of information.
 

12.11 Counterparts.  This Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts, each of which shall be deemed to be an original, but all of
which together shall constitute one and the same instrument.
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In witness whereof, the Parties have executed this Agreement as of the date first written above.
 
URBAN TRUST BANK, A FEDERAL SAVINGS BANK
  
  
By:               /s/ Larry D. Flowers
Its:               Chief Executive Officer
  
  
  
HIGHER ONE, INC.
  
  
By:               /s/ Mark Volchek
Its:               Chief Financial Officer
  

 
 



 

SCHEDULE 2.3(j)

Vendor List

The Bancorp Bank
Fiserv Solutions, Inc.
MasterCard International Incorporated
Terramark North America, Inc. and Neospire, Inc.
Deluxe Corporation
Shoreline Business Solutions
Teletech Holdings, Inc.
Online Resources Corporation
FIS EFunds (chexsystems)
RightNow Technologies
Lexis Nexis
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EXHIBIT 10.23

CONFIDENTIAL TREATMENT REQUESTED

 
DEPOSIT PROCESSING SERVICES AGREEMENT

 
THIS DEPOSIT PROCESSING SERVICES AGREEMENT (this “Agreement”) is entered into as of this 11th day of January, 2012 (“Effective

Date”), by and between Wright Express Financial Services Corporation  (“Bank”), a Federal Reserve Non-Member with its principal place of business
at 7090 Union Park Center Suite 350, Midvale, Utah 84047, and Higher One, Inc. (“Higher One”), a Delaware corporation with its principal place of
business at 25 Science Park, New Haven, Connecticut  06511 Higher One and Bank are hereinafter referred to, collectively, as the “Parties,” and
individually each as a “Party.”
 

RECITALS
 

Bank is a Federal Reserve Non-Member that, among other things, offers and maintains Negotiable Order of Withdrawal deposit (“NOW”) accounts
for customers.
 

Higher One is engaged in the business of providing customized product and service programs to educational institutions throughout the United States
and to their respective students, faculty, staff, alumni, and other related parties, including but not limited to the delivery of NOW accounts with customized
features to such parties.
 

The Parties desire to work together to establish and maintain Bank NOW accounts in connection with such customized programs offered by Higher
One.
 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants and representations contained herein, and for other good and valuable consideration,
the receipt and sufficiency of which is hereby acknowledged, the parties hereto agree as follows:
 

SECTION I.
 

DEFINITIONS
 

1.1 Certain Definitions.  As used in this Agreement, the following terms have the definitions indicated.
 

“Applicable Law” means all applicable federal and state statutes, regulations, judicial decisions, rules, orders and requirements, of a Regulatory
Authority as such statutes, regulations, requirements, or orders, may be amended or in effect from time to time during the term of this Agreement.
 

 “Card” means a debit card or other electronic access device issued by Bank to a Depositor for purposes of accessing the Depositor Account.
 

 “Depositor” means a current customer of Higher One who has entered into a Depositor Agreement.
 

____________________________________
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“Depositor Account” means a NOW account (as defined by Regulation D of the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System) that is held by
Bank in the name or for the benefit of a Depositor pursuant to a Depositor Agreement.
 

“Depositor Agreement” means the agreement that governs the relationship between Bank and a Depositor and prescribes the terms and conditions
under which the related Depositor Account is established, maintained and used, and all related disclosures provided with respect thereto.
 

“Depositor Program” means the administration and processing operation of Depositor Accounts pursuant to the Depositor Agreement.
 

“FDIC” means the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation or any successor entity.
 

“Fees” means all fees and charges generated from the use of the Depositor Accounts, including any Card usage, interchange, and miscellaneous fees.
 

“Financial Transaction(s)” means a Depositor Account transaction involving the withdrawal of funds from or the deposit of funds to a Depositor
Account.
 

“Graphic Standards” means all standards, policies, and other requirements adopted by Bank from time to time with respect to use of its Marks.
 

“Higher One Services and Products” means the banking programs offered to University customers of Higher One as further described in this
Agreement.
 

“Higher One Technology” means all proprietary software owned or licensed by Higher One and made available to Bank pursuant to this Agreement.
 

“Joint Oversight Policies” means the policies and procedures as to be agreed to by the Parties, as may be amended from time to time.
 

“Mark” means trade names, trademarks, service marks and logos, whether or not registered.
 

“Material Adverse Effect” means a change, effect, event, or circumstance that would have, individually or in the aggregate, a material adverse change
in, as the case may be, the assets, liabilities, financial position, or results of operations, prospects, or business conditions of a Party, taken as a whole.
 

“Network” means MasterCard, VISA, Cirrus, Plus, and/or any similar electronic payment processing system over which Financial Transactions
with respect to Cards are processed.
 

“Network Rules” means the operating rules of any Network, as may be amended from time to time and provided to Higher One in writing.
 

“OFAC” means the U.S. Department of Treasury’s Office of Foreign Assets Control.
 

“Regulatory Authority” means any local, state, or federal agency, office, or supervising entity, or any other authority having jurisdiction over Bank
or Higher One, in such a manner as to impact the operations or activity being contemplated under this Agreement.
 

“Solicitation Material” means all advertisements, brochures, applications, telemarketing scripts, point of purchase displays, packaging, television
advertisements, radio advertisements, electronic web pages, electronic web links, and any other type of advertisement, marketing material, or interactive media
developed, launched, or distributed for purposes of marketing or promoting a Depositor Program.
 

“Supervisory Objection” has the meaning set forth in Section 7.2(d).
 

 “Term” has the meaning set forth in Section 7.1.
 

“University” means an educational institution wherein Higher One offers its services.
 

SECTION II.
 

OBLIGATIONS AND COVENANTS
 

2.1 General Intent.  It is the intent of the Parties to offer Bank NOW accounts to students, faculty, staff, and alumni of Higher One’s various
University clients in conjunction with other customized products and services offered by Higher One.  As set forth herein, Higher One, on behalf of Bank,
will provide processing and other administrative services including, but not limited to, customer services, with respect to those Depositor Accounts, and Bank
will establish and maintain the Depositor Accounts opened by such customers.
 

2.2 Specific Obligations of Higher One.   Higher One shall be responsible for the following obligations in accordance with Joint Oversight Policies,
Network Rules, and Applicable Law.
 

(a)  Contracts with Universities.   From time to time, Higher One may enter into contracts with Universities to provide the Higher
One Services and Products to them and/or their students, faculty, staff, alumni, and/or other related parties.  As part of such
contracts, and using Solicitation Materials approved by Bank, Higher One shall make available to the Universities and/or their
students, faculty, staff, alumni, and/or other related parties the Depositor Program, including Depositor Accounts.  Higher One
shall manage such relationships with the Universities on an ongoing basis and shall process any Depositor Accounts under the



Depositor Program.
 

(b)  Operations of Depositor Program.   Higher One, directly or pursuant to contracts with third party service providers, shall
provide for all necessary operations of the Depositor Program, including the necessary management, financial expertise, staff, and
software needed to conduct the Depositor Program, excluding all Bank staff, systems, networks, utilities, software, and
hardware.

 
(c)  Master Account Recordkeeping.   Higher One will make appropriate entries to an account established by Bank for such purpose

to reflect the Financial Transactions to the Depositor Accounts and maintain such necessary records to establish a Depositor
Account for each individual Depositor with sufficient detail as required by Applicable Law to assist in ensuring that the Depositor
Accounts qualify for FDIC insurance.

 
(d)  Verification of Customer Identity.  Higher One, consistent with policies and procedures that shall be developed by Higher One

shall be responsible for the collection and verification of such Depositor information as is necessary to (i) verify Depositor identity
and complete appropriate Office of Foreign Assets Control validation and (ii) to satisfy the customer identification program
requirements applicable to insured depository institutions found in 31 C.F.R. Chapter X.  For the avoidance of doubt, Bank
hereby acknowledges that Higher One’s policies and procedures in place relating to the verification of customer identity as
referenced in the preceding sentence are approved as of the Effective Date.  Bank shall approve, in its sole discretion all such
policies and procedures.  In addition, Bank reserves the right to update such policies and procedures from time to time and require
Higher One to modify or amend the same at the sole discretion of the Bank.

 
(e)  Depositor Account Transaction Processing.  Higher One shall be responsible for the processing of all transactional activity in

connection with the Depositor Accounts, including:  (i) ACH and wire transfer transactions initiated at the direction of Depositors;
(ii) deposits to Depositor Accounts (via ACH, mail, wire transfers, and direct credits from Universities (including disbursement
funds from the Universities to recipients individually identified to Higher One and identified by Higher One to Bank)); and (iii)
coordinating and providing support for payments made from Depositor Accounts, including payment by check, debit card, and
electronic payment.

 
(f)  Check Production and Card Management.   Higher One shall be responsible for the following at its sole risk and expense:

 
(i)  arranging for the production of all checks and/or Cards provided to Depositors in connection with any Depositor

Account, including the manufacturing, printing, and distribution of all checks and/or Cards  including providing the
Depositor Agreement related thereto,  identifying Bank as the Card issuer on each Card and the related Depositor
Agreement, and including such other names and Marks as may be required to conform to Graphic Standards,
Applicable Law, Joint Oversight Policies and the Network Rules;

 
(ii)  handling and distributing, or having arranging for the handling and distributing of Cards and/or checks as necessary;

and
 

(iii)  managing all security aspects of the Cards, including allowing for Depositors to select and change their personal
identification number (PIN) online.

 
(g)  Document Retention.  Upon the qualification of a potential Depositor by Higher One consistent with Applicable Law, Joint

Oversight Policies or Network Rules, Higher One shall retain on behalf of Bank such potential Depositor’s application, all
supporting information and documentation, and any reports prepared therefrom, as provided by Applicable Law, the Joint
Oversight Policies, and the Network Rules, and shall at all times be available to Bank in electronic form promptly upon request.

 
(h)  Compliance with Law and Regulation.   Higher One shall develop, implement, and maintain internal controls reasonably

designed to ensure regulatory compliance at all times with Applicable Law including providing Bank with applicable fraud-related
information to assist Bank with its Bank Secrecy Act/Anti-Money Laundering obligations and maintaining necessary tax
documentation for Depositors (as applicable).

 
(i)  Marketing and Advertising.   Higher One shall be solely responsible for marketing the Depositor Program, subject to Bank’s

approval of any marketing material, to end users, potential customers and universities at its cost and in accordance with the terms
and conditions of this Agreement.

 
2.3 Specific Obligations of Bank.  Bank shall perform the following obligations in accordance with the Joint Oversight Policies, Network Rules,

and Applicable Law:
 

(a)  Maintenance of Depositor Accounts.   Bank shall establish, maintain, and administer the Depositor Accounts and perform all
related banking services offered to and used by the Depositors under the Depositor Program that are not otherwise the
responsibility of Higher One pursuant to the applicable delegations herein.

 
(b)  Maintenance of the Depositor Program.   Bank shall ensure that all depository services performed in connection with the

Depositor Program are separately maintained for the Depositors and the Depositor Program, such as maintaining a separate
Routing/Transit number (including working with Higher One and one or more of its existing bank partners to transfer an existing
routing number, and entering into any required agreements to facilitate the continued use of existing numbers), clearing accounts,
and BINs for the Depositor Accounts and Cards.



 
(c)  Deposit Insurance.  Bank shall ensure that its FDIC deposit insurance remains in full force and effect so that the Depositor

Account of each Depositor qualifies for FDIC deposit insurance, subject to FDIC rules and regulations,  in the Depositor’s
individual right and capacity, either on a pass-through or direct basis.  Bank shall bear all costs associated with providing this
insurance.

 
(d)  Availability of Checks.  Bank shall allow Higher One to make available checks in connection with certain Depositor Accounts

to be made available to each Depositor through Higher One, with which Depositors may draw against their Depositor Accounts,
and Bank shall honor those checks properly drawn on the Depositor Accounts based on funds available in the Depositor
Accounts, all in accordance with any Depositor Agreement.

 
(e)  Issuance of Cards.  Bank shall: (i) facilitate the issuance of the Cards in accordance with applicable Network Rules; (ii) honor

the Card transactions made by Depositors based on funds available in the Depositor Accounts and applicable Network Rules;
and (iii) facilitate the pass-through to Higher One of all benefits from Networks (including through incentive agreements or
through volume, entered into by Higher One or Bank).  Notwithstanding the foregoing, Bank and Higher One acknowledge that
the Cards are, and shall at all times remain, the property of the Bank as issuer.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, Bank recognizes
that Higher One shall retain ownership of the Depositor list.

 
(f)  ATM Operations.  Bank shall support Higher One-branded ATMs as needed, and shall make cash available to customers

[***] for such ATMs [***].  Notwithstanding the foregoing, Higher One is solely responsible for the servicing, maintenance and
monitoring of the ATMs.

 
(g)  Wire Transfers.  The Parties shall use their good faith efforts to mutually agree as to how to manage the operation of wire

transfer services.
 

(h)  Network Membership.   Bank shall obtain and maintain membership in one or more Networks, maintain its BIN, and timely
pay all normal fees, dues, and assessments associated therewith, except those arising in connection with the Depositor Program,
or incurred as a direct result of Bank’s sponsorship of Higher One; provided,  however, Bank shall not be responsible for the
payment of any fees, fines, or charges assessed by a Network as a result of the perceived failure of any aspect of a Depositor
Program to comply with the Network Rules, payment of which fees, fines, and charges being the obligation of Higher One under
this Agreement.  Bank shall also reasonably assist Higher One in securing such Network registration as a marketing or service
provider, and such approvals as may be required for Higher One to discharge its obligations under this
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  Agreement and shall be solely responsible for all costs related to seeking, obtaining, and holding such approvals.
 

2.4 Compliance Obligations.   Each Party shall perform its respective obligations under this Agreement pursuant to Applicable Law.  Each Party
shall possess and maintain at all times all licenses, permits, approvals, and registrations required by Applicable Law and the Joint Oversight Policies to
perform its obligations pursuant to this Agreement.  Each Party, at its own expense, shall be responsible for obtaining any and all regulatory approvals related
to the transactions contemplated herein, and shall use its respective best efforts to obtain all such regulatory approvals and cooperate with the other Party to
facilitate the procurement of all such regulatory approvals.
 

2.5 Handling of Complaints.   Higher One shall as soon as reasonably possible notify Bank of any and all complaints received in connection with
the Depositor Program from a Regulatory Authority, and shall promptly respond to and resolve such complaints as instructed by Bank.  In addition, Higher
One shall cooperate with Bank in assessing and evaluating the frequency, nature, or underlying causes for any consumer complaints, and preventing the
recurrence thereof.  Each notice regarding a Depositor or third party complaint shall include the name and address of the complainant, a brief summary of the
complaint, the date upon which such complaint or inquiry was received, and Higher One’s proposed resolution thereof.
 

2.6 Approvals of Solicitation Materials.   All Solicitation Materials shall be submitted to Bank in advance for Bank’s prior written approval
(which approval (i) may be granted or withheld in Bank’s sole discretion, (ii) shall be provided within two (2) business days and (iii) may not be
unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed) and, as necessary, the approval of any third parties.  Higher One shall not release, launch, or distribute any
Solicitation Materials in any form without having first obtained confirmation Bank approvals.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Parties agree that non-
material changes to the approved Solicitation Materials including, but not limited to, the name of a University, the logo of such entity and related items shall
not require the approval of Bank.  The graphic design of all Cards, and the design and content of all Depositor Agreements, shall be subject to Bank’s prior
written approval (which approval (i) may be granted or withheld in Bank’s sole discretion, (ii) shall be provided within two (2) business days and (iii) may
not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed) and the approval of any applicable third parties to the extent expressly required.  Notwithstanding
Bank’s approval of the form or content of a Depositor Agreement, Bank shall have the right, in its sole and absolute discretion, from time to time, with
reasonable advance notice, if possible, to require alterations to or amendments of, or provide a substitute for, the Depositor Agreement (each a “Revision” and,
collectively, “Revisions”) thereof in the event that (i) Bank reasonably determines that Applicable Law, Joint Oversight Policies, or Network Rules require such
Revision, (ii) either Party receives any written demand or order from a court, Regulatory Authority, or a Network, mandating that such Revisions must be
implemented, or (iii) either Party receives or becomes aware of an actual or threatened legal claim based upon or in any way related to the affected portion of the
Depositor Program.  Bank shall notify Higher One in writing of any required Revisions, and, unless otherwise directed by Bank, Higher One shall within the
timeframe set forth by Applicable Law (i) incorporate said Revisions into such Depositor Agreement and/or Solicitation Materials as may be distributed
thereafter, and (ii) distribute replacement Depositor Agreements incorporating the Revisions to all Depositors who had received prior versions of the Depositor
Agreement.  Bank hereby acknowledges that it approves the current version of the Deposit Agreement.
 

2.7 Access to Higher One Reports.   Higher One shall provide Bank direct access to all reports, and such services as Bank requests, to facilitate
settlements, balance and reconcile Depositor Accounts, monitor for fraudulent Financial Transactions, comply with Bank’s Bank Secrecy Act and OFAC
obligations, and otherwise monitor regulatory compliance.  Higher One shall keep accurate, complete, and up to date records on behalf of Bank of (i) the
identity of each Depositor and the steps taken to verify such identity; (ii) all charges, Financial Transactions, and fees that have been made or charged
Depositor, and (iii) such other information as may from time to time be required by Bank, the Joint Oversight Policies, or Applicable Law (collectively, the
“Required Records”).  Higher One shall retain all Required Records for a minimum time period as mandated by Applicable Law, Joint Oversight Policies or the
Network Rules.  All Required Records shall be accurate, and to the extent presenting financial information, kept in a manner that is consistent with accounting
standards and designed to fairly present the information set forth therein.  Higher One shall provide Bank access to any and all Depositor Program related
records, including, but not limited to, Required Records that Bank reasonably requests in connection with compliance with Bank’s obligations under
Applicable Law and/or Joint Oversight Policies, which policies shall substantially be consistent with Applicable Law.
 

2.8 Right to Audit.   Bank shall have the right, at its own expense, to conduct periodic audits of Higher One.  Bank may select an independent third-
party auditor to conduct such audits. Such audits, in Bank’s and/or the auditor’s discretion, may include an on-site inspection of the respective facilities and
a review of documents, contracts, hardware and software systems, security systems, policies, procedures, and books and records of Higher One and such
third parties.  Such audits may be conducted during business days upon reasonable advance notice.  Higher One agrees to cooperate with such audit and
provide copies or access to such documents, information, and Higher One personnel as reasonably necessary or helpful for the auditor to conduct such
audit.  In exercising its rights under this paragraph, Bank and its representatives shall take reasonable steps to avoid disruption of the business of the audited
party.  Higher One shall provide to Bank such information as Bank may, at its sole and absolute discretion, request regarding Higher One and the Depositor
Program, for purposes of performing a periodic due diligence and/or compliance review as permitted by Applicable Law.
 

2.9 Examination by Regulatory Authorities.   Higher One shall permit any Regulatory Authority with supervisory authority over Bank to inspect,
audit, and examine the facilities, records, and personnel relating to the Depositor Program to ensure compliance with Applicable Law at any time during
normal business hours upon reasonable notice.  Higher One shall permit any such Regulatory Authority to make abstracts of any such records directly
pertaining to the subject matter of this Agreement during such an inspection, audit, or examination.
 

2.10 Other Agreements Not Precluded.   This Agreement shall not preclude Higher One from entering into similar agreements to provide deposit
processing services to other banks or financial institutions, nor shall it preclude Bank from providing products or services to providers of other depositor
programs generally through Bank’s own marketing efforts or through the marketing efforts of other third parties.  Higher One shall have the right to offer
additional products and services to Depositors in Higher One’s sole discretion. Bank shall not solicit Higher One’s customers for programs that may compete
with Higher One Services and Products unless such customers were customers of Bank  prior to becoming customers of Higher One. Notwithstanding the
foregoing, the Parties acknowledge that this Section shall not preclude general solicitations by Bank such as mass mailing, media, and otherwise not
specifically targeted at Depositors, or if the Depositor or their names come to Bank in the normal course of business.
 



2.11 Joint Program Management Committee.   No later than thirty (30) days after the Effective Date, each Party shall designate up to four (4)
individuals (an equal number for each Party as mutually agreed) to serve on a standing joint program management committee (“Joint Program Management
Committee”) which shall meet (including through participation by telephone or other electronic means) at least quarterly during the time this Agreement is in
effect, at such times and places as the members of the Joint Program Management Committee shall agree.  The initial members of the Joint Program
Management Committee shall be designated in writing by each Party, which may change its designated individuals for the Joint Program Management
Committee at any time and from time to time.  The purpose of the Joint Program Management Committee will be to review and discuss the effectiveness of the
Depositor Program as a whole and the policies and procedures implemented to ensure compliance with this Agreement, Applicable Law, Joint Oversight
Policies, and the Network Rules.  All members of the Joint Program Management Committee shall exercise reasonable diligence and shall cooperate fully with
other members of the Joint Program Management Committee in carrying out the purposes and functions of such committee.  Each Party shall pay for its own
expenses incurred with respect to its participation in the Joint Program Management Committee.
 
    [***]

SECTION III.
 

COMPENSATION
 

3.1 Bank Compensation.  As its sole source of compensation for performance of all obligations pursuant to this Agreement, Bank shall retain any
and all revenue it may generate from the investment of the funds held in the Depositor Accounts.  Ancillary services required for the Depositor Program,
including wire transfers and ATM operations, shall be included services and not generate additional compensation for Bank.
 

3.2 Higher One Compensation.  As consideration for the processing services and other services Higher One is providing under this Agreement,
Bank shall pay to Higher One the fees as set forth on Schedule 3.2.  In addition, Higher One will have the right to retain all revenue generated by or from the
Depositor Accounts, including, but not limited to, Fees, interchange and all other miscellaneous revenues.  Higher One shall also retain all fees, charges, and
interchange generated by its ATMs and from its payment processing services.
 
____________________________________

 ***Note: Confidential treatment has been requested with respect to the information contained within the
       [***] marking. Such portions have been omitted from this filing and have been filed separately with
       the Securities and Exchange Commission.
 
 
 

 



 
 
 

SECTION IV.
 

REPRESENTATIONS OF BANK
 

Bank represents and warrants as follows:
 

4.1 Organization, Good-Standing and Conduct of Business.   Bank is a banking corporation, duly organized, validly existing and in good
standing under the laws of Utah, and has full power and authority and all necessary governmental and regulatory authorization to own its properties and
assets and to carry on its business as it is presently being conducted.
 

4.2 Corporate Authority.  The execution, delivery, and performance of this Agreement have been duly authorized.  No further corporate acts or
proceedings on the part of Bank are required or necessary to authorize this Agreement.
 

4.3 Binding Effect.  When executed, this Agreement will constitute a valid and legally binding obligation of Bank, enforceable against Bank in
accordance with its terms, subject to (i) applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium, or other similar laws now or hereafter in effect
relating to rights of creditors of FDIC-insured institutions or the relief of debtors generally; (ii) laws relating to the safety and soundness of depository
institutions; and (iii) general principles of equity.
 

4.4 Non-Contravention and Defaults; No Liens.   Neither the execution or delivery of this Agreement, nor the fulfillment of, or compliance with,
the terms and provisions hereof, will (i) result in a breach of the terms, conditions, or provisions of, or constitute a default under, or result in a violation of,
termination of, or acceleration of the performance provided by the terms of, any agreement to which Bank is a party or by which it may be bound; (ii) violate
any provision of any law, rule or regulation; or (iii) violate any provisions of Bank’s Articles of Incorporation or Bylaws.
 

4.5 Necessary Approvals.   Except for receipt of any required regulatory approvals (which approvals, if any, are determined by Bank to be
required, will be obtained by Bank prior to consummation of the transactions contemplated herein), no consent, approval, authorization, registration, or filing
with or by any governmental authority, foreign or domestic, is required on the part of Bank in connection with the execution and delivery of this Agreement or
the consummation by Bank of the transactions contemplated hereby.
 

4.6 Liabilities and Litigation.   There are no claims, actions, suits or proceedings pending or, to Bank’s knowledge, threatened against Bank, at
law or in equity, before or by any Federal, state, municipal, administrative or other court, governmental department, commission, board, or agency, an
adverse determination of which could have a Material Adverse Effect on the business or operations of Bank, and Bank knows of no basis for any of the
foregoing.  There is no order, writ, injunction, or decree of any court, domestic or foreign, or any Federal or state agency affecting Bank or to which Bank is
subject.
 

4.7 Disclosure.  Neither Bank nor any principal of Bank has been subject to any administrative or enforcement proceedings commenced by any
Regulatory Authority, or any restraining order, decree, injunction, or judgment in any proceeding or lawsuit, alleging fraud or deceptive practice on the part of
Bank or any principal thereof.  For purposes of Section 4.7, the word “principal” shall include any executive officer or director of Bank.
 

4.8 FDIC Insurance.  As of the Effective Date and during the term of this Agreement, Bank is FDIC-insured to the maximum extent permitted under
Applicable Law.
 

4.9 Well-Capitalized.  As of the Effective Date and during the term of this Agreement, Bank is designated “Well Capitalized” under the Prompt
Corrective Action provisions of the Federal Deposit Insurance Act and all regulations and guidelines with respect thereto.
 

4.10 Durbin Amendment.  As of the Effective Date, Bank (a) has less than and (b) does not intend to have in excess of $10 billion in consolidated
net assets during the term of the Agreement and any extensions thereof so as to qualify for the small issuer exemption pursuant to the applicable rules of the
Durbin Amendment of Dodd–Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act 12 C.F.R 235.
 

4.11 Disclaimer.  EXCEPT AS EXPRESSLY SET FORTH IN THIS AGREEMENT, BANK DISCLAIMS ALL OTHER
WARRANTIES, CONDITIONS, AND REPRESENTATIONS OF ANY KIND, WHETHER EXPRESS, IMPLIED, STATUTORY, OR
OTHERWISE, INCLUDING THOSE RELATED TO MERCHANTABILITY, FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE, AND NON-
INFRINGEMENT AND THOSE ARISING OUT OF COURSE OF DEALING, USAGE, OR TRADE.
 

SECTION V.
 

REPRESENTATIONS OF HIGHER ONE
 

Higher One represents and warrants as follows as of the date hereof:
 

5.1 Organization, Good-Standing and Conduct of Business.   Higher One is a corporation, duly organized, validly existing and in good standing
under the laws of the State of Delaware, and has full power and authority and all necessary governmental and regulatory authorization to own its properties
and assets and to carry on its business as it is presently being conducted, except where lacking authority or authorization would not have a Material Adverse
Effect on Higher One.
 

5.2 Corporate Authority.  The execution, delivery, and performance of this Agreement have been duly authorized.  No further corporate acts or



proceedings on the part of Higher One are required or necessary to authorize this Agreement.
 

5.3 Binding Effect.  When executed, this Agreement will constitute a valid and legally binding obligation of Higher One, enforceable against Higher
One in accordance with its terms, subject to (i) applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium, or other similar laws now or hereafter in effect
relating to rights of creditors or the relief of debtors generally and (ii) general principles of equity.
 

5.4 Non-Contravention and Defaults; No Liens.   Neither the execution or delivery of this Agreement, nor the fulfillment of, or compliance with,
the terms and provisions hereof, will (i) result in a breach of the terms, conditions, or provisions of, or constitute a default under, or result in a violation of,
termination of or acceleration of the performance provided by the terms of, any agreement to which Higher One is a party or by which it may be bound, (ii)
violate any provision of any law, rule or regulation, (iii) result in the creation or imposition of any lien, charge, restriction, security interest or encumbrance of
any nature whatsoever on any asset of Higher One, or (iv) violate any provisions of Higher One’s Certificate of Incorporation or Bylaws.
 

5.5 Necessary Approvals.   No consent, approval, authorization, registration, or filing with or by any governmental authority, foreign or domestic,
is required on the part of Higher One in connection with the execution and delivery of this Agreement or the consummation by Higher One of the transactions
contemplated hereby.
 

5.6 Liabilities and Litigation.   Except as disclosed by Higher One in writing to Bank, there are no claims, actions, suits, or proceedings pending
or, to Higher One’s knowledge, threatened against Higher One, at law or in equity, before or by any Federal, state, municipal, administrative, or other court,
governmental department, commission, board, or agency, an adverse determination of which could have a Material Adverse Effect on the business or
operations of Higher One (including its ultimate ownership of the business), and Higher One knows of no basis for any of the foregoing.  There is no order,
writ, injunction, or decree of any court, domestic or foreign, or any Federal or state agency affecting Higher One or to which Higher One is subject.
 

5.7 Disclosure.  Neither Higher One nor any principal of Higher One has been subject to any administrative or enforcement proceedings commenced
by any Regulatory Authority, or any restraining order, decree, injunction, or judgment in any proceeding or lawsuit, alleging fraud or deceptive practice on the
part of  Higher One or any principal thereof.  For purposes of Section 5.7, the word “principal” shall include any executive officer or director of Higher One.
 

5.8 Disclaimer.  EXCEPT AS EXPRESSLY SET FORTH IN THIS AGREEMENT, HIGHER ONE DISCLAIMS ALL OTHER
WARRANTIES, CONDITIONS, AND REPRESENTATIONS OF ANY KIND, WHETHER EXPRESS, IMPLIED, STATUTORY, OR
OTHERWISE, INCLUDING THOSE RELATED TO MERCHANTABILITY, FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE, AND NON-
INFRINGEMENT AND THOSE ARISING OUT OF COURSE OF DEALING, USAGE, OR TRADE .
 

SECTION VI.
CONFIDENTIALITY; DATA PROTECTION; INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY

 
6.1 General.  It is expected that the Parties will disclose to each other certain information, which may be considered confidential or proprietary

(“Confidential Information”), and each Party recognizes the value and importance of the protection of the other’s Confidential Information.  All Confidential
Information owned solely by one Party and disclosed to the other Party shall remain solely the property of the disclosing Party, and its confidentiality shall be
maintained and protected by the other Party with at least the same effort used to protect such other Party’s own confidential information of a similar
nature.  Except to the extent required by this Agreement, each Party agrees not to duplicate in any manner the other’s Confidential Information or to disclose it to
any third party or to any of their employees not having a need to know for purposes of this Agreement.  Each Party further agrees not to use the other’s
Confidential Information for any purpose other than the implementation of this Agreement.  This confidentiality provision extends to all information (whether
oral, written, electronic, or otherwise) provided by either Party (the “Disclosing Party”) to the other Party (the “Receiving Party”) pursuant hereto.  Confidential
Information includes, without limitation, software, data, prototypes, design plans, drawings, financial information, or other business and/or technical
information, whether disclosed before or after the date of this Agreement.  In addition, without limitation, and any provision to the contrary in this Agreement
notwithstanding, the names of, and any and all information regarding the Depositor Accounts or other accounts belonging to, Depositors and potential
Depositors is, and for all purposes shall be deemed to be, Confidential Information belonging to both Parties as permitted by Applicable Law, subject to
Bank’s rights to use such information according to the terms of this Agreement.  Except as otherwise provided herein, Confidential Information shall not
include (i) information that is now in the public domain, or that later enters the public domain, through no action of the Receiving Party in violation of this
Agreement or of any third party in violation of a duty owed to the Disclosing Party, (ii) information that the Receiving Party can demonstrate was already in its
possession at the time of its disclosure hereunder, and that was not acquired, directly or indirectly, from the Disclosing Party on a confidential basis, (iii)
information independently developed by the Receiving Party without reference to, or the use of, any Confidential Information, or (iv) information that is
lawfully received from sources other than the Disclosing Party under circumstances not involving a breach of any confidentiality obligation.  The Parties
hereby acknowledge that Higher One may elect to request confidential treatment of certain provisions of this Agreement from the Securities and Exchange
Commission including, but not limited to, the pricing related provisions and exhibits as permitted by law and that the Parties will cooperate in order to effect
such request.
 

6.2 Confidentiality Obligations.   Each Receiving Party shall hold Confidential Information received by it in the strictest of confidence and shall not
disclose it to any person or entity, other than the Receiving Party’s officers, directors, employees, third  party service providers, agents, consultants and legal
advisors (collectively, “Representatives”), without the Disclosing Party’s prior written consent.  The Receiving Party shall share Confidential Information
received hereunder only with those of its Representatives as are necessary to enable the Receiving Party to accomplish the purposes of this Agreement, and then
only after advising such Representatives of the requirements of this Section and obtaining their agreement to abide herewith as if they were original parties
hereto.  The Receiving Party shall be responsible for any breach of this Agreement by its Representatives.
 

6.3 Ownership of Confidential Information.   All Confidential Information and all documents, diskettes, tapes, procedural manuals, guides,
specifications, plans, drawings, designs and similar materials, lists of present, past, or prospective customers, vendor proposals, invitations to submit
proposals, price lists and data relating to the pricing of products and services, records, notebooks, and all other materials containing Confidential Information
or information about concepts or ideas developed by or for a Disclosing Party (including all copies and reproductions thereof) that come into a Receiving
Party’s possession or control, whether prepared by the Disclosing Party or others:  (i) are the property of the Disclosing Party, and (ii) shall not be used by the



Receiving Party in any way other than in connection with fulfilling the purposes of this Agreement.
 

6.4 Return of Confidential Information.   Upon the written request of a Disclosing Party, which may be made at any time or from time to time, a
Receiving Party shall, and/or shall cause its Representatives to, promptly return or destroy all Confidential Information provided by the Disclosing Party.  The
Receiving Party is allowed to retain a copy of such information for such period of time necessary to comply with its record retention policy, applicable law or
Network Rules.  In such cases, the obligation to treat such information as confidential shall remain until such information may be destroyed in accordance
with the applicable policy or rule..  In the event of such written request by a Disclosing Party, all documents, analyses, studies, or other materials prepared by
the Receiving Party or its Representatives that contain or reflect Confidential Information shall be forwarded to the Disclosing Party and no copies thereof shall
be retained except as may otherwise be required to be retained pursuant to Applicable Law.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Parties agree that (i) Higher One
owns and control any and all documents, Confidential Information, and similar non-bank related information obtained through its relationships with
Universities as well as the Higher One Technology and shall not be required to return or destroy such information and (ii) both Parties shall have the right to
retain a copy of transaction history documents of the Depositors.
 

6.5 Required Disclosures.  Should a Receiving Party learn that it or its Representatives will be legally compelled to disclose Confidential
Information (whether by interrogatories, subpoenas, civil investigative demands, or otherwise) provided by a Disclosing Party hereunder, or should a
Receiving Party or its Representatives be requested to disclose such Confidential Information by a governmental authority or agency, the Receiving Party shall
promptly notify the Disclosing Party.  In addition, the Receiving Party shall inform the Disclosing Party of any developments with respect to such compulsion
or request.  When time is of the essence, the Receiving Party may provide notice or updates orally, but must follow these communications with written
summaries.  The Receiving Party shall cooperate with the Disclosing Party to enable the Disclosing Party to obtain a protective order or other similar relief.  If,
in the opinion of legal counsel and in the absence of a protective order or waiver, the Receiving Party and/or its Representatives are legally compelled to disclose
Confidential Information, the Receiving Party and/or such Representatives shall disclose only so much of the Confidential Information as is legally
required.  In any such event, the Receiving Party shall use its good faith efforts to ensure that any Confidential Information so disclosed is accorded
confidential treatment to the greatest extent possible.
 

6.6 Injunctive Relief.  Each Party acknowledges that remedies at law may be inadequate to protect the other against actual or threatened breach of the
provisions of this Section.  Without prejudice to any other rights and remedies available to a Party hereunder, each Receiving Party hereby consents to the
granting of injunctive relief in the Disclosing Party’s favor, without proof of actual damages, in the event of an actual or threatened breach hereof with respect
to Confidential Information provided by such Disclosing Party.
 

6.7 Consumer Information and Program Security.  Each Party acknowledges that Applicable Law, including but not limited to the Gramm-
Leach Bliley Act of 1999, as amended, and the regulations promulgated thereunder (the Act and the regulations, collectively, the “GLB Act”) impose certain
obligations on financial institutions with respect to the confidentiality of customer data (collectively, “Protected Information”).  Regardless of whether Higher
One and/or its Representatives are otherwise subject to the GLB Act, Bank and Higher One and each of their respective Representatives shall fully comply with
all requirements of the GLB Act or applicable state laws with respect to any Protected Information received or accessed in connection with the Program.
 

6.8 Security Measures.  Each Party represents and warrants to the other Party that it has implemented, and shall continue to implement, support,
and maintain, commercially reasonable security measures to secure against unauthorized access and/or damage to Depositor information and other Protected
Information (collectively, the “Security Measures”).  Higher One shall provide Bank with copies of written policies of Higher One regarding the safeguarding
the security of Protected Information promptly upon Bank’s request.  In addition to any other Security Measure, Higher One and Bank shall maintain an
Identity Theft Prevention Program (the “IDTP”) designed to detect, prevent, and mitigate identity theft in connection with the Depositor Program.  The IDTP
shall be designed to comply with the provisions of Applicable Law and the Joint Oversight Policies, including, but not limited to, the federal banking agencies’
Interagency Guidelines on Identity Theft Detection, Prevention, and Mitigation, 12 C.F.R. Part 30, App. B.
 

6.9 Breach.  Subject to the terms below regarding breaches with respect to Protected Information, Higher One and Bank agree to promptly notify the
other Party by telephone as soon as possible after verification in the event either of them becomes aware of any intrusion, security breach, unauthorized access
to, or disclosure or use of any Protected Information that materially affects the security and integrity of such Protected Information and promptly inform the
affected Party of the nature of the security breach, material incursion, or intrusion, what Protected Information has been or may be compromised, and the
extent, if any, that such Protected Information has been or may be compromised.  In such a case, Higher One or Bank, as applicable, will provide an
appropriate response in consultation with the other Party, which may include notification of Depositors and/or law enforcement. Higher One or Bank, as
applicable, shall keep the other Party informed of the corrective measures taken and the time for completing such corrective measures.
 

6.10 Disaster Recovery.  Each Party shall prepare and maintain appropriate disaster recovery, business resumption, and contingency plans in
compliance with Applicable Law, and reasonably acceptable to the other Party.  Such plans shall be sufficient to enable the Party to promptly resume the
performance of its obligations hereunder in the event of a natural disaster, destruction of such Party’s facilities or operations, utility or communication
failures, or similar interruptions of operations, or of any necessary third party.  Each Party shall make available to the other information related to its disaster
recovery, business resumption and contingency plans, as well as making available notice of any material changes thereto.  Each Party shall regularly test
disaster recovery, business resumption, and contingency plans as it deems reasonably appropriate and prudent in light of the nature and scope of the
respective Party’s activities and operations and its obligations hereunder.  Such testing shall be conducted no less frequently than once per calendar year, and
each Party shall promptly provide the other Party with the results thereof upon request.
 

6.11 Intellectual Property Ownership and Licenses
 

(a)  Except for the licenses and other rights set forth in this Agreement, each Party retains all right, title, and interest in and to the
intellectual property rights owned by it, and neither Party is granted any right, title, or interest in or to the other Party’s intellectual
property rights.

 
(b)  In connection with the Depositor Program, either Party (the “Licensor”) may grant the other (the “Licensee”) a non-exclusive,

limited, royalty free license to use and reproduce certain Marks owned by the Licensor to the extent necessary to enable the



Licensee to perform its obligations in accordance with this Agreement.  The Licensee shall only use such Marks (i) in a manner
that will not dilute the value of such Mark, and (ii) in strict compliance with Applicable Laws, Joint Oversight Policies, Network
Rules, and this Agreement.  Any license granted hereunder shall be subject to any applicable usage and style guides or limitations
as from time to time provided by the Licensor.  Except as specifically set forth in this Subsection, no right, title, license, or
interest in any Marks shall be granted to the Licensee or shall be deemed to have been acquired by the Licensee by virtue of this
Agreement.  Prior to using a Mark licensed hereunder, the Licensee shall provide written notice to the Licensor (a “Use Notice”)
setting forth exemplars of the intended design and a description of the intended use.  Within five (5) calendar days of receipt of a
Use Notice, Licensor shall either approve the design and allow use, or identify the reason for withholding its approval.  In the
event that use is not approved, the Parties shall cooperate to find an acceptable design and/or use.  Licensee may not sublicense
any use of the Marks of Licensor without the prior written consent of Licensor in each instance.  Any use of the Marks by
Licensee (or any permitted sub-licensee) and any goodwill associated therewith shall inure to the benefit of Licensor.

 
SECTION VII.

 
TERM AND TERMINATION

 
7.1 Term.  The initial term of this Agreement shall be five years from the Effective Date, and shall renew automatically for additional three year

terms unless either Party gives written notice of non-renewal 180 days prior to the expiration of the then-current term; provided, however that this Agreement
may be terminated prior to the end of the initial term or any such renewal term as set forth in Section 7.2 (“Term”).
 

7.2 Termination.  This Agreement may be terminated prior to the end of a Term under the following circumstances:
 

(a)  at any time upon the written agreement of the Parties, specifying a mutually agreed termination date;
 

(b)  by either Party, without cause, upon 270 days’ prior written notice, specifying a termination date;
 

(c)  by either Party upon the material breach by the other Party of any covenant or provision required to be performed by it hereunder,
if (i) a plan to cure such breach is not provided by the breaching Party to the nonbreaching Party within 30 days after receipt of
notice of such a breach from the nonbreaching Party; (ii) such plan is provided by the breaching Party, but the breach is not
thereafter cured in accordance with such plan within 60 additional days following the submission of the plan to the nonbreaching
Party; and (iii) in either case, following the expiration of the initial 30 day period if (i) applies, or following the expiration of the
additional 60 day period if (ii) applies, the nonbreaching Party shall have elected to terminate this Agreement by sending to the
Party in breach a written notice of termination, which notice shall specify the date upon which the termination shall take effect;

 
(d)  by either Party in the event of a Supervisory Objection (as defined below) that, after going through the process described below, in

either Party’s good faith judgment requires such Party to terminate its obligations under this Agreement, such Party may terminate
this Agreement upon sixty (60) days written notice to the other Party or such shorter notice as may be required by a Regulatory
Authority; provided,  however, that in the event either Party becomes aware of a Supervisory Objection, such Party shall, as soon
as reasonably practicable and prior to any termination by it of this Agreement, (i) provide the other Party, to the extent permitted
by Applicable Law, with a written certification from an officer of the Party summarizing such Supervisory Objection and (ii) with
the reasonable cooperation of such other Party, use its reasonable best efforts to respond to and challenge any such Supervisory
Objection, including, if necessary, proposing and implementing mutually agreed upon modifications to the Depositor Program
that will satisfy the Regulatory Authority.  If the Parties cannot address the Regulatory Authority’s concerns to its satisfaction or
the expenses associated in connection with implementing modifications necessary to satisfy the Regulatory Authority will result in
extreme economic hardship to either Party, this Agreement may be terminated in accordance with the foregoing.  As used herein,
“Supervisory Objection” means (i) an objection raised by an employee of a Regulatory Authority having the designation of
examiner-in-charge or higher and having supervisory authority over a Party that expresses the Regulatory Authority’s opinion, in
writing, that one or more provisions of this Agreement or the Depositor Program constitutes a material violation of Applicable Law,
is unsafe or unsound, or is otherwise unfair, deceptive, or abusive,  (ii) any cease-and-desist or other similar formal order of a
Regulatory Authority or (iii) changes in the written treatment of Applicable Law by a Regulatory Authority;

 
(e)  by Higher One, upon 90 days’ written notice, (i) if it obtains approvals to open or acquire a financial institution and desires to

transfer Depositor Accounts to such institution, or (ii) if Higher One experiences a change of control, in which 50% or more of its
capital stock changes ownership; or

 
(f)  by Higher One, immediately upon written notice should Bank or its affiliate become subject to caps on interchange transaction

fees because Bank or its affiliate has more than $10 billion in consolidated net assets resulting in Bank no longer qualifying for
the small issuer exemption pursuant to the applicable rules of the Durbin Amendment of Dodd–Frank Wall Street Reform and
Consumer Protection Act 12 C.F.R 235.

 
7.3 Effect of Termination or Expiration.  In the event of termination or expiration of this Agreement by any Party:

 
(a)  Any amounts due and owing from one Party to the other shall be promptly paid in full; and

 
(b)  Sections I, III (to the extent payment obligations remain outstanding), IV, V, VI, 7.3, XVIII, IX, X, XI and XII shall survive such

termination and provided further, that any termination hereof shall not preclude any Party hereto from recovering any legal or
equitable damages or relief to which it is entitled.

 



SECTION VIII.
 

TRANSFER OF DEPOSITOR ACCOUNTS
 

8.1 Transfer of Deposits.  Upon the date of termination or expiration of this Agreement as provided in Section 7.1 or 7.2 of this Agreement or upon
180 days’ written request by Higher One, Bank shall transfer the Depositor Accounts to an institution designated by Higher One (the “Transfer”), subject to
the requirements of Applicable Law, the Depositor Agreement and any other applicable requirements.  Any required approvals shall be obtained as soon as
practicable following the date notice of termination is given; provided,  however, notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, Bank’s obligation
to maintain the Depositor Accounts as provided in this Agreement shall not terminate until any necessary approvals have been obtained.  As part of the
Transfer, Bank shall, to the extent permitted or considered necessary or appropriate, transfer any BINs, routing numbers and other related identifiers used in
connection with the Depositor Accounts, and deliver any and all applicable information, account opening contracts and the like.  The Parties shall cooperate
with each other on the issuance of necessary notices to Depositors and on all other matters necessary or appropriate to a legal and efficient Transfer.  Bank
shall use best efforts to assist with the Transfer.  Until the Transfer is complete, Bank shall continue to provide all services under this Agreement if requested
to do so by Higher One, unless otherwise directed by a Regulatory Authority.
 

8.2 Closing Deliveries and Documents.   Upon the consummation of the Transfer, the Parties shall deliver to each other such documents as are
typical for such a transfer, including contracts and officer’s certificates.  Appropriate adjustments for returned and uncollected items shall be made, as
appropriate, on a post-closing basis.
 

8.3 Certain Transfer Matters.  Upon the Transfer, Higher One or its designee shall be responsible for completing Forms 1099 and other tax
reporting forms, if applicable, for Depositors who were set up in connection with the Depositor Program, and other similar customer-related matters.
 

SECTION IX.
 

INSURANCE
 

9.1 General Liability Coverage.   Higher One shall, at its sole expense, obtain and maintain throughout the Term, policies of commercial general
liability insurance which may include excess umbrella insurance, including contractual liability, having such terms and such limits as are reasonably
required by Bank from time to time, but in any event an aggregate limit of not less than Ten Million Dollars ($10,000,000), and a per occurrence limit of not
less than Ten Million Dollars ($10,000,000).
 

9.2 Policy Requirements.  Each insurance policy required of Higher One shall (i) name Bank as an additional insured, (ii) by its terms, be
considered primary and non-contributory with respect to any other insurance carried by Bank, and (iii) be issued by an insurer having an A.M. Best’s Key
Rating Guide rating of A-IX or better.  All insurance limits required hereunder may be met through a combination of primary and umbrella/excess
policies.  Higher One agrees to give Bank thirty (30) days’ prior written notice that such policy has been canceled or materially changed.
 

9.3 No Limitation of Liability.  Neither the issuance of any insurance policy required hereunder, nor the minimum levels of insurance coverage
required herein, shall serve to limit any liability otherwise accruing to Higher One hereunder or in connection with the Depositor Program.
 

SECTION X.
 

INDEMNIFICATION
 

10.1 Indemnification by Bank.   Bank shall indemnify and defend Higher One and its parent, subsidiaries and affiliates, and its and their
respective officers, directors, employees, and permitted assigns, against any direct losses or expenses arising from any legal action, claim, demand, or
proceedings brought against any of them as a result of (a) any act of gross negligence, willful misconduct, or intentional tort on the part of Bank or its agents,
officers, or employees; (b) any alleged or actual material breach by Bank of this Agreement; or (c) the authorized access and use by Higher One of any Marks
of Bank provided,  however, Bank shall not be liable for any loss, claim, damage, or liability with respect to which Higher One is obligated to indemnify
Bank pursuant to Section 10.2.
 

10.2 Indemnification by Higher One.   Excluding those situations in which Bank is obligated to indemnify and defend Higher One under the
provisions of Subsection 10.1, Higher One shall indemnify and defend Bank and its parent, subsidiaries and affiliates, and its and their respective officers,
directors, employees, and permitted assigns, against any losses or expenses, direct, including regulatory claims and fines, arising from (a) the gross
negligence, willful misconduct, or intentional tort on the part of Higher One or its agents, officers, or employees; or (b) any alleged or actual material breach of
this Agreement.
 

10.3 Indemnification Procedure.  If either Party (the “Indemnified Party”) becomes aware of any matter which may give rise to a claim for
indemnification (“Indemnification Claim”) against the other Party (the “Indemnifying Party”), the Indemnified Party shall promptly notify the Indemnifying
Party in writing; provided,  however, that no delay on the part of the Indemnified Party in notifying the Indemnifying Party shall relieve the Indemnifying Party
from any obligation hereunder unless (and then solely to the extent) the Indemnifying Party is materially prejudiced thereby.  The Indemnifying Party will have
the right to assume the defense of the third-party claim with counsel reasonably satisfactory to the Indemnified Party to represent the Indemnified Party in such
proceeding, and shall pay the fees and disbursements of such counsel related to such proceeding, so long as (i) the Indemnifying Party notifies the Indemnified
Party in writing within thirty (30) days after the Indemnified Party has given notice of the indemnification claim that the Indemnifying Party will indemnify the
Indemnified Party in accordance with this Section, and (ii) the Indemnifying Party conducts the defense of the third-party claim actively and diligently.  The
Indemnified Party also may retain its own separate co-counsel at its sole cost and expense and participate in the defense of the claim.  No Indemnifying Party
shall, without the prior written consent of the Indemnified Party, effect any settlement of any pending or threatened proceeding in respect of which any
Indemnified Party is or could have been a party and indemnity could have been sought hereunder by such Indemnified Party (i) if such settlement involves
any form of relief other than the payment of money or any finding or admission of any violation of any law, regulation or order or any of the rights of any



person or has any adverse effect on any other indemnification claims that have been or may be made against the Indemnified Party or (ii) if such settlement
involves only the payment of money, unless it includes an unconditional release of such Indemnified Party of all liability on claims that are the subject of such
proceeding.  The Indemnifying Party shall not be liable for any settlement of any proceeding effected without its written consent, but if settled with such
consent or if there is a final judgment for the plaintiff, the Indemnifying Party agrees to indemnify the Indemnified Party from and against any Loss by reason
of such settlement or judgment.  The Indemnified Party may assume control of the defense of any claim if (A) the Indemnifying Party fails to provide
reasonable assurance to the Indemnified Party of its financial capacity to defend or provide indemnification with respect to such claim, (B) the Indemnified
Party determines in good faith that there is a reasonable likelihood that an indemnification claim would materially and adversely affect it or any other
indemnitees other than as a result of monetary damages that would be fully reimbursed by an Indemnifying Party under this Agreement, or (C) the
Indemnifying Party refuses or fails to timely assume the defense of such indemnification claim.
 

SECTION XI.
LIMITATION OF LIABILITY

11.1 THE AGGREGATE CUMULATIVE LIABILITY OF EACH PARTY WITH RESPECT TO THE OTHER PARTY FOR ANY LOSS OR
DAMAGE ARISING OUT OF OR RELATED TO THIS AGREEMENT WITH RESPECT TO CLAIMS RELATING TO EVENTS DURING THE
TERM OF THIS AGREEMENT SHALL NOT UNDER ANY CIRCUMSTANCES EXCEED FIVE MILLION DOLLARS ($5,000,000).
 

11.2 NOTWITHSTANDING ANY OTHER PROVISION IN THIS AGREEMENT, NEITHER PARTY SHALL HAVE ANY LIABILITY TO
THE OTHER PARTY FOR ANY INDIRECT, EXEMPLARY, SPECIAL, INCIDENTAL, PUNITIVE, OR CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES
(INCLUDING, WITHOUT LIMITATION, LOST PROFITS, BUSINESS INTERRUPTION, OR LOST DATA) HOWEVER CAUSED AND,
WHETHER IN CONTRACT, TORT, OR UNDER ANY OTHER THEORY OF LIABILITY, WHETHER OR NOT THE PARTY HAS BEEN ADVISED
OF THE POSSIBILITY OF SUCH DAMAGE.
 

11.3 NOTWITHSTANDING ANYTHING IN THIS AGREEMENT TO THE CONTRARY, THE LIMITATIONS OF LIABILITY SET FORTH
IN THIS ARTICLE 11, INCLUDING, WITHOUT LIMITATION, THE MONETARY LIMITATION SET FORTH ABOVE, SHALL NOT APPLY TO
ANY CLAIMS ARISING OR RESULTING FROM (A) A PARTY’S BREACH OF CONFIDENTIALITY OBLIGATIONS SET FORTH IN SECTION VI;
(B) INDEMNIFICATION OBLIGATIONS SET FORTH IN ARTICLE X; OR (C) A PARTY’S FRAUD, GROSS NEGLIGENCE OR WILLFUL
MISCONDUCT.
 

SECTION XII.
 

MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS
 

12.1 Cooperation and Access.   The Parties shall reasonably cooperate in order to effect the transaction contemplated herein.  The Parties hereby
agree to provide the other with full and complete access to their respective operations to the extent relating to the transactions contemplated herein and all matters
related thereto.
 

12.2 Arbitration.  Any dispute arising under this Agreement shall be referred to and resolved by arbitration in Wilmington, Delaware, in
accordance with the rules of the American Arbitration Association, by a panel of three arbitrators, one of whom shall be selected by Higher One, one of whom
shall be selected by Bank, and the third of whom shall be selected by the arbitrators selected by Higher One and Bank.  A determination made in accordance
with such rules shall be delivered in writing to the Parties hereto and shall be final and binding and conclusive upon them.  Each Party shall pay its own legal,
accounting, and other fees and expenses in connection with such an arbitration; provided, however, that the arbitrators may award arbitration costs, including
legal, auditing, and other fees and expenses to the prevailing party in the arbitration proceeding if the arbitrators determine that such an award is appropriate.
 

12.3 Relationship of Parties.   Higher One and all of its agents and employees shall be considered independent contractors of Bank, and the Parties
shall take such action as may be reasonably necessary to ensure such treatment.  Bank shall at no time have any right or interest in the agreement(s) between
Higher One and the Universities and shall have no rights with respect to Higher One customers except those rights which derive from the Depositor Agreements
or from other contracts or relationships having no relation to the Depositor Program.
 

12.4 Entire Agreement.  This Agreement contains the entire agreement of the Parties with respect to the subject matter contained herein and there are
no agreements, warranties, covenants, or undertakings, other than those expressly set forth herein, and replaces in its entirety the Letter of Intent dated October
19,2011 between Higher One and Bank.  Higher One and Bank may enter into additional agreement for other products through separate agreements or
amendments hereto.
 

12.5 Successors and Assigns.   This Agreement shall be binding upon and shall inure to the benefit of the Parties hereto and their respective
successors and assigns.  This Agreement shall not be assigned by either Party, other than to an affiliate, without the prior written consent of the other Party;
and provided that any actions required or permitted to be taken herein by a Party may be taken by an affiliate of such Party, provided further that such
substitution does not have a material adverse affect on the attendant benefits to the other Party.  For the purposes of this Agreement, “affiliate” is a person who
is controlled by or is under the common control of a Party, “control” being presumptively shown by a majority ownership and/or voting interest.
 

12.6 Governing Law.  This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Delaware without regard to its
conflict of laws rules.
 

12.7 Amendment and Waiver.  This Agreement may not be amended except by an instrument in writing signed on behalf of all of the Parties.  Any
term, provision, or condition of this Agreement (other than that required by law) may be waived in writing at any time by the Party which is entitled to the
benefits thereof.
 



12.8 Force Majeure.  Neither Party shall be deemed to be in default hereunder or liable for any losses arising out of the failure, delay or interruption
of its performance of obligations under this Agreement due to any act of God, act of terrorism, act of public enemy, war, riot, flood, civil commotion,
insurrection, severe weather conditions, or any other cause beyond that Party’s reasonable control.
 

12.9 Interpretation.  The headings of the various sections of this Agreement have been inserted for convenience of reference only and shall not be
deemed to be a part of this Agreement.
 

12.10 Notice.  Any notice to be given hereunder to the other Party, including any notice of a change of address, shall be in writing and shall be
deemed validly given if (a) delivered personally or (b) sent by express delivery service, registered or certified mail, postage prepaid, return receipt requested or
(c) sent by facsimile or email, as follows:
 
 If to Higher One: Higher One, Inc.
 115 Munson Street
 New Haven, CT 06511
 Attn:  President
 Email: contracts@higherone.com
 Fax:  203-776-7796
 
 If to Bank: Wright Express Financial Services Corporation.
 7090 S. Union Park Center, Suite 350
 Midvale UT, 84047
 Attn: President/CEO

All such notices shall be deemed given on the date of actual receipt by the addressee if delivered personally, on the date of deposit with the express delivery
service or the postal authorities if sent in either such manner, on the date the facsimile or email is sent if sent in such manner, and on the date of actual receipt
by the addressee if delivered in any other manner.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, each Party shall provide the other Party with a pre-notification of its intent to
provide a notice hereunder, including, but not limited to, a notice of termination, two (2) business days prior to the notice so that the parties can use reasonable
efforts to coordinate any necessary public disclosure of information.
 

12.11 Counterparts.  This Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts, each of which shall be deemed to be an original, but all of
which together shall constitute one and the same instrument.
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In witness whereof, the Parties have executed this Agreement as of the date first written above.
 
Wright Express Financial Services Corporation
  
  
By:                  /s/ Kirk S. Weiler
Its:                  President / Chief Executive Officer
  
  
  
HIGHER ONE, INC.
  
  
By:                  /s/ Miles Lasater
Its:                  Chief Operating Officer
  

 
 

 
 



 

[***]

 
 ***Note: Confidential treatment has been requested with respect to the information contained within the
       [***] marking. Such portions have been omitted from this filing and have been filed separately with
       the Securities and Exchange Commission.

 
 



 

SCHEDULE 3.2
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 ***Note: Confidential treatment has been requested with respect to the information contained within the
       [***] marking. Such portions have been omitted from this filing and have been filed separately with
       the Securities and Exchange Commission.

 
 



 



 
EXHIBIT 21.1

 
 

SUBSIDIARIES OF HIGHER ONE HOLDINGS, INC.
 
     

Subsidiary  
Jurisdiction of
Incorporation  

Higher One, Inc.(1)  Delaware  
Higher One Machines, Inc.(2)  Delaware  
Higher One Real Estate, Inc. (2)  Delaware  
Higher One Real Estate SP, LLC (3)  Delaware  
 

 
(1) 100% owned by Higher One Holdings, Inc.
 
(2) 100% owned by Higher One, Inc.
 
(3) 98% owned by Higher One Real Estate, Inc.
 



 
EXHIBIT 23.1

 
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

 
We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statement on Form S-8 (No. 333-168549) of Higher One Holdings, Inc. of our report
dated February 15, 2012 relating to the financial statements  and the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, which appears  in this Form 10-
K.
 

/s/PricewaterhouseCoopers, LLP

Hartford, CT
February 15, 2012



EXHIBIT 31.1
 

CERTIFICATE OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

 
I, Dean Hatton, President and Chief Executive Officer of Higher One Holdings, Inc., certify that:
 

 1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Higher One Holdings, Inc.;
 

  

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;
 

  
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the

financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
 

  

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-
15(f)) for the registrant and have:
 

  

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision,
to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within
those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
 

  

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
 

  
(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the

effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
 

  

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent
fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and
 

  
5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the

registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
 

  
(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are

reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
 

  (b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.

 
         
Date: February 15, 2012    By:  /s/ Dean Hatton
        Dean Hatton
        President and Chief Executive Officer



EXHIBIT 31.2
 

CERTIFICATE OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

 
I, Mark Volchek, Chief Financial Officer of Higher One Holdings, Inc., certify that:
 

 1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Higher One Holdings, Inc.;
 

  

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;
 

  
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the

financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
 

  

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-
15(f)) for the registrant and have:
 

  

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision,
to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within
those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
 

  

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
 

  
(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the

effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
 

  

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent
fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and
 

  
5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the

registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
 

  
(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are

reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
 

  (b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.

 
         
Date: February 15, 2012    By:  /s/ Mark Volchek
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
Mark Volchek
Chief Financial Officer



EXHIBIT 32.1
 

CERTIFICATE OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO

SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
 

In connection with the Annual Report of Higher One Holdings, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the period ending December 31, 2011 as filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Dean Hatton, President and Chief Executive Officer of the Company,
certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:
 
 (1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and
 
 (2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.
 
         
Date: February 15, 2012    By:  /s/ Dean Hatton
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
Dean Hatton
President and Chief Executive Officer

 



EXHIBIT 32.2
 

CERTIFICATE OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO

SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
 

In connection with the Annual Report of Higher One Holdings, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the period ending December 31, 2011 as filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Mark Volchek, Chief Financial Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant
to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:
 
 (1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and
 
 (2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.
 
         
Date: February 15, 2012    By:  /s/ Mark Volchek
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
Mark Volchek
Chief Financial Officer
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